University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Political Science ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

9-1-2015

FAMILY POLICY IN POST-COMMUNIST EUROPE AND THE FORMER SOVIET UNION: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF XENOPHOBIA

Marina A. Kingsbury

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/pols_etds Part of the <u>Political Science Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Kingsbury, Marina A.. "FAMILY POLICY IN POST-COMMUNIST EUROPE AND THE FORMER SOVIET UNION: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF XENOPHOBIA." (2015). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/pols_etds/20

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Political Science ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Marina A. Kingsbury

Candidate

Political Science

This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Dissertation Committee:

William D. Stanley, Chairperson

Wendy Hansen

Deborah R. McFarlane

Richard L. Wood

FAMILY POLICY IN POST-COMMUNIST EUROPE AND THE FORMER SOVIET UNION: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF XENOPHOBIA

by

MARINA A. KINGSBURY

Specialist, International Relations, Far Eastern State University, 2000 MPA, University of New Mexico, 2003 MA, Political Science, University of New Mexico, 2007

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

Political Science

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2015

DEDICATION

To my husband KC. Thank you for your patience, love, and support.

To my wonderful children Ben, Alex, and Polina. You are my pride and joy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I heartily acknowledge Dr. William D. Stanley, my advisor and dissertation chair, for his support and advice throughout the years of dissertation writing. I am grateful for his critical assessment of my writing and for pushing me to be my best. Above all, I am thankful for his support in my dual capacity as a mother and a graduate student.

I also thank my committee members, Dr. Wendy Hansen, Dr. Deborah R. McFarlane, and Dr. Richard Wood, for their valuable comments on many drafts of this dissertation, their encouragement, and support in my professional development. Thank you for writing numerous support letters for funding applications and your accommodation of the long-distance completion of the dissertation. My gratitude is extended to the Department of Political Science at the University of New Mexico for funding my methodological training and to the anonymous donors who contribute to the Department's scholarship fund.

To my parents for believing in me.

To Claire and KC Kingsbury for editing numerous drafts.

Finally, my heartfelt gratitude goes to all the friends and family in the USA and Russia who supported, encouraged, and believed in me during the years of graduate school.

FAMILY POLICY IN POST-COMMUNIST EUROPE AND THE FORMER SOVIET UNION: ASSESSING THE IMPACT OF XENOPHOBIA

by

Marina A. Kingsbury

Specialist, International Relations, Far Eastern State University, 2000 MPA, University of New Mexico, 2003 M.A., Political Science, University of New Mexico, 2007 Ph.D., Political Science, University of New Mexico, 2015

ABSTRACT

This dissertation emphasizes the comparative aspect of family policy, with a regional focus on post-communist Europe. Following the turmoil of transition, many social welfare programs were transformed and often scaled back. Family policies, however, were largely carried through the initial period of transformation, despite the economic difficulties and the dramatic decline in birth rates in a course of several years. This study was inspired by the seeming contradiction between falling birth rates and increasing generosity of family policy provisions across the former communist European countries. This dissertation uses original data, which includes levels of benefit provision as well as national political and economic characteristics, and views on immigration from 1990 to 2010.

Contemporary scholarship emphasizes the gender equality aspect of family policies while understating the political and policy implications of the state's goal of

V

maintaining stable populations. I address this shortcoming by assessing the interconnectedness of the family policies and fertility rates and by acknowledging the current rise of xenophobia that stems from the increasing transparency of borders. I utilize both quantitative and qualitative methodology to support my argument. Chapters 2 and 3 of the study present the time-series cross-sectional analysis of the demographic, socio-economic, political, and policy influences on fertility rates and family policies, respectively, in fourteen countries. Chapter 4 is a case-study of Russia, which hosts the largest share of immigrants in Europe and provides generous family benefits.

My central argument – and finding – is that anti-immigrant sentiment is an important consideration for family policy considerations. I find that xenophobia is a meaningful predictor of family policy generosity in the CEE, especially in the countries where the proportion of foreign-born population exceeds five percent. I also find that party politics matters for the generosity of family policies. Despite conventional expectations, I find that Right parties have been more instrumental in increasing family policies in the CEE. I argue that family policies fit well within the conservative party policies of the traditional male breadwinner family model, which has replaced the former communist paradigm of full labor participation among men and women.

vi

LIST OF FIGURESx
LIST OF TABLESxi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
1. Determinants of Family Policies
2. Data and Methodology7
3. Chapters Outline
CHAPTER 2 POLICY AND ECONOMIC DETERMINANTS OF FERTILITY IN THE POST-COMMUNIST CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPEAN COUNTRIES AND THE FORMER SOVIET UNION
2. Theory and Background15
2.1 Why Fertility Rates Are Important
2.2 Describing Fertility Rates in Central and Eastern Europe
2.3 Demographic Transition Theories and Lowest-Low Fertility 21
2.4 Fertility Decline in CEE and the Role of Economic Recession24
2.5 Policy Responses to Declining Fertility
2.6 An Overview of Family Policies in CEE
3. Data, Variables, and Measurement
4. Empirical Analysis and Results
5. Conclusion
CHAPTER 3 FAMILY POLICY DETERMINANTS IN POST-COMMUNIST
EUROPEAN SOCIETIES53
1. Introduction

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2. Theory and Background
2.1 Power Mobilization Theory56
2.2 Gender and Politics Literature
2.3 CEE Family Policies: Pronatalism, Post-Communism,
and Nationalism58
3. Family Policies in CEE
3.1 Maternity Leave and Parental Leave
3.2 Family Policies and Social Citizenship Rights
3.3 The Impact of Women's Representation
4. Party Politics and Family Policy Spending71
4.1 Left Parties and Social Spending in CEE71
4.2 Right-wing Parties in CEE74
5. Immigration and Xenophobia79
5.1 Xenophobia79
5.2 Radical Right Parties
5.3 Declining Population
6. Model and Variables
6.1 Variables
6.2 Models
6.3 Estimation Methods
7. Results and Discussion
8. Addressing Engodeneity
9. Conclusion

CHAPTER 4 LET'S HAVE MORE RUSSIAN BABIES: HOW ANTI-

IMMIGRANT SENTIMENT SHAPES FAMILY POLICY

IN RUSSIA 109
1. Introduction
2. Background and Theory112
3. Data and Methodology
4. Family Policies in Russia, a Case of Renewed Pronatalism
5. Population Decline, Immigration, and Xenophobia138
6. Discussion and Conclusion
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION
APPENDIX A DATA DESCRIPTION: DETERMINANTS OF
FERTILITY
APPENDIX B TOTAL FERTILITY RATES IN CEE
AND FSU 1981-2010 163
APPENDIX C DATA DESCRIPTION: DETERMINANTS OF
FAMILY POLICY164
APPENDIX D ROBUSTNESS CHECKS165
Table D.1 Determinants of Family Policy,
Arrelano-Bond Estimation165
APPENDIX E MODELING SIMULTANEITY
Figure E1. Modeling Simultaneity167
APPPENDIX F SAMPLE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Correlation between Age of First Birth and Total Fertility Rates	
	in CEE, 1990- 2010	24
Figure 2.	Length of Maternity Leave in Weeks	32
Figure 3.	Ratio of Family Allowance to Average Wage 1980-2010	35
Figure 4.	Childcare Enrollment Rates in CEE 1990-2010	36
Figure 5.	Duration of Maternity Leave in CEE 1980-2010	63
Figure 6.	Women's Representation in CEE National Parliaments since 1990	70
Figure 7.	CEE Median Voter Positions 1990-2010	78
Figure 8.	Percent of Respondents Who Would Not Want	
	Immigrants or Foreign Workers as Neighbors	80
Figure 9.	Total Fertility Rates in CEE 1980-2010	84
Figure 10	. Generosity of Family Policies	86
Figure 11	. Percent of Foreign Nationals by CEE Country	92
Figure 12	. Duration of Maternity Leave in the European Countries	118
Figure 13	. Modeling the Interaction between Anti-immigrant	
	and Family Policy	124
Figure 14	. Total Fertility Rates (TFR) in Russia, 1980-2010	139
Figure 15	. Rate of Population Growth in Russia	139
Figure 16	. Net Migration in Russia, 2002-2012	141

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Age at First Birth in CEE, 1990-2010
Table 2. CEE Unemployment Rates, 1990-2010
Table 3. Determinants of Fertility 46
Table 4. Determinants of Fertility with Parameter Heterogeneity 48
Table 5. Percentage of Children under 3 Enrolled in Childcare, 1990-2010
Table 6. Percentage of Children Aged 3-6 Enrolled in Childcare, 1990-201067
Table 7. Paternity Leave 68
Table 8. Determinants of Family Policy Generosity 97
Table 9. Simultaneous Equations, Determinants of Family Policy Generosity 106
Table 10. Family Benefits in Russia in 2013 131
Table 11. Immigrants in Russia in 2011-2013 142
Table 12. Moscow Mayoral Race 2013: Candidate Positions on Immigration 144
Table 13. Public Attitudes of Foreigners in Russia 149
Table 14. Public Opinion about Immigration Regulations in Russia 149
Table 15. Animosity to Foreigners among Russians 150
Table 16. Responses of Russian Government Officials Regarding Immigration 151

Chapter 1

Introduction

The collapse of the Soviet bloc set in motion the political and economic transformation processes that affected all aspects of citizens' lives. National gross domestic products (GDP) fell and unemployment rose amid the turmoil of transition. Several countries experienced state-building that involved redrawing borders. The former communist countries initiated massive reforms that sought to liberalize markets and streamline government social welfare policies. Family policies were an important component of the Soviet system of social benefits. By 1989 all the countries of the Soviet bloc had instituted paid maternity leave, compensated at the levels of 85-100% of mothers' wages and lasting from 16 to 26 weeks. Additionally, Communist states provided paid parental leave, family allowances, government-sponsored preschool facilities, and guaranteed job protection for new mothers. Despite the dramatic changes, two decades later Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries continue to provide comprehensive family policies.

This dissertation explores the factors that influence the generosity of family policies in post-communist Central and Eastern Europe. I bridge the existing accounts of determinants of family policy generosity advanced by feminists and gender scholars, as well as welfare scholars with the views of demographers and scholars of contemporary parties in CEE. The main research focus is on investigating the complexity of determinants of family policy generosity in the CEE and determining whether and how CEE are different from Western Europe in the determinants of family policy.

1. Determinants of Family Policies.

Demographers have been pondering the sources of birth rate declines throughout Europe in the second part of the twentieth century. The extant literature explains the decline in birth rates via a variety of socio-cultural and economic explanations. The consensus has been reached that industrialized western countries have completed the second demographic transition, an ideational change in norms and family ideals driven by the economic progress, advances in birth control and medicine that prolongs life expectancy, female employment, gender equality, rising commonality of single-headed households and non-traditional families (van de Kaa 2002). Thus, the popularity of large traditional families in western societies has declined, driving the drop in fertility rates across Western Europe. Soon after the transition, fertility rates in all post-communist Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries including the European countries of the Soviet Union fell dramatically. In a matter of several years birth rates plunged from levels close to reproduction equilibrium to well-below the target of 2.1 children per family: by the year 2000 the Czech Republic's birth rate fell to 1.14 and Ukraine's birth rate was 1.1 children per woman. The drop in fertility rates can lead to the decline in population and have economic implications such as shrinking cohorts of active labor force and an increased burden on social welfare systems to support heavier proportions of the elderly (Demeny 2003; Dormont, Grignon, and Huber 2006; Kildermoes et al. 2006; Kravdal 2010; Muhleisen and Faruqee 2001).

Family policies are a part of the policy menu available to governments that wish to stimulate birth rates to influence population levels. Active government support of increased birth rates is referred to as pronatalism. Family policies can also be viewed as

an issue of gender equality being a part of women's social citizenship rights (Orloff 1993). In post-WWII Western Europe family policies have been promoted by feminists arguing for facilitation of women's workforce participation. Their main argument is that in modern society women should have state and societal support to combine paid work and childrearing. Family policies, such as paid maternity leave and parental leave, paternity leave, and affordable and accessible childcare facilitate mothers' employment and share responsibility for raising children, thus increasing the chances of higher birth rates (Gornick and Meyers 2008).

In CEE, during communism, family policies were commandeered by the pronatalist state which sought to increase productivity by including women in the workforce. The effort was made to promote gender equality by emancipating women to fully participate in the labor force. At the same time women were expected to combine work and childrearing duties as the state actively promoted the goal of a two-child family (Glass and Fodor 2007; Kligman 1994; LaFont 2001; Rivkin-Fish 2010). Since the collapse of communism, the gender equality discourse has been notably absent from the political agenda due to the resurgence of conservative political forces and ideas, the revival of the Church authority, and the tainted association of feminism and gender equality with the communist regime (Saxonberg and Sirovatka 2006). Family policies were seized by the renewed nation-building efforts and conservative party politics.

The welfare state literature, focusing primarily on the Western democracies, established the relationship between party politics and welfare spending. In the West, Left parties are characterized by the emphasis on social justice through the redistribution of resources, secularism, and the adherence to democratic institutions and democratic

procedures of solving contentious issues (Cook, Orenstein, and Rueschemeyer 1999). Scholars have established a positive relationship between Left political parties and government spending on social welfare programs (Esping-Andersen 1990; Garrett 1998; Huber and Stephens 2001; Korpi and Palme 2003; Pierson 1996). This relationship is traditionally explained by the class-based conflict between interest groups in a given society. The power-resources theory builds on interest group logic and argues that actors in the capitalist system, labor and capital, have power resources (Korpi 1983; Korpi and Palme 2003). These resources are the characteristics that the different groups in society use to reward or punish other actors or as leverage in negotiations with other groups (Korpi 1983, 14-15). The more concentrated that power is, the more leverage the actors have. Labor in established Western Democracies has been able to leverage and invest its strength into the organization of power resources through the creation and participation in unions and through the backing of Left political parties in governments. In turn, Left parties promote social welfare policies generally valued by Labor, including spending on family policies.

The increasing relevance of globalization in the last decade produced an informative debate about the effects of globalization on the national welfare states. The "new politics" argument describes diminishing relevance of class-based conflict on welfare provision. Transparency of borders and capital mobility, it contends, push governments towards austerity. Thus, the old institutional and class-based factors of influence become less relevant. The political clout of the Left parties and labor became less important than the politics of blame avoidance by political parties. Demands from

groups organized around welfare benefits provision supersede the classic class-based interest groups (Burgoon 2001; Hicks and Zorn 2005; Pierson 1996).¹

While the debate is not over, the relevance of Left parties for social welfare spending in industrialized societies persists. In light of this discussion, the question to answer is whether one can generalize these relationships and assume them true for the Central and Eastern European countries given their recent history of transformation from Communism. While the scholars are cautiously optimistic that the established political Left-Right dimensions in the CEE are comparable to the west, a number of regional peculiarities still exist.

Scholars contend that CEE party politics are influenced by the communist legacies of single party authority and repression of opposing views (Bustikova and Kitschelt 2009; Minkenberg 2009; Tismaneanu 2007). In his seminal article, Jowitt (1992) argues that the 'Leninist legacy' of society fragmentation, distrust in government and disconnect between individual and public affairs shapes political life in Eastern Europe and explains the growing popularity of nationalism and right wing radicalism. According to scholars, elements of the Leninist past are extensive: "intolerance, exclusiveness, rejection of all compromise, extreme personalization of political discourse, and the search for charismatic leadership" define political life in many post-communist European countries (Tismaneanu 2007, 36). The extant literature points to the pervasiveness of the issues of nationalism, and the appeal of traditional cultural values in the post-communist political discourse. Szeleniy, Fodor, and Hanley (1997) argue that

¹ Geddes (1995) reports that the 'capital/labor cleavage has yet to emerge as the dominant in Eastern Europe... Communist-dominated unions are declining and fragmented in Eastern Europe. New Unions are being formed, but overall membership in unions has declined'' (Geddes 1995, 256).

nationalism and religious rights were supported by the Eastern European intelligentsia and dissidents as elements of civil society, which were not supported by the communist interest-group politics. Others argue that right-wing ideas such as nationalism and social conservatism were the ideas that were used by all the electorally successful parties in Central and Eastern Europe following the first free elections (Vachudova 2008, 389). Thus, in addition to the left-right political cleavage, which is based on economic interests, there is a distinct liberal/conservative cleavage that represents cultural differences, values, and religions (Szelenyi, Fodor, and Hanley 1997).

I draw attention to the phenomena of heightened appeal of nationalism in political discourse, which manifests itself, among other ways, through heightened xenophobia and the resurgence of populist radical right parties and ideas in the CEE. In general, radical right parties can be characterized as parties subscribing to cultural conservatism and exclusionary politics in relation to religious or ethnic minorities and immigrants (Bustikova and Kitschelt 2009; Minkenberg 2009). Studies show that it is not unusual to moderate right-wing CEE parties² to use nationalism and anti-immigrant appeals for political advantage, most recently as a reaction to the European Union (EU) membership (Vachudova 2008, 388). In my analysis, I show the considerable levels of xenophobia in CEE and its political relevance for the advancement of nativist and conservative pronatalist agenda that emphasizes the threat of shrinking native populations against the potential inflow of immigrants. Therefore, I argue that given the complex legacies of communism, increased border transparency, active nation-building, and the increased

² Such as Fidez in Hungary, PiS (Law and Justice) in Poland, and ODS (Civic Democratic Party) in the Czech Republic (Vachudova 2008, 388-389).

immigration, xenophobia is one of the important determinants of family policies in postcommunist Central and Eastern Europe.

2. Data and Methodology

This analysis bridges an existing gap in the literature that, to my knowledge, lacks a comprehensive large-N analysis of the CEE countries due to the deficiency of readily accessible data, especially for the non-EU members. My data were collected from various national and international sources of statistical information, including national laws on family programs. The dataset includes information for both EU and non-EU member which were former-communist countries, including the former Soviet Union states. The data include levels of benefit provision and the duration of maternity leave and parental leave, amounts of family allowances and birth grants, fertility rates, national political and economic characteristics, and views on immigration from 1990 to 2010. Much of the comparative research on family policies focuses on the OECD and the EU countries, which collect data on a regular basis. Studies of fertility in CEE focus primarily on demographic determinants, leaving out family policy benefits.

I utilize a mixed-methods approach in this research by combining quantitative analysis of the CEE countries with a case study of Russia as a typical case (Gerring 2007). Two substantive chapters present a time-series cross-sectional analysis of determinants of fertility rates and family policy generosity in fourteen Central and Eastern European countries. The time-series cross-sectional analysis acknowledges the complex nature of the data through the specification of an error-correction model (Beck and Katz 2011; DeBoef and Keele 2008). The time-series cross-sectional data includes information for fourteen CEE countries in the time period from 1990 to 2010.

Additionally, I address the issues of unit heterogeneity. As suggested by the literature, CEE countries are not monolith. They are different historically, economically, and culturally. Some are members of the European Union, which imposes its own social welfare policy guidelines and democratic governance mandates. Most have advanced toward democratic statehood, while few still struggle with the establishment of a stable liberal democracy. Therefore, there may be different mechanisms that drive the determinants of policy generosity. For example, xenophobia may be a more salient issue in countries with a high immigrant concentration because of their increased visibility or in non-EU member states, which are not bound by the EU rules and regulations on combatting racism and xenophobia.³ To explore the differences and highlight similarities between CEE countries, different model specifications are presented and discussed in Chapters 2 and 3.

In this dissertation I argue that the analysis of family policy generosity should include the analysis of the determinants of fertility rates. Fertility rates are thought to be influenced by generous family policies. This circularity of family policies and fertility rates creates an endogeneity problem. Endogeneity can be defined as circular causality: family policies determine fertility rates, and fertility rates determine family policies. I address this problem by including separate analyses of the determinants of fertility rates and family policies, as well as a simultaneous equations model that takes endogeneity into account.

³ For example, the European Council Framework Decision 2008/913/JHA of November 2008 On Combating Certain Forms and Expressions of Racism and Xenophobia by Means of Criminal Law (The Council of the European Union 2008).

Finally, I employ the qualitative technique of process tracing to illustrate the connection between xenophobia and family policy. Process tracing methodology is used to strengthen the validity of the quantitative analysis results discussed in Chapter 4 (Bennett and Checkel 2014; Lieberman 2005). Process tracing is an analytical technique that involves analyzing large amounts of detailed information, often in chronological order, in order to establish critical pieces of evidence that can be used to validate the statistical results.

3. Chapters Outline

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. The first chapter introduces the central puzzle, as well as providing background information about the political and policy context in the post-communist Central and Eastern European countries. Chapter 2 describes the fertility rates dynamics, discusses the known determinants of fertility rates, and assesses the competing theoretical explanations of fertility rate decline in the CEE. I argue that family policies and fertility rates are interrelated. To address this endogeneity problem, I first describe the dynamics of the fertility rates and assess the applicability of the known determinants of fertility to the CEE region. Existing research on fertility determinants reports that birth rates are influenced by a set of demographic variables such as maternal age at first birth, a country's economic conditions (rate of economic growth and unemployment rates), as well as family policies such as maternity and parental leaves, childcare availability, and family allowances. Scholars of the CEE transition have argued that the sharp drop in fertility rates is a temporary reaction to the shocks of economic transition. My findings support the importance of economic shocks and their influence on suppressing fertility rates in CEE. These findings lend support to the

proposition that economic stability is an important condition for raising fertility rates. Additionally, however, paid parental leave and the availability of childcare have been found to be positively associated with increased birth rates in Central and Eastern Europe.

Chapter 3 discusses the determinants of family policies in the CEE. The extant literature on family policies in the developed democracies of the west emphasizes the following determinants of family policies' generosity: the impact of party politics and women's representation in national parliaments; economic factors, such as the growth of gross domestic product and levels of unemployment; and the various demographic determinants, such as fertility rates and female employment. I test the existing arguments and add another dimension, xenophobia, to the list of viable determinants of family policy generosity. I show that the political and societal processes that feed into the formulation and generosity of family policies have differences and similarities from the west. Additionally, I support the argument that CEE countries differ from each other due to the different paths of development during communism and the uneven successes of post-communist transformation. I expand the understanding of political party influence on family policy outcomes by arguing that, despite common expectations of the Left's generosity, in CEE radical populists and conservatives are the champions of comprehensive family policies. This political dynamic distinguishes CEE family policy formulation from other established welfare states of the west. I show that xenophobia is a relevant determinant of family policy in those CEE countries, where there is a greater representation of foreign-born in the population (over 5 percent). The results of simultaneous equation analysis largely support these findings.

In Chapter 4 I present an in-depth qualitative analysis of the case study of the Russian Federation. Russia hosts a considerable population of immigrants, the largest in Europe in 2013, has generous family policies, and has experienced a rise in xenophobia in the past decade. I base my analysis on interviews with Russian legislators and elected officials and members of academia. In addition, I provide content analysis of mass media and official government data and documents, which provide evidence of xenophobia in Russia and its connection to public policymaking. The case study of Russia utilizes the process tracing technique to tease out the relationship and clarify the direction of causal inference between xenophobia in Russia that coincided with the growing labor migration from the former Soviet states to Russia. I show that xenophobia is used by the right-wing nationalist forces to influence the generosity of family policies. Chapter 5 presents some concluding remarks and direction for further research.

Chapter 2

Policy and Economic Determinants of Fertility in the post-communist Central and Eastern European countries and the former Soviet Union

1. Introduction

After the collapse of the Warsaw Pact and the dissolution of the USSR, former communist countries embarked on liberal economic and democratic political reforms. In a situation of political and economic instability, fertility rates fell sharply from at- or above- replacement levels to well-below replacement. With subsequent economic recoveries, some observers predicted improved birth rates, but the results have been mixed and there has not been a return to replacement levels. In Estonia, Bulgaria and Russia, fertility rates are slowly creeping up towards replacement levels. In other countries, however, like Romania, Hungary, and Latvia, fertility rates have settled below 1.35, far below replacement levels. According to the latest projections from the Population Research Bureau, "Europe is likely to be the first region in history to see longterm population decline as a result of low fertility, largely due to the countries of Eastern Europe and Russia" (Population Reference Bureau 2010).

The issues of low fertility in the industrialized countries have been given considerable attention in the literature (Bongaarts 1982; 2002; Butalao and Casterline 2001; Caldwell and Shindlmayr 2003; Coleman and Rowthorn 2011; Gauthier and Hatzius 1997; Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002; Morgan 2003; Smith 1989; Van de Kaa 1994; 1996). The impact of low fertility has far-reaching consequences for policymakers. Declining populations imply future troubles with sustaining economic growth as existing populations age and fewer younger workers can contribute to national GDPs or serve in national militaries. As such, fertility is an important component in the socio-economic and military power structure of modern states.

Sociologists, demographers, and political scientist have produced volumes describing the social, economic, and normative origins of fertility decline and investigated various policies that would be able to address low fertility and reverse populations decline. Extensive studies focused on the subset of developed industrialized countries, but the European countries of the former communist bloc are underrepresented in these studies due to lack of data. This dissertation contributes to the pool of large-N quantitative studies of determinants of fertility by analyzing the sub-set of Central and Eastern European countries using an original dataset, collected from international and national sources. It includes the length and compensation of maternity and parental leave, family allowances, and childcare enrollment rates.

In this chapter I provide a description of patterns of declining fertility in postcommunist Central and Eastern European countries and review the demographic and economic transition explanations of fertility decline. The demographic literature explains low fertility in terms of normative shifts in family formation and postponement of childbirth. The economic transition scholars emphasize the unique features of CEE and the shocks of economic and political transition that are believed to have caused a temporary decline in fertility rates. The uniqueness of studying Central and Eastern European countries lies in its history of closed authoritarian governance under communism and the major overhaul of all aspects of political and economic life following the collapse of the Soviet bloc. As such, these countries represent a sort of a

natural experiment in their transformation from the closed to open democratic and economic systems (Orenstein 2008).

The cumulative importance of fertility to many aspects of modern governance demands states to mediate and attempt to raise fertility through the introduction and/or expansion of family policies. The existing literature on Western Europe provides evidence that family policies can increase fertility rates (Gauthier and Hatzius 1997; Gauthier 2007). Comparative cross-sectional studies of the former CEE are limited due, in large part, to the lack of data. This chapter addresses this challenge by presenting a time-series cross-sectional analysis of determinants of fertility rates in CEE that includes not only demographic and economic factors but also major elements of family policies such as maternity and paternity leave, childcare availability, and family allowances.

The main contribution of this chapter is that it considers the joint influence of socio-cultural, economic and policy determinants on fertility in the region that is unique due to its recent massive transformation. Emerging differences and similarities between fertility patterns and policy responses in Western Europe and CEE are highlighted. I find that the economic shocks of transition persisted twenty years past the start of the transition. Unemployment has a negative impact on fertility rates, as well as the overall economic growth. The recent trends of childbearing postponement, common across Western Europe, contribute to the decline in fertility rates, while family policies are shown to have a positive impact on increasing fertility rates. The next section outlines the main theoretical explanations of fertility and details patterns of birth rates in CEE. It is followed by the empirical analysis of fertility determinants in CEE, and a discussion of results.

2. Theory and Background

2.1. Why Fertility Rates Are Important

As fertility levels continue to decline around the industrialized countries, volumes have been written to describe and establish the causes.⁴ Fertility rates are an important component of the overall population size, the stability of which has serious socio-economic consequences. Currently many European countries experience the *lowest-low fertility;* that is fertility levels at or below 1.3 children per woman. Sustained lowest-low fertility leads to yearly population declines due to the smaller size of future cohorts of reproductive capacity, absent immigration to off-set declining births (Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002; UN 2013).

The negative effect of declining fertility is amplified by the trend of an aging population in Europe (European Commission 2012). According to UN projections, the population aged 60 and older is expected to rise 45 percent by the middle of the 21st Century (UN 2013, 3). Median age in Europe is reported to be the highest in the world at 40 in 2010 and expected to remain such through 2050 at 46 years (UN 2013). Total population of Europe is expected to decline by 2050. According to projections, the old age dependency ratio⁵ will double in size by 2050 in Europe, while the proportion of young persons to overall population will shrink. These trends inevitably will burden social security systems and will negatively affect economic growth (European Commission 2012).

⁴ Fertility decline is mostly affecting the industrialized European countries, Canada, Japan, China, and Taiwan. Thus, as Demeny (2003) briefly notes, fertility decline is perceived as problem to scholars and governments from the industrialized countries of the North. Fertility rates are projected to remain high throughout the 21st century in India, Nigeria, Niger, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Congo, and Uganda (UN 2013). ⁵ That is the ratio of older people (over 65) to the younger economically active cohort (15-64 years old) (World Bank).

Such demographic prospects can lead to a negative economic impact. The increased social welfare obligations caused by declining fertility and aging stifle GDP growth⁶ (Demeny 2003; European Commission 2012). As life expectancy rises and birth rates decline, social welfare systems become overtaxed with the burden of providing social benefits to growing numbers of elderly, while cohorts of citizens engaged in the labor market shrinks (Demeny 2003; Dormont, Grignon, and Huber 2006; Kildemoes et al. 2006). Pensions and healthcare programs represent a significant part of social welfare obligations. Smaller cohorts of working young persons, compared to groups of economically active workers, can lead to a diminished tax base and fewer contributions to social security funds. For many European pension systems, which incorporate pay-asyou-go financing of pensions, this situation threatens insolvency of government pensions, as illustrated by the study of the UK pension system (Blake and Mayhew 2006) and projected from the analysis of the pension system of Japan, the fastest aging society in the world (MacKellar et al. 2004). Aging population is expected to add significant burdens to providing health care for elderly populations that are projected to live longer (Kildemoes et al. 2006).

More populous countries have greater labor pools. Labor is an important component of production, thus more labor translates into greater economic output, assuming these workers can be employed (Coleman and Rowthorn 2011, 226-227). Greater populations also imply increasing consumption potential, thus attracting capital investment. Conversely, an aging and declining population leads to reduced output because of the shrinking labor pool, reduced productivity of the older population due to

⁶ Some authors argue that this is not to be confused with GDP per capita.

higher age, stagnating economies of scales, and shrinking markets (Kravdal 2010; Muhleisen and Faruqee 2001). According to IMF estimations, Japan's GDP may fall by as much as 20% in the next century as a result of negative demographic trends of a declining and aging population (Muhleisen and Faruquee 2001).

However, not all researchers are pessimistic about the impact of aging and low fertility on national economies. For instance, some argue that governments may be able to save on education expenditures and redistribute funds to other areas (European Commission 2012; Lee and Mason 2010), although research from Japan shows that savings may be only temporary (MacKellar et al. 2004). Others point to the possible positive environmental impact, as slowing production may lead to less consumption and a smaller ecological footprint (McDonald et al. 2006).

Population decline is argued to have geopolitical consequences, such as the loss of power, prestige, influence, and military might on the global stage. Concepts of power are central to the explanations of international politics for realist theories of international relations. According to the structural realism theory of international relations, states base their behavior on calculations of own power. Stable population is a major contributing factor to a country's military and economic power, which ensures stability and security of a country on the international arena (Mearsheimer 2001; Schmidt 2005). Military power is a direct reflection of the size and capacity of a state's armed forces, which includes land, army, navy, air power, and nuclear forces (Mearsheimer 2001, 66). Population levels translate into military strength not only in the number of conscripts, but also through contributing to the capacity of military-industrial production. Scholars of international relations refer to population resources as latent power. Latent power constitutes the social resources that a state has available to build military forces. Although there are always a variety of such resources, the size of a state's population and its wealth are the two most important components for generating military might. Population size matters a lot, because great powers require big armies, which can be raised only in countries with large populations. ... Population size also has important economic consequences, because only large populations can produce great wealth, the other building block of military power (Mearsheimer 2001, 60-61).

Based on power calculations, population decline poses a significant challenge to states. Fewer young people may mean less innovation, shrinking armed forces⁷, smaller production capabilities, and less output for national security needs. From this point of view, a large population at equilibrium contributes to the stability of labor supply, ensures the presence of bright and innovative people to drive the economy forward, contributes to a growing GDP⁸, and provides a personnel pool for the nation's military (Demeny 2003; Jackson and Howe 2008; Morgan 2003).

In addition to military capacity, from the perspective of a global balance of power, population size has important effects on membership and influence in global governing bodies. It is projected that, owing to its growing population and growing GDP, that Brazil and India have the potential to become leading world powers, thus challenging the global balance of powers. One such challenge may come through obtaining a permanent seat at the UN Security Council for India by arguing that it will have become a major world player backed by people and resources (Demeny 2003). India is projected to

⁷ Unless foreigners are permitted to serve in the military.

⁸ Research distinguishes between country's wealth as measured by national GDP and contributes to its projected power and individual wealth (GDP per capita). Studies show that there is no positive relationship between GDP and individual wealth and that individual preferences might be quite the opposite from those envisioned by governments (see discussion in Coleman and Rowthorn 2011, 230-231 and the study by Shultz 2005).

become the most populous country after 2030, surpassing China and leaving industrialized countries of the West far behind (UN 2013).

In Europe, population dynamics may challenge the existing balance of powers in the European Union. According to the Lisbon Treaty, country-members receive seats in the European Parliament proportional to their population size. The maximum number of members of parliaments from any country has been capped at 96. Germany currently is the most populous country in the EU. However, if Turkey were to become an EU member, it will potentially gain more influence as its population is projected to grow at a faster pace than any other EU member. This appears to be a sticking point for some European leaders and the general population because Turkey is culturally and religiously different from mainland Europe, as a predominantly Muslim country (Casanova 2006). The prospects of Turkey dominating the EU in the future is not agreeable to the current EU leaders, who presently struggle to integrate and accept their existing minority Muslim population (Adida, Laitin, and Valford 2015). From this stand point, maintaining and balancing own population levels may represent a priority issue for the European governments that are interested in ensuring the preservation of balance of powers and interests in Europe.

The above discussion summarizes socio-economic and geopolitical consequences of low fertility. These considerations justify the increased importance policymakers and social scientists attribute to the issues of fertility decline. The following section will review existing theoretical arguments advanced by demographers and political scientists regarding possible determinants of fertility rates around the world and in post-communist Central and Eastern European countries in particular.

2.2. Describing Fertility Rates in Central and Eastern Europe

Pre-transition, fertility rates in Central and Eastern Europe remained at or close to replacement levels of 2.1 children per woman. Appendix B details dynamics of fertility rates in the past 30 years. The data illustrate a steep downward trend starting in the late 1980s and continuing through the 1990s. In 1981, the following CEE countries had total fertility rates (TFR) below replacement level of 2.01: Czech Republic (2.0), Hungary (1.88), Croatia (1.99), Slovenia (1.99), Russia (1.91), Ukraine (1.93), Latvia (1.88), and Lithuania (1.98). The European countries of the former Soviet Union – Russia, Ukraine, Latvia, Lithuania, Belarus Estonia and Moldova, registered an increased total fertility rate during the 1980s. Scholars argue that the upturn was due to increased welfare in the USSR, a successful anti-alcoholism campaign, and the implementation of paid parental leave for the first year of a child's life in 1981 (Avdeev and Monier 1995; Rimashevskaia and Milovidov 1988).

Fertility rates plunged in the early 1990s, a trend attributed to the economic hardship of transition (Deacon 1992). TFR bottomed out in the early 2000s, before beginning a slow climb upwards. By 2012, many Central and Eastern European countries were on the slow recovery path registering raising fertility rates. However, several countries seem to have settled in the pattern of lowest-low fertility at or below 1.3: Hungary, Poland, Slovakia, Latvia, and Moldova (Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002; Golstein, Sobotka, and Jasilioniene 2009). Below, I review theoretical arguments that explain fertility decline around the world and in CEE.

2.3. Demographic Transition Theories and Lowest-Low Fertility

Existing literature on fertility decline can be roughly divided into two camps: 1. those that assessed low fertility in terms of the ideational change driven by economic progress, and 2. those that explain low fertility as effects of economic hardship brought by economic recessions. Demographic Transition theories of fertility decline explain fertility in terms of technological progress, as well as normative changes in family formation and fertility postponement. *Demographic transition theory* was developed to explain fertility trends of the pre-urbanization and industrialization past, when populations did not grow substantially due to the poor economic, social, and health conditions which equalized the death and birth rates (van de Kaa 2002). Its explanatory power is based on fertility and mortality dynamics. In the 19th Century, populations began to grow steadily due to the increased living standards and medical advances that allowed the treatment of infectious diseases, better hygiene and public sanitation, and improved nutrition. The improved living standards brought down mortality rates, and birth rates gradually declined. This shift from high to low mortality and from high to low fertility is known as the [first] demographic transition (Butalao and Casterline 2001; Kirk 1996).

The current situation in developed countries, where fertility has fallen below the two –child per family replacement level, is referred to as the *second demographic transition* (van de Kaa 1987; 2002). The causes of fertility decline have been linked to greater education and employment opportunities for women, the contraceptive revolution of 1960s, increased proportion of births taking place out of wedlock, increased divorce rates, higher economic costs of having children, and normative shifts towards

individualism and materialism (Caldwell and Shindlmayr 2003; McDonald 2002; Morgan 2003; van de Kaa 1987).

The contraceptive revolution of the 1960s allowed families to plan children, which eventually lead to widespread postponement of childbirth until parents received education and gained work experience so that they could achieve an aspired socioeconomic status (Goldin and Katz 2002). The pressure to achieve higher education, develop a professional career, and reach greater socio-economic status ultimately characterized the way of life for families in the developed countries of the second part of the 20th Century (Bongaarts and Feeney 1998; Caldwell 1982; Caldwell and Schindlmayr 2003). McDonald (2006) reviews empirical evidence of childbirth postponement as a way to reach a higher economic status and/or acquire higher education. Other scholars argue that childbirth postponement, the *postponement transition*, may be contagious - once it becomes acceptable more and more women view it as a new societal norm (Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002). What once was an exception becomes an accepted norm, as evident from the rising average age of mothers at the birth of their first child across Europe (Billingsley 2010). Average maternal age of first birth in Western Europe was 30.5 in 2010. It rose up one year from 2000 (Eurostat 2013).

The communist governments of Central and Eastern European countries actively promoted large families and provided complex family support programs. Pre-1989, age at first birth remained lower than in Western Europe, but crept up once state socialism had been abolished (Bongaarts and Feeney 1998; Goldsein, Sobotka and Jasilioniene 2009). Table 1 details first birth timing in CEE countries.

Country	Average	Average	Average
	1990-2010	1990-1999	2000-2010
Poland	25.3	23.7	25.6
Hungary	25.3	23.8	26.7
Czech Rep.	24.9	23.3	26.4
Slovakia	25.0	21.4	25.6
Slovenia	27.2	24.5	27.7
Bulgaria	23.6	22.4	24.8
Moldova	22.5	22.0	22.6
Romania	24.5	22.6	24.8
Russia	23.5	22.8	24.1
Estonia	24.2	23.1	25.2
Latvia	24.9	23.4	25.2
Lithuania	24.2	23.3	25.0
Ukraine	23.9	22.7	24.0
Belarus	23.8	22.9	23.9

Table 1. Age at First Birth in CEE

Source: UNECE Transmonee Database.

Overall, average age at first birth in CEE since 1990 is 24.25 with substantial variation. Age at first birth has been steadily rising since the mid-2000s. Several researchers distinguished two sub-groups within post-communist European countries (Billingsley 2010; Sobotka 2003). They argue that Central European countries Czech Republic, Slovenia, Poland, and Hungary display different fertility behavior that is characterized by postponement of births (high age at first birth) and low mortality. As Table 1 illustrates, age at first birth increased by an average of 2 years between the periods of 1990-1999 and 2000-2010 in Bulgaria, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Ukraine and Belarus. Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia and Slovenia experienced an increase in age at first birth by three or more years. Correlation between average age of women at birth of first child and fertility rates reveal a negative trend overall, with a more profound trend in Poland, Hungary, Slovakia, Slovenia, Romania, Czech Republic, and Latvia (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Correlation between Age at First Birth and Total Fertility Rates in CEE, 1990-2010

2.4. Fertility Decline in CEE and the Role of Economic Recession

Extant literature is far from the consensus on the causes of fertility decline in CEE. Some predict that fertility decline will continue due to rising average age at first birth leading to long term decline in fertility rates (Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002; Golsdtein, Sobotka, and Jasilioniene 2009, 666-337), while others argue that childbirth postponement may be a temporary phenomenon brought by the high economic uncertainties and hardships of transition (Billingsley 2010, 204). Globally, fertility has been linked to economic growth. Existing literature argues that fertility rates are pro-cyclical, rising in good economic times and falling during recessions (Fokkema et al. 2008; Goldstein, Sobotka, and Jasilioniene 2009; Ogawa 2002; Sobotka, Skirbekk, and Philipov 2010). Adsera and Menendez (2009) find a positive relationship between GDP growth and first births in
Latin America. Fokkema et al. (2008) report a similar relationship, arguing that the fertility rates rise in the Netherlands can be attributed to the upturn in the economy.

In CEE, extant research emphasizes the profoundly severe impact of economic transformation and restructuring, such as the soaring unemployment, sharp decline in standards of living, inflation, high economic uncertainty, and anomie⁹ (Deacon 2000; Kohler, Billari, and Ortega 2002; Sobotka, Skirbekk and Philipov 2010; Sobotka 2011; UNECE 2000). The loss of income that the former Soviet countries experienced during the transition 1988-1995 was compared to the Great Depression in the US (Aslund 1992; Milanovic 1998). "Real per capita income declined between 1988 and 1993 by 54 percent in the Slavic republics including Russia, by 41 percent in the Baltics, 54 percent in Central Asia, and 25 percent in Eastern Europe" (Deacon 2000, 148). Income inequality rose significantly, as measured by GINI coefficient (Billingsley 2010, 197). Earnings were eroded by galloping inflation and in some locales wages were not systematically paid, contributing to rising economic uncertainty (Gimpelson 2001).

In addition to economic collapse, social safety nets and support systems became overburdened and underfunded, thus could not keep up with the increasing demand. As a result of liberalization and economic recession, health care and education systems became underfunded and unable to fit into the new market reality, while the state was overburdened by increased demand on social resources (Baxandall 2003; Standing 1997). State support for families eroded quickly as funding declined; payments and social services were scaled back, discontinued or became fee-based services (Deacon 2000).

⁹ Anomie is defined as the social uncertainty due to the breakdown of previously existing social ties and values (Perelli-Harris 2006).

Research suggests that high economic uncertainty, loss of social safety nets, and breakdown of previously available support networks, makes people more risk-averse, so they forgo childbearing to minimize costs that are associated with children (McDonald 2002). Subjective well-being has a strong effect on the likelihood of childbearing as it relates to a positive outlook of one's employment prospects, and thus future economic stability that is linked to successful ability to raise children (Bhaumik and Nugent 2002; Perelli-Harris 2006). Young men and women postpone fertility decisions due to rising uncertainty triggered by economic recessions and rising unemployment, especially evidenced by studies from southern Europe (Ahn and Mira 2001; del Boca 2002). High economic uncertainty causes individuals to seek cost minimizing behavior as well as pursue training and education in order to increase odds of employment. In CEE, scholars argue, education became a good investment and highly-valued insurance against market insecurities, thus a greater proportion of women chose postponing childbirth to receive education in post-transition countries (Kohler, Billari and Ortega 2002, 655). CEE case studies confirm that in bad economic times, highly educated women tend to postpone childbearing in order to secure employment and financial stability (Kreyenfeld 2005; Perelli-Harris 2006, 2008). Lack of work tends to deter young males from union formation and childbearing decisions. Women are likely to postpone childbearing, especially higher order births, to reduce uncertainty (Deacon 2000; Caldwell and Shindlmayr 2003; Kohler, Billari and Ortega 2002; Standing 1996). Eun (2003) shows the negative relationship of rising overall unemployment and falling fertility rates in Korea. In a study of French women, Meron and Widmer (2002) find that young French unemployed women tend to postpone first birth longer than employed women.

Existing empirical studies report a negative impact of unemployment on fertility rates (Adsera 2004; d'Addio and d'Ercole 2005; Andersson 2000; Gauthier and Hatzius1997; Kravdal 2002; Rindfuss et al 1988; Sobotka, Skirbekk, and Philipov 2010). In CEE, unemployment emerged as a significant negative force that depressed economic prospects of many CEE citizens. Researchers note that unemployment was expected to rise during the transition, but few predicted the depth of the problem (Baxandall 2003). Large groups of unemployed workers emerged as the industrial sector declined due to low competitiveness, privatization, and rapid dissolution of previous economic cooperation mechanisms. Public sector employees became unemployed as factoryfinanced primary-care hospitals, preschools or children's summer camps,¹⁰ which they carried, were discontinued.

Table 2 provides a snapshot of unemployment in CEE. During the 1990s, unemployment¹¹ soared to over 21% in Bulgaria while it remained under 10% in Belarus, Ukraine, Russia, Estonia, and Czech Republic. UNECE (2000) reports no clear patterns in male and female unemployment rates in most CEE countries, noting some evidence that females fared worse than males in Czech Republic, Poland and Slovakia. These findings are supported by Fodor (2001), who reports that women not only tend to be laid off first but also remain unemployed longer in Central Europe.

¹⁰ It was not uncommon for large factories to maintain their own child-care facilities, primary-care hospitals, resorts, summer camps for children, etc.

¹¹ Unemployment data for this project was taken from World Bank projections. The literature points discrepancies between reported and real unemployment and reporting omission across countries during the 1990s (UNECE 2000, Gimpleson 2001). Some sources report higher unemployment than represented in dataset, but due to inability to confirm higher unemployment percentages, I use WB data.

Country	Average	St.Deviation	Min	Max
Poland	14.49	4.97	7.1	20
Hungary	7.36	1.78	5.7	11.2
Czech Republic	7.18	1.29	4.4	8.7
Slovakia	15.4	3.48	9.5	19.3
Slovenia	6.1	0.81	4.4	7.2
Bulgaria	11.66	4.76	5.6	19.5
Moldova	6.93	1.33	4	8.5
Romania	7.16	0.75	5.8	8.6
Russia	7.84	1.26	6.1	10.6
Estonia	10.08	3.89	4.7	16.9
Latvia	11.45	4.28	6	19
Lithuania	11.89	4.52	4.3	17.8
Ukraine	8.57	1.83	6.4	11.7
Belarus	1.51	0.89	0.5	3.1
a				

Table 2 CEE Unemployment, 1990-2010

Source: World Bank

2.5. Policy Responses to Declining Fertility

As discussed earlier, low fertility rates present a set of political and economic challenges for governments. In response, governments can influence fertility levels through adopting family policies to stimulate birth rates.¹² Family policies help parents reduce direct and indirect costs¹³ of children (Cigno 1991). Specifically, governments can offer: paid maternity and paternity leave, affordable and accessible childcare, prohibition of discrimination based on childbirth, flexible working time arrangements and reduced workplace discrimination, tax credits, and other resources available for families to encourage sharing of responsibilities among both parents (Gornick and Meyers 2008; McDonald 2002; PRB 2004; UN 2003).

¹² Of course, governments can also be concerned with too much fertility and adopt policies to reduce fertility, i.e. Chinese policies of imposing fertility restrictions on families (Bongaarts and Greenhalgh 1985; Feeney and Feng 1993).

¹³ See a summary of the rational economic argument of the direct cost of having children in d'Ercole and d'Addio (2005, 48-49) and McDonald (2002, 422-425).

Empirical research offers further detail on the efficacy of different family policies as they are linked to fertility rates. Gauthier and Hatzius (1997) find that child allowances have a small positive influence on raising fertility rates. Maternity leave duration and compensation has been found to positively affect fertility rates in European countries (Andersson 2000; Ermish 1988; Larocque and Salanie 2004; Whittington 1992; Zhang, Quan, and van Meerbergen 1994). Gerber and Perelli-Harris (2012) find that Russian paid maternity leave, up to 36 months, had a positive impact of women's labor force attachment following first birth and increased chances of second conception. Lalive and Zweimueller (2005) find that the duration of parental leave has a positive effect on fertility in Austria, while Barmby and Cigno (1990) conclude that the presence of child benefits speeds up the onset of childbearing in the Great Britain. Ronsen and Sundstrom (2004) analysis of Norway and Finland finds that parental leave has a small positive effect on fertility rates.

Childcare availability provides care for children while women return to work, thus reducing direct cost of children, and alleviating such negative consequences of childbirth as loss of tenure and promotion due to lengthy breaks from work to care for children. Empirical evidence suggests that childcare availability has a significant positive effect on fertility (Gauthier and Hatzius 1997; Kravdal 1996). Del Boca (2002) describes the negative consequences of limited government assistance, including childcare, for young Italian mothers and links it to low fertility. Rindfuss et al. (2007) find strong positive association between childcare availability and transition to motherhood using the example of Norway. According to the literature, childcare plays an important role in sharing caring responsibility thus reducing the negative impact on earnings, tenure, and

promotion opportunities for mothers (Brilli, del Boca, and Pronzato 2011; Rindfuss 1991; Estevez-Abe 2006).

2.6. An Overview of Family Policies in CEE

The CEE region shares a unique history of communist governance imposed in the aftermath of the WWII. The development of family policies in Central and Eastern European countries were heavily influenced by Communist ideology. General features of the Communist social welfare systems were: highly subsidized prices on food and housing, guaranteed employment, universal health and education provision, and generous maternity leave policies (Rivkin-Fish 2001; Standing 1997). The state desired to control many faucets of citizens' lives, including participation in the labor market and family size. Full employment was a goal and unemployment officially did not exist (Baxandall 2001). The Communist governments viewed family policies as a stimulus for individuals to form families and have children, at the same time promoting dual-earner families. High female workforce participation rates were encouraged by governments to remain at high levels (LaFont 2001). "Working women ... received favorable treatment, such as three-year child-care grants and the right to resume their previous employment; however, there was an obligation on women not only to work but to remain responsible for family care, and the division of labour remained sexist" (Deacon 2000, 147). Government pronatalism was the main driver of family policies, and fertility rates remained an area of concern for Communist governments (Avdeyeva 2011; Glass and Fodor 2007; Kligman 1994; Rivkin-Fish 2001).

Two-child families were considered a goal and the state actively encouraged the achievement of this image through the provision of family assistance (Avdeev and

Monier 1995). Comprehensive family policies were adopted and gradually expanded to include paid maternity and parental leaves, government subsidies and meal supplements to families, family allowances, childcare, and preferential housing allocation for families with children. These government measures allowed women to combine childrearing and employment, although feminists criticized soviet-style pronatalism as short-sighted as it did little to address gender inequalities at home, where women were still expected to perform a majority of housework (Gal and Kligman 2000).

After the collapse of communism, the newly-formed democracies initially adhered to the principles of economic liberalism aiming to substantially reduce welfare state (Standing 1997). Social programs, including family support programs were scaled back or eliminated, as in a case of subsidies for families, e.g. free school lunches and school supplies and uniforms. Most notably, the availability of childcare was sharply reduced (Deacon 2000, 155).

However, despite the economic hardship and liberalization of many social welfare programs, such as pensions and health care, data reveal that family policies were not universally cut. Duration and compensation of key policy pieces, such as maternity and parental leave have not been eliminated, but expanded once economic recoveries were achieved. In addition, efforts to increase childcare availability have been made, and several governments introduced additional monetary measures of birth stimulation, such as birth grants (Kingsbury 2015).

Maternity leave is a social benefit entitling women to take paid time off to take care of a newborn child. In many CEE countries, it is mandatory and usually starts several weeks before childbirth. Besides monetary compensation, it provides job security

to new mothers. At the moment of transition all countries had established paid maternity leave. Since transition began, CEE countries engaged in updating the legal framework pertaining to family and fertility policies. Its length was either left intact or has been increased. Figure 2 shows that most countries increased the duration of paid maternity leave in the late 1980s (Czechoslovakia 1988) or the early 1990s (Estonia 1992, Hungary 1992, Russia 1992, Belarus 1992, Lithuania 1992). Romania (2001) and Bulgaria (1999) increased paid maternity leave at the end of 1990s. Poland increased leave in 2000 and 2001, which was scaled back in 2002, only to be increased again in 2007 and 2009. Bulgaria and Latvia substantially expanded maternity leave duration again in 2007.



Figure 2. Length of Maternity Leave in Weeks

Maternity leave compensation is tied to previous wages in all CEE countries, ranging from 65 to 100% of previous wages. The modifications to maternity leave compensation included either the decrease of compensation levels or the introduction of maximum payment ceilings.¹⁴ For example, in Russia, Romania, Belarus, Ukraine, Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania, the level of wage replacement rates during maternity leave stayed unchanged at 100 percent from the pre-transition levels. The following countries decreased maternity leave compensation as the percent of average salary paid: Hungary (once from 100 to 70% in 1997), Czech Republic (from 90 to 69% in 1993 and a 1 percent increase to 70% n 2008), Slovakia (once from 90% to 55% in 2003), Albania (once from 95 to 80% in 1993), Bulgaria (once from 100 to 90% in 2001).

Paid *parental leave* follows maternity leave and usually is paid at a smaller rate than maternity leave, but lasts longer. A common trend in paid parental leave is allowing mothers to stay at home to attend to their small children up to 3 years, of which usually up to 2 years are compensated, and the 3rd year doesn't have monetary compensation but provides job security benefits.¹⁵

CEE countries had paid parental leave policies in place before the dissolution of Communism. In the 1980s, Poland and Czechoslovakia offered paid parental leave until a child was two years old. Hungary's parental leave lasted for 3 years. The USSR introduced paid parental leave in 1981, in addition to a paid maternity leave of 16 weeks. The first regions to implement the measure were the low-birth countries: Russia, Belarus, Ukraine and the Baltic states. The Central Asian and Transcaucasus implemented paid leave in 1983. The reason for delayed implementation in Central Asia and Transcaucasus is that these regions had higher fertility rates. The measure was targeted at the low birth

¹⁴ The following countries reduced the percent of compensation for maternity leave: Hungary reduced compensation from 100% to 70% in 1998, Czech Republic – reduced compensation from 90% to 69% in 1993, Slovakia reduced compensation from 90% to 55% in 2003, Albania reduced compensation from 95% to 80% in 1993, and Bulgaria reduced compensation from 100% to 90% in 20001.

¹⁵ See my discussion of refamilialization in Chapter 3.

rate regions of the USSR (Avdeev and Monier 1995; Rimashevskaya and Milovidov 1988, 74). At the end of 1990, the Soviet government increased paid leave to 18 months. Russia retained paid parental leave until a child is 18 months, which was generously increased to 40 percent of mother's salary in 2007. Parental leave can be extended until a child is three years old, with job security benefits, but the compensation is symbolical – 50 rubles which is less than \$2 - and largely remains unclaimed. The Czech Republic increased paid parental leave in 1990 and 1996 and then decreased it in 2008. Currently, Czech parents can stay at home caring for a child for three years. Slovakia increased its parental leave to 3 years in 1989. Paid parental leave currently ranges from 6 months in Albania to three years in Estonia, Belarus, Czech Republic, and Moldova.

Family allowances (FA) refer to the payments per each child, granted after the paid parental leave is over, and, in most countries, until a child is done with secondary school. Before the dissolution of the Communist bloc only the countries of the former USSR and Romania had means-tested family allowances. The rest of the countries had a universal system of FA. Family allowance benefits and eligibility may differ based on the number of children. For instance, Hungary only paid family allowances for a second and third child until 1987 and Albania until 1992, when family allowance was expanded for the first and second child.

Single-headed households have traditionally been targeted as FA recipients. The USSR introduced a special allowance to low-income families in 1974 and soon expanded it to single mothers (Rimashevskaya and Milovidov 1988, 74). The countries of the former Soviet Union took divergent paths after breaking up. For example, Lithuania terminated family allowance in 1991. In 1996, it re-introduced family allowance

payments for a third child only, and in 2004 family allowance payments were allotted for the first and second child in a family. The rest of the CEE countries introduced meanstesting of family allowances in 1990s, though in Hungary it was short-lived (1996-2000) and in Estonia and Latvia means-testing was abolished in 1991. Albania terminated family allowance altogether in 1999.



Figure 3. Ratio of Family Allowance to Average Wage 1980-2010

Aside from the eligibility requirements and means-testing, the elephant in the room is the size of the allowances. The economic shocks of transition and reforms significantly reduced the value of these allowances. The governments' attempts to keep up with inflation were not always successful. Figure 3 captures the impact of family allowances by showing the dynamics of family allowance as compared to average wages. It indicates that most CEE governments struggled to keep the values of family allowances relevant by increasing the values and indexing as evidenced from the spikes on graphs. In most countries FA stays well below 10% presently, however, the values tend to diminish

over time. Additionally, reports show that in countries where the value of these allowances are low, many women do not bother to apply, given the considerable time and effort required to collect all the supporting documentation and filling out the application (Rivkin-Fish 2010).

Central and Eastern European countries inherited a comprehensive framework of *childcare* institutions. As discussed above, Communist governments aimed for full employment among men and women. To facilitate high workforce participation among females of reproductive age, childcare facilities were instituted which included nurseries for infants and preschools for children ages 3-6 (Kogan, Gebel, and Noelke 2008). Figure 4 provides a visual summary of childcare enrollment rates in CEE from 1990 to 2010.



Figure 4 Childcare Enrollment Rates in CEE 1990-2010

Research of cases from across Europe supports the hypothesis of a positive relationship between childcare availability and fertility. A growing consensus among researchers posits a positive relationship between women's workforce attachment and fertility. Across Europe, maternal employment reaches 68 percent (OECD 2014), providing powerful support for a thesis that the traditional male breadwinner model of family gave way to the dual earner family structure (Gornick and Meyers 2008).

Research shows that where rigidities in labor markets, workplace promotion practices, educational and training programs, and gender roles force a choice between work and family, women often choose work, foregoing childbearing altogether (Billari and Kohler 2004; Brewster and Rindfuss 2000; Gauthier 2007; Gerber and Perelli-Harris 2012). Childbirth significantly disrupts work careers of women and decreases opportunities for women to advance, or provides less choice of the field of employment. For instance, studies of the occupational segregation in Western Europe suggest that childbirth most negatively affects the opportunities of women to advance in certain occupational fields, usually those based on apprenticeship training and experience (Estevez-Abe 2006). Childcare availability can facilitate women's labor force attachment through reducing the time-off taken to care for children as evidenced by research (Randall 2000; Rindfuss 1991; Rindfuss et al. 2007; Szelewa and Polakowski 2008).

To summarize the existing arguments, the decline in fertility rates in CEE can be explained using the Second Demographic Transition (SDT) theory which focuses on a normative revolution of changing family structures, dual income families, fertility planning and the increased value of education. Countries that experienced SDT display significantly higher ages of first birth among mothers. A substantial segment of the literature points to the negative consequences of post-communist economic transformation and resulting recession. The literature also discusses policy mechanisms that can alleviate negative socio-cultural and economic trends through supporting

families with direct payments and public programs. Communist CEE states traditionally acted in the pronatalist manner by encouraging births within the confines of the established balance between social responsibility and market forces.¹⁶ After the transition, CEE states continued providing family policies instituted during Communism. The following is an empirical analysis of the economic, socio-cultural and policy determinants of fertility rates in CEE.

3. Data, Variables, and Measurement

I use original data, which was primarily collected during the time period from 2010 to 2011. The most recent year included in this dissertation is 2010 due to lags in official data reporting. The information on the duration and compensation levels of maternity leave, parental leave, and family allowances was coded from international reporting agencies, such as the European Union's Mutual Information System on Social Protection (MISSOC), the European Commission's Mutual Information System on Social Protection in the Central and Eastern European Countries (MISSCEEC), and the US Social Security Administration's yearly editions of the Social Security Programs throughout the World (SSPTW). The data was then cross-checked for validation and missing values were corrected through accessing information from national statistical offices, direct requests for information to national social welfare administration ministries, combing through texts of national family policy laws for the formulas of compensation of maternity, parental leave, and family allowances, and consulting national budgets for actual sizes of allocations, such as subsistence levels and/or minimum wage values. Appendix A summarizes data used for the analysis.

¹⁶ For more on these see the welfare regime literature, i.e. Esping-Andersen 1990; 1996; Liebfried 1993.

The following countries are included in the sample: Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Bulgaria, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Ukraine, and Belarus. The dissolution of Czechoslovakia lead to the minimum disruption in data reporting, allowing the analysis of fertility trends in the Czech Republic and Slovak Republic since 1993. Former Soviet Union (FSU) Republics began forming governments and re-writing laws in the 1990s. Some were quite swift in parting with anything and everything Soviet, like the Baltic States where separation movements were brewing before the official 1991 dissolution. Estonia and Lithuania adopted laws on social insurance and family benefits in 1991. The common legacy of the Soviet policies and gradual reforms of family policies allowed for the minimum disruption in data collection.

Countries of former Yugoslavia (Croatia, Slovenia, Serbia, Montenegro, and Macedonia) were dropped from the analysis because of lack of consistent data for the period of the 1990s due to the territorial and statehood changes, including armed conflicts, during the last two decades. The USSR ceased to exist on December 26, 1991. Central Asian countries and the Caucasus are excluded from the analysis due to insufficient data availability for family policy provisions during the 1990-1999 period as these countries went through significant economic and political turbulence including armed conflicts. Albania is excluded due to a higher fertility pattern and smaller scope of family policy provision than the rest of the CEE.

The *dependent variable* captures fertility by a commonly used measure of total fertility rates (TFR) (d'Addio and D'Ercole 2005; Billingsley 2010; Bongaarts and Feeney 2000; Gauthier and Hatzius 1997; Sobotka 2003). TFR reflects the number of

children a woman would have if she were to live to the end of her childbearing years and if the age-specific fertility rates observed in a given year applied throughout the childbearing years" (Bongaarts and Feeney 2000, 560). As discussed in the previous section, fertility rates in the CEE region fell sharply following the collapse of the Communism (Appendix B). Most countries registered a slow recovery by the late 2000s, while a few seem to have settled into a pattern of lowest-low fertility at or below 1.3 children per woman. No country in the sample achieved the coveted population replacement level of 2.1 children per woman since transition form communism.

To capture the shock of economic hardship, I measure the overall growth of the economy and rates of unemployment. The literature suggests that declining fertility could be attributed to the turmoil caused by the rapid liberalization of economic policies. Transition to a market economy meant a major transformation of economies that included closure of inefficient state-run enterprises and reorganization of existing companies. Industrial output fell sharply and inflation soared in many countries (Amsden, Kochanowicz, and Taylor 1994; Baxandall 2003). These changes created a growing pool of unemployed. In concert with the existing research, I expect negative consequences of increased unemployment and negative GDP growth. I measure economic growth in terms of *growth of gross domestic product (GDP)*, data taken from the World Bank database. *Unemployment* statistics were taken from multiple sources including United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE), International Labor Organization (ILO), and national statistical offices. It refers to total percent of unemployed in a given country. *H1: Positive GDP growth will contribute to higher fertility rates*.

H2: The increase in unemployment will negatively affect fertility rates.

As existing literature argues, family policies can have a positive effect on fertility rates. I measure major components of family policies, such as: childcare availability, paid maternity leave, paid parental leave, and family allowances. The availability of childcare eases the restrictive demands of childrearing on working mothers, thus reducing costs of having children and contributing to higher birth rates. It decreases the need for women to choose between work and family, thus decreasing the negative effects of childbearing on labor force participation and advancement (Blau and Robins 1989; Del Boca 2002; Del Boca et al 2003; Gauthier and Hatzius 1997; Kravdal 1996; Rindfus et al. 2007). To measure childcare availability, the UNICEF Transmonee project measure is taken, *pre-primary enrollments as percentage of population aged 3-6*.

H3: Greater childcare availability will lead to higher TFR.

As illustrated above, CEE countries continue to provide generous paid parental and maternity leave as well as family allowances. Maternity and parental leave allow women to take paid time off to care for an infant while enjoying job security. These policies also reduce direct costs of having children by compensating the new mothers' time off work. Most CEE countries compensate maternity leave in the amount of 100% percent of previous wage; parental leave is compensated based at different levels, ranging from flat fees to 100% of average wage. Maternity leave is a measure of average compensation in constant purchasing parity (PPP) dollars. Parental leave is a measure of impact; it represents the percentage of wage replacement by parental leave payments. Family allowances measure the impact of benefits as related to an average wage; the measure represents family allowances for a first child. I expect all three measures to positively influence fertility rates. H4: Maternity Leave compensation will positively influence fertility rates

H5: The impact of parental leave payments will positively influence fertility ratesH6: The impact of family allowances will have a positive relationship with fertility rates

I control for *maternal age at first birth*, which is used to measure possible demographic transition. Demographers posit that postponement of childbirth leads to reduced fertility rates. The later women have children, the fewer children they have in total. Data indicates that average age at first birth is lower in CEE than in Western Europe. Mean age at first birth between 1990 and 2010 varies between 22 (Moldova) and 25.5 (Slovenia). As literature suggests, there is still room for increases in fertility rates following the rebound in economic health.

H7: Increased age at first birth will lead to lower fertility.

4. Empirical Analysis and Results

Analysis below presents the results of pooled regression of time-series crosssectional (TSCS) data of 14 countries over the period from 1990 to 2010. Panels are unbalanced with some missing values that are due to the underreporting during the chaos of transition in the early 1990s. Analysis of TSCS is a tangled endeavor given the complexity of problems and the lack of easy solutions to these problems (Beck 2001; Beck and Katz 1996; 2009).

The common issues with TSCS data are: panel heteroscedasticity (each country may have its own error variance), contemporaneous correlation of the error terms (errors of one country may be correlated with errors of other countries in the same year), and serially correlated errors (within one country errors may be correlated for different years). The recent scholarship on the topic advances our understanding of these issues and advocates for modeling dynamics in TSCS data and addressing unit heterogeneity (Beck 1991; 2001; Beck and Katz 2009; Wawro 2002).

Modeling temporally dependent observations, or dynamics, include, at minimum, the use of a lagged dependent variable (Beck and Katz 1996). Other specifications imply estimating a variation of a single equation error correction model, such as an autoregressive distributive lag (ADL) model¹⁷ (De Boef and Keele 2008; Wilson and Butler 2007). Wooldridge's test for serial correlation indicates the presence of serial correlation when the lagged dependent variable is included in the regression: F=27.06 (p=0.0002) (Wooldridge 2002). I also tested for stationarity, which is argued to be an important concern for TSCS analysis (De Boef and Keele 2008; Im, Pesaran, and Shin 2003; Maddala and Wu 1999). Data is said to be nonstationary when the distribution changes over time and is not constant, thus shocks have a tendency to accumulate forever. Even distant shocks can persist for many time periods and thus distort results. Fisher-type unit root test indicates the presence of nonstationarity in all panels (Im, Pesaran, and Shin 2003).

Because the simple correction – the inclusion of a lagged dependent variable – does not eliminate serial correlation, regression is estimated using an error correction (EC) model with AR1 panel-corrected standard errors (Beck 2001; Beck and Katz 2009, De Boef and Keele 2008). A general form of an error correction model is:

$$\Delta Y_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 Y_{t-1} + \beta_0 \Delta X_{i,t} + \beta_1 X_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

¹⁷ Estimating serial autocorrelated errors using Feasible Generalized Least Squares (FGLS) has been cited in the literature, but critiqued by Beck and Katz (2004) as inefficient. Following recent methodological debates, I instead focus on modeling dynamics.

Error Correction models are appropriate to use when data displays signs of persistent serial correlation. By first-differencing the dependent variable, EC addresses the serial correlation problem. Scholars argue that the EC model is appropriate if the data is nonstationary (unit roots) (De Boef and Keele 2008). The EC model addresses issues of nonstationarity by estimating the dependent variable and other slow-moving variables in first difference (Beck and Katz 2011, 343-344). Additional advantages of the EC model lie in its ability to estimate both long-term and short-term dynamics. The short-term effects are represented by the first-difference measure and the long-term dynamics captured by lagged values of independent variables (De Boef and Keele 2008, 191).

For theoretical reasons, I include two-year lags (t-2) of independent variables to account for the timing of fertility decisions. As researchers argue, it takes approximately two years from the time families start thinking about having a child to the birth: an average 5 month waiting period for conception plus a nine-month gestation period. The two-year lag also accounts for mid-year timing of births (Bongaarts and Potter 1983; Rindfuss et al. 2007).

The model specification is presented below. Each explanatory variable is represented in the first-difference form and with a two-year lag, following the general EC specification (above):

$\Delta TFRIn_{t,i=} \Sigma Economic \ Variables_{t,i} + \Sigma Family \ Policies_{t,i} + \Sigma Demographic$ $Variables_{t,i} + \varepsilon_{t,i}$

First-differencing the dependent variable as a part of the error correction model eliminates serial correlation, as indicated by the Wooldridge test of serial correlation. Wooldridge test for autocorrelation in panel data: F=1.430 (p= 0.2549). A full set of country dummies was included in the regression to account for fixed effects, or the individual effects of each country. The use of country dummies is warranted because, as evident from the above discussion of trends in fertility rates, the outcomes of economic transition and generosity of family policies, CEE countries are not a monolith entity (Beck 2001).

The model was estimated using panel-corrected standard errors with panelspecific AR1 autocorrelation structure (model 1), Arellano-Bond GMM method of dynamic panel estimation with robust errors (model 2), and feasible generalized leastsquares regression with panel-specific AR1 autocorrelation structure (model 3). Dummy variables for Hungary, the Czech Republic, Poland, Belarus, Latvia, and Romania are significant. The values are not displayed in the Table 3 to preserve space. Results of the regression analysis are consistent regardless of the method of estimation. These different methods of specification are presented here as a robustness check. Consistency of estimates contribute to the validity of findings given many methodological concerns expressed in the TSCS literature (Beck and Katz 2011; Wilson and Butler 2007). Specifically, PCSE regression is a common instrument; it has been argued to remain accurate in the presence of panel heteroscedasticity (Beck 2001; Beck and Katz 2011) while panel specific AR1 account for temporal correlation of the errors (Plumper, Troeger, and Manow 2005). Arellano-Bond GMM estimation is commonly recommended to alleviate what is known as Nickell Bias. The bias arises when dummy variables are used together in models with a lagged dependent variable making least squares regression inconsistent because the lagged dependent variable correlates with the

error term (Nickell 1981). Generalized least squares regression has been common to use to address serial correlation in time-series cross-sectional data (Beck and Katz 2001).

	(1) (2)		(3)	
	PCSE	ArellanoBond	GLS	
Dependent Variable	ΔTFR_{ln}	ΔTFR_{ln}	ΔTFR_{ln}	
ATFR _{12,6,1}		-0.057		
		(0.082)		
$TFR_{ln} t_{-2}$	-0.203***	-0.184***	-0.188***	
in t 2	(0.033)	(0.036)	(0.025)	
$\Delta Age 1^{st}$ birth	-0.039**	-0.035***	-0.037***	
5	(0.015)	(0.012)	(0.014)	
Age 1^{st} birth $_{t-2}$	0.003	0.010**	0.002	
8	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.002)	
AParental Leaven	0.022***	0.021***	0.022***	
	(0.006)	(0.008)	(0.005)	
Parental Leaveln t-2	0.009**	0.006*	0.008**	
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	
Δ Maternity Leave _{ln}	0.024	0.035	0.018	
	(0.021)	(0.028)	(0.019)	
Maternity Leaveln t-2	-0.008	0.004	-0.008	
in the second seco	(0.010)	(0.009)	(0.009)	
∆Childcare	0.001	0.001**	0.001	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Childcare _{t-2}	0.001*	0.001	0.001***	
	(0.001)	(0.0004)	(0.0004)	
Δ GDP growth	-0.001***	-0.001***	-0.001***	
- 6	(0.0004)	(0.0004)	(0.0004)	
GDP growth t_{-2}	0.001	0.001	0.0005	
6	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Δ Unemployment	-0.003**	-0.003	-0.003**	
1 2	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.001)	
Unemployment _{t-2}	-0.003***	-0.002**	-0.003***	
1 5	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
∆Family Allowance	-0.002	-0.00167	-0.002	
5	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Family Allowance t-2	-0.0001	0.0002	-0.0003	
5	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	
Constant		-0.23***		
		(0.087)		
Observations	238	224	238	
R-squared	0.558		200	
Number of Countries	14	14	14	

Table 3.	Determinants	of fertility

Note: Country dummies omitted to conserve space. Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

All three models in Table 3 indicate the persistence of the economic hardship hypotheses, represented by statistically-significant coefficients of measures of unemployment and first-difference of GDP growth. The interpretation of results for appears to be tricky: short-term influence of the change of GDP growth is negatively associated with the change in fertility rates.

A look at the dynamics of GDP growth in the sample reveals that GDP growth exhibits periods of sharp declines followed by periods of slow growth. Thus, the negative sign of the coefficient may reflect the severity of economic recessions as measured by negative GDP growth. These results may suggest parameter heterogeneity and warrant further testing (Plumper and Troeger 2007). To tease out the effects of GDP growth, I include the temporal measures of GDP growth for 1990-1995, 1996-2000; 2001-2005; 2006-2010. These time terms correspond roughly to periods of economic decline caused by the initial transition (1990-1995) and the relatively prosperous periods of economic growth of subsequent periods. These time periods also provide a measure of the influence of world economic cycles, such as the economic crisis of 1998 and the economic recession of the late 2000s. Table 4 reports the results of PCSE regression with panelspecific AR1 autocorrelation structure. Model (1) is the base model reported in Table 3. Model (1) is included for reference and Model (2) accounts for parameter heterogeneity in the measure of GDP growth.

The results reported in Table 4 confirm my findings of the base model as maternal age at first birth, paid parental leave and childcare availability, unemployment and economic stability remain significant. The coefficient for short-term impact of GDP grown is still significant and negative ($\beta = -.0024$) implying the overall negative

	(1)	(2)
	PCSE	PCSE
Dependent Variable	ΔTFR_{ln}	$\Delta \mathrm{TFR}_{\mathrm{ln}}$
TFR _{ln t-2}	-0.203***	-0.185***
	(0.033)	(0.031)
Δ Age1 st birth	-0.039**	-0.040***
-	(0.015)	(0.015)
Age1 st birth _{t-2}	0.003	0.002
	(0.002)	(0.002)
Δ Parental Leave _{ln}	0.022***	0.022***
	(0.006)	(0.005)
Parental Leave _{ln t-2}	0.009**	0.012***
	(0.004)	(0.004)
Δ Maternity Leave _{ln}	0.024	0.015
	(0.021)	(0.021)
MaternityLeaveln t-2	-0.008	-0.007
	(0.010)	(0.010)
ΔChildcare	0.001	0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Childcare t-2	0.001*	0.001**
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Δ GDP growth	-0.001***	-0.002***
	(0.0004)	(0.0004)
GDP growth		0.001
1991-95		(0.001)
GDP growth		0.002**
1996-00		(0.001)
GDP growth		0.001
2001-05		(0.001)
GDP growth		0.004***
2006-10		(0.001)
ΔUnemployment	-0.003**	0.001
	(0.001)	(0.002)
Unemployment t-2	-0.003***	-0.002**
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Δ Family Allowance	-0.002	-0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Family Allowance t-2	-0.0001	0.0002
	(0.001)	(0.001)
Observations	238	240
R-squared	0.558	0.599
Number of Countries	14	14

short-term influence of economic shocks (measured by negative GDP growth).

 Table 4. Determinants of Fertility with Parameter Heterogeneity

Note: Country dummies omitted to conserve space.

Panel Corrected Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

However, when decomposed into periods, periods of 1996-2000 and 2006-2010 are

positively correlated with the change in fertility rates. One percent growth in GDP

contributed to the 0.3% growth in fertility rates in the period 1996-2000, and once percent growth in GDP contributed to the 0.4% growth in fertility rates. These results affirm the hypothesis of the importance of economic growth for fertility rates growth and confirm the existing studies of fertility determinants that focus not only on CEE but also on Latin America (Adsera and Menendez 2011) and Western Europe (Fokkema et al. 2008).

Statistical results presented in Table 3 and Table 4 affirm the significance of short-term effect of childbirth postponement. Changes in the age at first birth negatively affect changes in TFR across the region; one year change in age at first birth is predicted to suppress change in birth rates by 4 percent. Interestingly, the past values of maternal age at first birth (measured by the second lag) are not significant but the sign is positive. The effect of a maternal age increase is realized immediately and does not extend into the future as indicated by significance of the first-difference value but not the lagged value of maternal age. These results may signify the relatively recent development of the negative relationship between age at first birth and fertility levels, as the rapid increase of maternal age at first birth began only in the recent decade.

As theory suggests, family policies can mitigate economic hardship by offsetting costs of having children and supporting modern families where mothers participate in the workforce. I included several family policy provisions in the model. As results show, neither changes in maternity leave compensation nor past values of maternity leave compensation have an impact on changes in fertility rates. However, parental leave compensation is an important determinant of fertility rates both in short-run and long-run dynamics. The immediate effects of one percent increase in parental leave compensation

increases fertility rates by 2%. Past values of parental leave compensation contribute to growth of fertility rates by about 1%. These results are consistent with the study of fertility determinants in OECD countries. Gauthier and Hatzius (1997) find that both maternity leave length and maternity leave compensation are not significant determinants of fertility rates.

The positive impact of childcare availability is entirely attributed to the future years: the coefficient of lagged childcare is positive and significant (β =0.001). This finding is well-explained once the measurement of the variable is considered. It measures the availability of childcare enrollment of children aged 3-5 years old. Parents cannot use this benefit until a child is born and has achieved the minimum age of enrollment, which is 3 years. However, this finding is an important confirmation of the extant feminist literature which posits the paramount importance of female labor attachment for increasing birth rates. The availability of childcare provides a valuable resource for working mothers who wish to return to work following childbirth. Contrary to expectations, family allowances have no direct impact on fertility rates in the region.

The effects of past levels of unemployment are significant and negative, implying the continuing significance of economic shocks in CEE. This finding confirms the expectations advanced by the existing studies: both cross-country statistical analyses and country cases. Table 3 also reports the significance of a short-term change in unemployment for fertility rates. However, this effects disappears when time is accounted for in Table 4. The loss of significance for change in unemployment in Table 4 may have been capturing the short-term fluctuations of the business cycle. By introducing the time-

specific GDP growth variable, I take business cycles into account, thus, the loss of significance in short-term change in unemployment.

5. Conclusion

This chapter explores important economic, demographic, and family policy determinants of fertility rates. By combining demographic and economic determinants of fertility and policy variables in the study, I aim to create a more complex understanding of how demographic trends and government policy influence birth rates. Fertility influences population levels, which creates an important political and economic resource for countries. Thus, governments have been actively supporting fertility through policy provisions. I show how family policies matter even when demographic and economic determinants are taken into account.

My findings support those scholars who underscored the importance of economic shocks for the explanation of fertility rate decline in the CEE. A measure of economic stability, GDP growth, is a significant predictor of fertility rates, which suggests that the shock of transition has not gone unnoticed for these countries. Economic stability is an important factor that influences fertility decisions. Additionally, economic uncertainty which commonly manifests itself in unemployment has both short-term and long-term effects on fertility rates in CEE.

This study affirms the importance of both monetary compensation of women through paid parental leave and the provision of childcare. These policies are aimed at reducing the direct costs of having children and at supporting mother's labor force attachment through sharing childcare responsibilities between family and a state. According to the neoclassical economic theory of fertility, policies that aim at reducing

the cost of having children have a positive effect on fertility (Becker 1981; Cigno 1991: Gauthier 2007). The importance of childcare availability has been confirmed by many studies of European countries. More so, gender scholars argue that childcare is an important mechanism for achieving gender equality through furthering maternal employment. As feminists pose, women react positively to more opportunities to combine paid employment and childbearing that are afforded through the provision of family policies (Gornick and Meyers 2008). The next chapter investigates the determinants of family policies in post-communist countries of Central and Eastern Europe.

Chapter 3

Family Policy Determinants in Post-Communist European Societies

1. Introduction

This chapter focuses on the factors that determine generosity of family policy in a large sample of post-communist European countries. During communist rule, family policies were explicitly pronatalist: governments used family policies to stimulate stagnating birth rates. Women were encouraged to return to work following childbirth, while governments provided childcare facilities and other family support services. Following the dissolution of the Soviet bloc, Central and Eastern European countries underwent massive transformation in all aspects of political and economic spheres. Social welfare policies have been tailored to the new reality. Despite transitions that signified cutbacks in most social welfare programs, countries of post-communist Europe continued supporting the family policy framework established during communism. Family policies have been repurposed to support the building of new national identities. The unique conditions of post-communist national state building, such as the upsurge of the nationalist political rhetoric and the strengthening of conservative and far right parties and the Church, brought family policies at the forefront of the national debate by centering on the vision of traditional families as a stepping stone to successful independent future (LaFont 2001).

Drawing on an original dataset, I analyze the determinants of family policies in the following CEE countries: Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Albania, Slovenia, Bulgaria, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Ukraine for the period from 1990 to 2010.¹⁸ These countries inherited a similar legacy of comprehensive family policies,¹⁹ a legacy of state pronatalism, and a similar pattern of low fertility.

I draw on a divergent set of literature, including feminist writings as well as studies of nationalism and xenophobia to explain the continuous support of family policies in the CEE. I discuss the rise of nationalism in the post-communist search for identity and argue that nationalist rhetoric and anti-immigrant sentiment is an important determinant of family policies in post-communist countries. I pose that anti-immigrant sentiment contributes to the pressures on governments to support native families. Utilizing the power-resources theory (Korpi 1989, Korpi and Palme 2003) I propose that anti-immigrant sentiment unites a broad group of constituents around their fear of immigrants, creating a form of power-resources that is based not on class but on shared anti-immigrant attitudes. Additionally, I evaluate the relevance in the CEE cases of determinants of family policy generosity in Western European countries, such as total fertility rates, economic growth, strength of Left party politics and women's representation in national parliaments.

An important contribution of this Chapter is in providing empirical evidence to the assertion that the CEE countries are not monolithic. They differ from each other in several important ways, such as the levels of family policy generosity, fertility rates,

¹⁸ The countries of the former Yugoslavia were omitted due to the lack of reliable data because of the political and security instability and the continuing state-building throughout the 1990s and the early 2000s. The Central Asian Republics and the Caucasus were excluded due to lack of reliable data and also on theoretical grounds as these countries exhibit a different pattern of fertility, family structure, and the views on the role of females in family and society. Belarus is excluded due to the lack of reliable elections data and the increasingly authoritarian nature of President Lukashenko's leadership.

¹⁹ This is not to say that there were not differences. For instance, some countries provided universal provision of benefits (Hungary) while others tied provisions to employment status (Romania, Poland, and USSR) (see Fodor et al. 2002 for a discussion).

political influence and electoral success of radical right parties, and the salience of immigration for the provision of social policies. I address the issues of unit heterogeneity through presenting the different statistical results of the whole sample versus the countries with significant proportion of immigrants. Also, I provide the evidence that the influence of voter preference changes with time and create different impulses that impact family policies in different ways.

In the first section of the paper, I recap feminist literature and studies of xenophobia and right-wing populism, showing how they intersect, and substantiate the argument that xenophobia and nationalism matter for family policymaking. The second part describes the major components of family policies in CEE countries, outlines the continuation of former paternalistic attitudes, and discusses their implication for gender equality in CEE countries. The following two sections summarize existing arguments for the importance of Left parties and women's representation to family policy generosity in the OECD countries and present data showing the lack of success of the Left party ideology and the low female representation in most CEE parliaments. The fifth section discusses the level of xenophobia and its relevance to family policies. The chapter concludes with a time-series cross-sectional analysis of family policy generosity. The statistical analysis results support the significance of xenophobia in the countries where share of foreign-born population exceeds 5 percent. I find that Left parties spend significantly less in the post-communist countries, while members of the European Union spend more. Women's representation in national parliaments, albeit declining, still has a significant positive effect on family policy generosity in Central and Eastern European countries.

2. Theory and Background

2.1 Power Mobilization Theory

One of the leading explanations of welfare state outcomes is the power mobilization theory. It explains policy outcomes based on class mobilization, which creates power resources (Esping-Andersen 1990). The power-resources argument (PRA) explains the outcomes of welfare provision through class-based conflict (Esping-Andersen 1990; Korpi 1979; 1989; 2006). Social classes are the main agents of change, according to PRA. Class is defined as "categories of individuals who share relatively similar positions or situations, in labor markets and in employment relations" (Korpi 2006, 174). Different socio-economic groups utilize available recourse as leverage to influence political outcomes, including social welfare provisions. In labor market settings, actors engage two major types of power resources: economic resources and human capital. Holders of human capital, workers, usually have little control over remedies to the life risks such as unemployment, sickness, aging, etc. By banding together, employees can create powerful resources via cooperation, thereby creating more leverage. This leverage allows labor to successfully bargain with the state and market for social welfare protection and social citizenship rights through participation in unions and association with parties on the Left (Esping-Andersen 1990; Korpi 2006). The welfare state literature used the PRA to explain the positive relationship between social democratic politics, the strength of unions and Left parties overall, and the growth of the welfare state in industrialized democracies of the post-WWII period. Thus, through capitalizing on its power, the organized working class was able to achieve greater social protections with support from the unions and labor parties.

2.2. Gender and Politics Literature

Gender scholars critique the PRA approach by noting its lack of focus on gender equality. According to critics, PRA assumes equal access to civil and political rights and that men and women have the same potential to realize their social citizenship rights (Orloff 1993, 308). Feminists argue that women's rights in the spheres of reproduction, family rights and control of the physical body are contested in a particular way that men do not face. These ways of male-state domination limit women's ability to fully participate in policymaking and advance women's issues. To achieve gender parity, social citizenship rights must include recognition of mothering and care work, whether in the form of paid leave or pension credits (Knijn and Kremer 1997; McDonald 2002; Orloff 2009).

Gender scholars argue that the realization of social citizenship rights for women in large degree depends on the policies that ensure the opportunities for women to participate fully in the labor force. The promotion of women's workforce participation can be achieved by the rejection of maternalism, a male breadwinner model of family relations where women are defined as housewives and caregivers (Orloff 2006). The examples of policies that promote gender equality are those that engage both men and women in "both paid work and unpaid caregiving" (Gornick and Meyers 2008, 322; Morgan 2008). They include paternity leave that encourages fathers to take time off work to care for children, as well as availability of quality childcare facilities, and flexible work time and part-time work opportunities for women. It is important to note that these theoretical debates were formed based on the experience of the Western developed

democracies and did not include the experience of the Central and Eastern European countries, then under communist rule.

2.3. CEE Family Policies: Pronatalism, Post-Communism, and Nationalism

The development of family policies in Central and Eastern Europe is significantly impacted by the communist past. Scholars describe the communist family policies as explicitly pronatalist (Avdeyeva 2011; LaFont 2001; Saxonberg 2014). Communist governments considered family policies instrumental in modeling population replenishment thus providing support for families in the form of paid maternity leave, parental leave, family benefits, childcare, family allowances and subsidies. The communist family policies were thus driven by demographic and economic factors. Full employment of men and women represented a way to increase productivity, especially as innovative technology was lacking (Gal and Kligman 2000; Kligman 1994).

The Soviet ideology proclaimed gender equality as an attained goal in the 1950s and thus projected an image of a caring state where women had equal opportunities to engage in paid work (Einhorn 1993; Kligman 1994). Gender scholars critiqued these claims by pointing to the double burdens women carried at the workplace and at home. Little was done to promote shared responsibilities in housework and caregiving at home as well as gender discrimination in pay and promotion at the workplace (LaFont 2001). The Soviet reality differed from the west in a key way – women had little choice as they were required to participate in the workforce (Enhorn 1993, 113-147).

Following the collapse of the Soviet bloc, the new governments engaged in reshaping and redefining family policies. The policy rhetoric pivoted towards the return to pre-communist traditional family values in an effort to erase all things communist (Kligman 1994; Glass and Fodor 2007). In contrast to the communist full employment push, women in post-socialist countries were called to return home to give birth to and care for the new generations of citizens of the independent nations. Nationalism and traditional values, supported by the Church, dominated the family policy discourse following the transition (Inglot, Szikra, and Rat 2011; LaFont 2001).

The extant studies show that in post-communist CEE women's social citizenship rights were overshadowed by socially conservative values of traditional family as the foundation of communism-free societies (Goven 1993; 2000). This phenomenon was dubbed "refamiliazation" (Javornik 2014; Saxonberg and Szelewa 2007; Teplova 2007). The recent studies argue that the return to traditional values and the male breadwinner model worsened gender inequality and contributed to the feminization of poverty in the region (Kligman 1994; LaFont 2001; Saxonberg and Sirovakta 2006). Researchers show that even women welcomed the liberation from the state's prescription for full maternal employment and embraced the freedom of decision for mothers to stay home and rear children while fathers earned the living (Angelova 1994; LaFont 2001; Kligman 1994).

Family policies in post-communist Europe are actively used by far right political forces in conjunction with the Church through the reduction of funding for childcare, increasing of the parental leave length, and restriction of abortion rights (Gal and Kligman 2000; Goven 2000; LaFont 2001; Morvai 1994; Inglot, Szikra, Rat 2012). A growing body of literature is devoted to the issues of the rising conservative radical right politics throughout Europe, including the post-communist European countries. The swelling dissatisfaction with globalization and political and economic integration led to the electoral success of the radical right parties which campaign on nationalist, anti-

globalization, and xenophobic platforms (Kitschelt 1995; Mering and McCarty 2013; Mudde 2005; Wodak, KhosraviNik, and Mral 2013). The far-right conservative agenda influences social welfare policies, including family policies, through an attempt to limit redistribution of social benefits based on the recipients' perceived worthiness. Worthiness is often assessed based on membership in certain ethnic or economic groups.

Women are viewed as incubators for future generations of a family of citizens possessing innately native national qualities (Goven 2000, 296-301; Hankivsky and Salnikova 2012). The CEE countries experienced diminishing fertility rates that fell below replacement levels after the end of communism. This trend has been found alarming by many politicians. It was related to the social ills of communism, which forced women to work while neglecting family and reproductive responsibilities (Gorbachev 1987). Since the collapse of communism, women were called back to the hearth to rectify these "national losses" and ensure stable future of newly democratic states. Modeling fertility behavior once again became the main motif of family policymaking. For example, the 2003 Estonian parliamentary debates over the parental leave policy were dominated by the dangers of falling fertility rates (Karu and Pall 2011). The Hungarian parliamentary debates over parental leave focused on two different understanding of parental leave: a form of social assistance to those in need vs. the understanding of family policies as foundation of a nation (Goven 2000). Russian family policy packages of the second half of the 2000s that included an increase in parental leave pay and "baby bonus" legislation were driven by political concern about the population decline (Avdeyeva 2011; Kingsbury 2014). The adoption of the baby grant program (*becikowe*) in Poland after the 2005 elections was premised by a media
campaign stressing the "demographic emergency" of dropping fertility rates and the persisting year-to-year population decline, which was first registered in 1999 (Inglot, Szikra, and Rat 2012, 29-30).

The urgency of declining native birth rates has been stimulated by the perceived threat of increased immigration. After the fall of communism, borders opened up. The former communist countries became increasingly involved in the globalized world, integrated in the free movement of labor and capital. With the free flow of immigrants and dropping birth rates, populists concerned for the future of their nations agitated against the threat of the influx of immigrants. Pundits, elected officials, and bureaucrats invoked xenophobic images of immigrants overtaking shrinking native populations (Goven 2000, 297-298; LaFont 2001; Kingsbury 2014).

I argue that the post-communist social conservative tilt toward maternalism is reinforced by xenophobia and nationalism in post-communist CEE societies. The literature on CEE family policies shows that conservative populist politics, religious conservatism, and population decline have been the major concerns of family policy politics in the CEE since transition to democracy. I propose that xenophobia is a contributing factor in decisions of expanding family policies out of fear of national population declines. This dynamic is reinforced by the electoral success of radical right parties throughout Europe and the overall rise of conservative right-wing parties (Mudde 2005; Wodak, KhosraviNik and Mral 2013). Anti-immigrant sentiments represent a new type of power resource that unites a broadly defined group of citizens based not on class, but on their fear of immigrants. Ruth Wodak (2013) argues that growing right-wing populist parties base their success on pitting native versus 'others' in pursuit of electoral

61

gains. These political parties are capitalizing on the common fears of globalization and immigration, loss of national sovereignty and identity.

These nativist moods in society may translate into support of more generous family policies targeted at strengthening and enlarging native populations. As Korpi and Palme write (2003, 431):

[I]n a society where potential cleavages such as socioeconomic stratification, status, ethnicity, religion, economy sector, and region form a mosaic of crosscutting lines among citizens and provide competing bases for the formation of citizen's identities and interests, welfare-state institutions can be used to emphasize some of these potential lines and bases and to suppress others.

In such context, women and family are conceptualized as an important element of defense of the native population against the threat from the 'others' (Wodak 2013, 26-28).

3. Family Policies in CEE.

3.1. Maternity Leave and Parental Leave.

The former communist CEE countries, although historically and culturally different, share a similar legacy of pronatalist family policies created during communism. The policies had a dual aim of stimulating population reproduction and reinforcing labor supply through encouragement of female employment (Avdeyeva 2011, Fodor et al. 2002; LaFont 2001, Rivkin-Fish 2010, Saxonberg 2014; Šiklová 1994). Family policies pre-dissolution commonly included paid maternity leave and paid parental leave with varying levels of wage replacement, government subsidized childcare, cash family allowances per child, and various subsidies for school uniforms, lunches, books, etc. Following transition, the reformed governments carried over the basic structure of family benefits that include paid maternity leave (ML), parental leave (PL), family allowances

per child (FA), and a variety of birth grants and family benefits. The financing schemes were restructured to reflect market economic realities and now rely on social insurance schemes for financing (Aidukaite 2011; Fodor et al. 2002; Fultz, Ruck, and Steinhilber 2003).



Figure 5. Duration of Maternity Leave in CEE 1980-2010

Maternity Leave length has been expanded in length since 1990 in all countries but Albania (remains at 26 weeks), Slovenia (remains at 15 weeks), and Latvia (remains at 16 weeks). Maternity leave compensation is commonly calculated as percentage of previous earnings for economically active population. Nine countries in the sample (more than half) continue compensating maternity leave at 100% of previous wage and

Note: the temporary spike of ML in Poland is due to the populist party politics, which was swiftly overturned in the following year after the electoral success of social conservatives (see a discussion in Inglot, Szikra, and Rat 2012).

Romanian ML compensation remains at 85% from 1980s to 2010. ML pay was reduced since 1989 in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovakia, Albania, and Bulgaria.

Parental leave (PL) benefits have been changed in more ways in length and compensation since the collapse of communism. Currently, the PL formula is either tied to the previous earnings, minimum wage or subsistence levels designated by the government. Additional conditions impose payment ceilings and requirement of minimum employment history. For example, in Poland only women who were employed one year prior to pregnancy are eligible for maternity and parental benefits. Poland also relies heavily on means-testing as eligibility criteria (see Inglot, Szirka, and Rat 2012, 29-32). In Russia, the reformed parental leave benefits compensate mothers at 40% of previous earnings with a maximum ceiling. In Romania, the value of PL benefit is 85% of previous earnings with a maximum ceiling and a minimum one-year employment requirement.

Several countries implemented differentiated parental leave plans that let parents choose leave length. Shorter PL is compensated at the highest rate. For example, in the Czech Republic and Romania parents can opt for a shorter leave (24 months in Czech Republic and 12 months in Romania) with higher compensation levels or choose to stay at home longer but receive a smaller monthly compensation (48 months in Czech Republic and 24 months in Romania). Additional post-transition changes include more means-testing of benefits, reduced funding for childcare facilities, and reduced or temporarily eliminated family allowances.²⁰

²⁰ This list is not exhaustive. For information on Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania see Aidukaite (2003; 2004). Fodor et al. (2002) and Inglot, Szikra, and Rat (2012) present detailed information about Romania, Poland, and Hungary. Teplova (2007) describes provisions in Russia. Avdeyeva (2011) wrote on the birth grant in Russia. Kingsbury (2014) provides an overview of family policies in Russia as of 2014.

3.2. Family Policies and Social Citizenship Rights.

Existing literatures argue that post-communist transformation brought little change to the status quo of and, in some countries, increased gender inequality (LaFont 2001; Rivkin-Fish 2010; Saxonberg 2014; Saxonberg and Sirovatka 2006). In an effort to reject the Soviet-style pronatalist focus on female employment, the new CEE governments moved towards a neo-familialist strategy²¹ of re-emphasizing women's role as caretakers and homemakers (Inglot, Rat, Szikra 2011; Teplova 2007; Szelewa and Polakowski 2008; Glass and Fodor 2007). Women are encouraged to take care of young children at home. Lengthy paid parental leaves and declining availability of childcare facilities contributed to the return to the traditional understanding of gender responsibilities. For example, since 1995, parents in the Czech Republic have had the option to stay at home to care for a child until her fourth birthday. Parents in Hungary, Slovakia, Ukraine, Moldova, and Belarus are afforded PL until the child's third birthday. The rest of the CEE countries afford parental leave in the range between 26 weeks in Albania and two years in Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, Russia, Slovenia, Bulgaria and Poland.

Cuts to childcare financing, especially nurseries for babies under 3 years old, reinforced the push towards women staying at home to take care of small children throughout the 1990s. The transfer of nursery financing to the municipal levels further exacerbated shortages of care provision as municipalities struggled to find adequate funding (Saxonberg and Szelewa 2007). The literature suggests that since accession to

²¹ However, research warns us from treating the re-familialization trend as common, showing important distinctions between clusters of countries grouped around the extent women could combine work and home life and the sharing of care functions by government and families (Szelewa and Polakowski 2008).

the European Union, country-members have had to increase spending and provision of family policies to coordinate programs with the EU social policy directives. These efforts are especially relevant in the area of childcare provision. To date, none of the EU members from the former communist bloc have been able to fully meet the *Barcelona Targets*²² on childcare, which call for the provision of childcare in member-states at 33% of children under the age of 3 years old and 90% for children between 3 and school age by 2010.

Childcare enrollment rates vary in the region by age group, with more childcare available for older children and substantially less enrollment for children under 3 years old (Table 5 and Table 6).

	1980	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010	2012
	-1981	-1991	-1996	-2001	-2006	-2011	-2013
Belarus	31.0	31.0	18.0	20.0	16.0	18.0	18.4
Bulgaria	17.0	12.0	11.0	10.0	11.0	14.0	15.5
Czech Republic	••		4.0	4.4	7.0	7.2	7.2
Estonia	••		22.0	32.0	35.0	30.0	30.4
Hungary		7.6	5.9	6.6	6.8	13.9	7.6
Latvia		••		15.0	16.0	21.0	21.3
Lithuania	••		11.0	14.0	22.0	26.0	
Moldova, Republic of				11.0	12.0	14.0	14.7
Poland		••		2.0	2.0	3.0	
Romania	••	4.0	3.0	2.0	2.0	3.0	3.1
Russian Federation		31.0	20.0	20.9	21.3	18.0	17.8
Slovakia	11.0	13.0	••	5.0	5.3	2.0	
Slovenia	••		••	29.0	38.0	54.0	
Ukraine		23.0	14.0	12.0	15.0	16.0	15.2
Contraction of the second se							

 Table 5 Percentage of Children Under 3 Enrolled in Childcare

Source: UNECE Statistical Database, compiled from national and international sources.

²² The targets were set at the Barcelona Summit in 2002 and (http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-08-592_en.htm?locale=en). Currently, only Slovenia is close to meeting these guidelines at both enrollment ages.

The availability of childcare has been linked to the greater gender equality opportunities for women. They ease the restrictive dichotomy of caretaker vs. working woman. Childcare is an important public good for women. It enables them to successfully combine work and family life. Where childcare is unavailable, women rely on family members, quit work or forgo childbearing altogether.

	1989	1991	1996	2001	2006	2010	2012
Belarus	63.1	62.5	64.0	72.5	87.7	93.2	
Bulgaria	66.7	56.9	66.2	73.6	75.2	76.1	82.1
Czech Republic	81.3	71.1	76.1	87.2	88.8	78.1	76.7
Estonia	62.2	60.6	68.8	80.3	80.5	84.7	86.4
Hungary	85.7	86.1	86.5	86.4	88.9	88.5	83.3
Latvia	53.9	37.1	51.3	65.6	80.5	83.2	90.2
Lithuania	59.5	48.1	39.2	50.9	67.9	72.4	
Moldova, Republic of	61.2	58.8	39	40.8	70.8	78.5	80.6
Poland	48.7	43.9	46.8	50.4	55.7	71.5	71.6
Romania	61.6	52.6	63.7	67.7	73.8	77.1	83.0
Russian Federation	73.4	75.3	65	66.4	69.6	72.9	76.8
Slovakia	77.9	72	60.6	69.1	73.0	84.5	
Slovenia	56.3	55.8	66.7	68.3	77.9	87.3	89.5
Ukraine	64.2	61.5	47.8	46.1	68.9	75.1	78.4

 Table 6. Percentage of Children Aged 3-6 Enrolled in Childcare

Source: TransMONEE

Family policy formation in the post-communist CEE was affected by the economic difficulties of transition. The economic transition was accompanied by a jump in unemployment in the CEE countries. Average registered unemployment throughout 1990s was at 10.5%. Unemployment was as high as 27% in Albania in 1992 and 26.5% in Ukraine in 1999. As a policy strategy to curtail unemployment pressures, women were encouraged to exit the workforce by offers of lengthy maternity and parental leaves. Also, women in CEE were more likely to be laid off, and remain unemployed longer than men (Fodor et al. 2002; Kozina 2009; LaFont 2001). Once unemployed, women faced difficulties re-entering the workforce due to the loss of tenure, skills and networking

opportunities. Scholars note common gender discrimination at hiring and in promotion decisions for women, especially women with young children due to stigma of unreliability associated with frequent requests for time-off to care for sick children and potential work interruptions due to pregnancy and childbirth (Einhorn 1993; Kozina 2009).

The extant literatures underlines the general lack of support for gender equality policy initiatives throughout the post-transition period, which is connected to the rejection of the Soviet-style declarations of gender equality through promotion of female labor participation (Kamerman and Moss 2011; Saxonberg 2014; Gal and Kligman 2000). It is only recently that the public in the CEE countries-members of the European Union (EU) were encouraged by the EU to consider gender equality initiatives. Such initiatives include instituting paid paternity leave and mandating a part of the parental leave to be taken up by fathers (Karu and Pall 2011, 80-81; Kocourkova 2011, 63).

Country	Year Established	Length (days)	Compensation
Hungary	2004	5 *	100% wage
Slovenia	2003	15/75	90% of wage/unpaid
Bulgaria	2007	15	90% of wage
Estonia	2002	14	100% of wage
Latvia	2002	10*	80% of wages
Lithuania	2000	28	100% of wage

Table	· 7	Pater	mitv	Leave
1 4171		1 aw		Lave

Note: *Benefits have to be taken up within the first two months of child's life. Source: ILO, European Commission.

To date, six CEE countries established paternity leave with the aim of promoting shared childcare responsibility among parents. Table 7 details paternity leave provisions in CEE. It shows that paternity leave is quite small, averaging at two weeks of paid leave. Such a gesture accomplishes little to signal real change. Nonetheless paternity leave can be an important first step on the road to a greater balance of gender roles. Other initiatives include the encouragement of women to take shorter parental leaves, as in the Czech Republic where mothers who chose to take up the shortest parental leave are compensated with largest monthly payments. Another example is the establishment of incentives for employers to hire young mothers by reducing mandatory social security and health contributions, as in Hungary (Korintus and Stropnik 2011).

3.3. The Impact of Women's Representation.

Feminists focus on the women's political agency by emphasizing the ways that women can influence policy formation. For example, scholars present evidence that women's representation in national parliaments and cabinets contributes to the advancement of women's issues in addition to the strength of Left parties in government and the varieties of structure of electoral systems (Duhlerup 1988; 2006; Childs and Crook 2008; Kittilson 2008; Lambert 2008; Mansbridge 2005; Schwindt-Bayer and Mishler 2005). Greater female representation translates into more generous family leave legislation, including paid parental leave and expanded childcare (Bolzendahl 2009; Bolzendahl and Brooks 2007; Duhlerup 1988; 2006; Kittilson 2008; Lambert 2008; Morgan 2008; 2013; Weldon 2011).

As Figure 6 below indicates, women's representation in legislative bodies in CEE fluctuated through the last two decades. The communist governments had quotas for women's representation in national parliaments as a way of showing the superiority and fairness of the communist systems to the Western bourgeois inequalities. Researchers dubbed it the "milkmaid's syndrome" referring to the practice of forced descriptive representation of women that bore no significance for the advancement of women's interests (Mansfeldová 2003). The new political landscape of CEE countries is predominantly masculine, and women have been losing ground in parliaments in many of the CEE countries (Fuszara, 2000; Pascall and Kwak 2009).



Figure 6. Women's Representation in National Parliaments since 1990

Female representation recovered from a post-transition slump and improved in Poland, Slovenia, Latvia, Moldova, Czech Republic, Belarus, and Estonia, while other countries continue to elect fewer females to national parliaments. Representation of women members of parliaments (MPs) fluctuated between 5 and 30 percent in the last two decades. Existing research suggests that a 'critical mass' of upwards of 10-40% women may be needed for effective influence, citing the seminal work of Drude Dahlerup (Dahlerup 1988, Kittilson 2008). Others point to institutional opportunities and constraints and nuances of conservative male-dominated party politics, arguing that a few

Source: Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU)

women in high and appropriate posts can better advance women's causes (Childs and Krook 2008; Childs 2004; Dahlerup 2006; Norton 1995; Rosenthal 1998).

In sum, CEE countries continue providing generous family policies, which originated during the communist rule. Feminist scholars have criticized post-communist family policy developments by pointing to falling labor participation opportunities for women and increased dominance of a male breadwinner system. Gender equality issues in many post-communist CEE countries have been trumped by the emphasis on traditional gender roles within family. Soviet-style state pronatalism has been replaced by post-communist familialism. Both approaches have in common the emphasis on women as caregivers and the return to traditional gender roles and the idealization of traditional family as a foundation of society. The impact of the EU membership is unclear at this point, but its potential for influencing greater gender equality will be considered in the statistical analysis below by separating EU members from the non-EU members.

- 4. Party Politics and Family Policy Spending
- 4.1. Left Parties and Social Spending in CEE

The CEE countries underwent political transformation in the early 1990s following the dissolution of the communist bloc. Communist authoritarianism was abandoned in favor of democratic governments and free and competitive elections. The first semi-free elections were held as early as 1989 in Poland. By 1993, all CEE countries held free elections. The literature cautiously concurs that these political systems, albeit young, created democratic institutions and parties comparable to the established Western Democracies by the end of 1990s²³ (Cook, Orenstein, and Rueschmeyer 1999; Evans 2006; Huber and Inglehart 1995, Rohrschneider and Whitefield 2009). The Polity scores for 2010 range from 4 in Russia and 6 in Ukraine to 10 in Slovakia, Hungary, Poland, Lithuania, and the Czech Republic (Polity IV).²⁴ The countries of the former Yugoslavia, except for Slovenia, are excluded due to the lack of continuous and consistent data reporting during the transition and statehood building in the region.

Analysts differ in their conclusions of the relevance of cleavages for party competition in CEE. The four cleavages that reflect societal divisions and that shape political party competition in established Western democracies are the center-periphery, state-church, urban-rural, and owner-worker (Lipset and Rokkan 1967). The presence of stable political cleavages signals stability of party systems as parties are able to clearly align themselves with political grievances of different strata of the population. Arguments range from a claim that there is no common cleavage, to a claim that there is a single divide on the issues of economic (re)distribution (see overview in Rohrschneider and Whitefield 2009, 283-289). However, most recent research agrees that economic (re)distribution of wealth is the common denominator and the main demarcation line for CEE politics. The standoff between market liberalism vs. redistribution produced a winner-loser dichotomy among the voters and tends to be the defining distinction among parties (Cook and Orenstein 1999; Kitschelt 1995; Marks, Hooghe, and Nelson 2006). Public opinion studies show that the majority of CEE citizens are able to discriminate

²³ This statement does not fully apply to Russia where the quality of democracy degraded in the 2000s (Diamond 2015, 144-145). Nonetheless, Russia is included in the study due to the significance of party competition for social policy: Communist opposition resulted in social policy stalemate in the 1990s (Cook 2000) and the recent studies of Russian legislature indicate the significance, albeit limited, of the mainstream party competition, including the Communists (Reuter and Robertson 2014).

²⁴ The Polity scores characterize political regimes, 0-5 characterize anocracies and 6-10 are democracies.

between parties and correctly place them on the left-right scale (Evans and Whitefield 1998; Huber and Inglehart 1995; Kitschelt el al. 1999; McAllister and White 2007). CEE countries are comparable to Western Europe in this regard, having developed a political party system with clear demarcation lines between party political platforms and the selective electorates.

The understanding of political Left and Right in CEE is different from the established Western democracies. Given the history of communist emphasis on redistribution coupled with suppression of political freedoms, the post-communist Left is aligned around the issues of redistribution and nostalgia for Communist-era state authority, while their opponents rally support around democracy and a clear break from the state control over the economy (Marks, Hooghe, and Nelson 2006, 158-159). In this situation, support for the traditional Left ideas of equality, egalitarianism and democratic rule has been assumed in some CEE countries by the center-Right parties following the CEE-peculiar trend of demarcation with communist ideology. The Left then represents the transition losers who are nostalgic for the former communist order, rejecting markets and democratic competition, while the Right represents the proponents of democratic transformation (Cook and Orenstein 1999; Szelenyi, Fodor, and Hanley 1997). According to the scholars, Modern Left in CEE countries consists of the reformed former Communist parties, unreformed communist parties, and social-democratic parties of precommunist formation (Kitschelt 1995; Tzeglov 2011).

What is then the connection between Left parties and social policy spending in CEE? Immediately following the collapse of the old order, Communist successor parties (CSP) faced popular rejection and the need to reform and adapt (Evans and Whitefield

1995; Ishiyama 1995; Tavits and Letki 2009). These developments influenced policy decisions that differ from what is conventionally expected of the Left in the west: protect or increase social assistance programs. CSPs in Central European countries have been actively working to distance themselves from the past and in some cases acted as the most active proponent of drastic market reforms and austerity measures subscribing to fiscal conservative views (Cook and Orenstein 1999; Lipsmeyer 2009; Rohrschneider and Whitefield 2009). For example, having won backlash elections, the Polish former Communists in 1993 and Hungarian Socialists in 1994 drastically cut welfare spending (Szelenyi, Fodor, and Hanley 1997). Examining partisan effects on social spending in 13 CEE countries, Tavits and Letki (2009) find Left governments spent significantly less on healthcare and education. Strong party organization and loyal electoral base as well as lack of competition among Left parties made it possible for the post-communist Left to pursue drastic policy cuts without the fear of political backlash²⁵ (Grzymala-Busse 2002; Kostelecký 2002; Tavits and Letki 2009).

4.2. Right-wing Parties in CEE

A number of authors argue that, along with the economic (re)distribution cleavage, there are socio-cultural issues that provide identifying features to CEE political parties: nationalism, the role of church and religiosity, minority rights, and the eradication of communist legacy (Hanley 2004; Marks et al. 2006; Rohrschneider and Whitefield 2009; Szeleniy, Fodor, and Hanley 1997). These issues shape the liberalconservative political divide and often represent the forte of the CEE Right parties: clear

²⁵ Of course, the influence of economic pressures and the international creditors, IMF and WB, should not be discounted. Countries facing hyperinflation and falling economies in the first decade of transition were often constrained in policy decisions by externally dictated economic conditions (Deacon 1997, Vachudova 2008).

conservative message of defense of national identity and national security, traditional values and religious rights (Marks, Hooghe, and Nelson 2006, Vachudova 2008). Accession to the EU prompted center-right parties in Hungary (Fidez), Czech Republic (ODS) and Poland (PiS) to announce their agenda to protect national interests and identity against the rising immigration that European integration brought along (Vachudova 2008, 388-389). Parties on the Right, due to a fragmented support base, extreme volatility, and increased competition, have been more responsive to citizens' economic hardships brought by the transformation and, when in power, voted for the expansion of social spending (Lipsmeyer 2009). Lipsmeyer finds a positive significant relationship between the strength of Right parties in parliament and pension spending in the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Slovenia (Lipsmeyer 2002).

The rise of conservative, male-dominated politics and the emphasis on traditional values played a role in the post-communist reforms of family policies as well. Conservative Catholic and Christian Democratic parties in the Czech Republic and Poland have been persistent in their emphasis on traditional values and negotiated the continuation of paid parental leave schemas (Kocourkova 2009; Inglot, Rat, and Szikra 2011). Conservative party politics (i.e. Law and Justice (PiS) and the League of Polish Families in Poland, Christian Democrats in the Czech Republic, the Hungarian Democratic Forum in Hungary), and the broader involvement of non-government actors, such as the Catholic Church, especially in Poland, and most recently the Russian Orthodox Church in Russia, and conservative family support groups became instrumental in shaping family policies since the collapse of communism (Deacon 1992; Glass and Fodor 2007, 328; Inglot, Szikra, and Rat 2011; Korintus and Stropnik 2011, 141).

Right-wing parties throughout CEE have embraced the traditional family as the new ideal. Through extending parental leave and de-funding childcare, conservative politicians were able to regulate the work-family balance for women in favor of the traditional caretaker model. For instance, the conservative approach to women's role as caregivers in Poland trimmed parental leave and childcare provisions and emphasized means-testing thereby hampering opportunities for women to participate in the labor market. The traditionalist approach to family policy in Poland was strengthened by the influence of the Catholic Church and the weakness of active women's groups (Glass and Fodor 2007). Conservatives in Hungary encouraged women to stay home with children by maintaining the provision of paid parental leave (GYED and GYES) until the child's third birthday while effectively closing childcare facilities by devolving unfunded responsibility to local governments (Korintus and Stropnik 2011, 138). Childcare facilities provide opportunities for women to share childrearing responsibilities with the state while women participate in the workforce. This is what the post-communist conservatives argue against. In their minds, mothers should be the primary caregivers to young children while men should be rightfully reinstated to the role of breadwinners (Glass and Fodor 2007).

Increased spending on family policies such as maternity and parental leaves and baby grants fits well into the conservative-nationalist socio-cultural agenda of the Right parties in CEE. Many CEE states face dwindling population. The renewed conservative pronatalist rhetoric stems from several factors such as the worsening demography caused by the declining birth rates, the revitalized conservative family values, and the new threats of immigration caused by opening of borders to the EU and former USSR

76

countries fall on fertile soil in these countries. Inglot, Szikra, and Rat (2012) show that in Poland, the conservative League of Polish Families (LPR) pushed through birth grant legislation in 2005 and a tax credit in 2007 to help Polish families off-set costs of having children. In Hungary, Victor Orban's first conservative cabinet (1998-2002) increased maternity leave and restored parental leave (GYED) after reduction under the Bokros austerity plan initiated by its Socialist predecessor. Subsequent Hungarian cabinets returned to the conservative family agenda. The Right-center government of Orban restored in 2009 some previously cut parental leave benefits and introduced tax benefits for families with children (Inglot, Szikra, Rat 2012, 35). In Russia, the United Russia party pushed through a series of packages aimed at increasing birth rates and encouraging large families. The measures included a generous federal birth grant implemented in 2007, regional birth grants since 2011, and sizable parental allowances for the birth and upbringing of a third child since 2013 (Avdeyeva 2011; Kingsbury 2014).

Benoit and Laver's study (2006) describes the Right party prevalence in CEE, as experts classified 60% of parliamentary parties as being on the Right. Median voter preferences coded by the Manifesto Project paint a similar picture: the Right-leaning party partiality in the sample countries (Volkens et al. 2012). Figure 7 below shows fluctuation of government ideology as measured by the median voter preferences. The data point to a Right party preference in many CEE countries since the transition to democracy. The zero grid represent the central reference point, with the positive values representing the Right political ideology, and the negative values represent the Left political ideology (Klingemann et al 2006, 5-27). Median voter position is calculated based on the coding of party positions on the Left-Right scale. Commonly, parties on the

77

Left are Communists and Social Democrats, while market Liberals and National-Conservatives are on the Right. The Manifesto Project codes party position on a scale 0 to100 on the Right and 0 to -100 on the Left. "The Scale generally opposes emphases on peaceful internationalism, welfare and government on the Left to emphases on strong defense, free enterprise, and traditional morality on the Right" (Klingemann et al. 2006, 5).



Figure 7. CEE Median Voter Positions 1990-2010

Source: Manifesto Project Database (Klingemann et al. 2006; Volkens et al. 2012).

Following conventional logic, one would expect a decrease in social benefits, especially family benefits, given the relative weakness of the political Left in CEE. But the literature on CEE party dynamics indicates that, in fact, some of the most radical reforms were introduced by the Left governments as they were striving to distance themselves from the Communist past and to appear pro-reform (Lipsmeyer 2009; Tavits and Letki 2009). Contrary to the established relationship, Right parties have been found more supportive of spending on social programs (Tavits and Letki 2009). Among the reasons to increase family policy spending are falling birth rates and increased public dissatisfaction with immigration. The discussion below describes popular xenophobia in CEE and demographic trends.

5. Immigration and Xenophobia.

5.1. Xenophobia

For decades, European countries have been coping with waves of migrants and debating the best ways to integrate them (Hansen 2003; Kymlicka 2010). The shortcomings of the implementation of multiculturalism policies heightened the visibility of immigration issues, often putting them at the forefront of political debate (Bauböck 2002; Write 2011; Write and Bloemraad 2012). The common outcry over the failure of multiculturalism and the fears among the natives that their own way of life is threatened, contributed to the rise of nationalist populism and electoral success of far-right populist parties throughout Europe (Kymlicka 2010; Mudde 2005). While not all CEE countries experienced mass immigration, tensions already exist between local and foreign-born or minority populations²⁶ as well as between the native citizens and the immigrants and asylum seekers, especially from Africa and Asia (Mikulska 2008; Mukomel 2014). Existing research reports higher levels of xenophobic attitudes in CEE than in Western European countries due to the experience of isolation and the perceived homogeneous identity, lack of debate about and organizational and community support for immigrants,

²⁶ Some examples include Roma in Hungary, Russians in Latvia and Estonia, and Central Asians in Russia.

and larger of rural populations which have been found to be less tolerant to immigrants (Hainmueller and Hiscox 2007; Wallace 2002).

Figure 8 presents results of surveys that gauge opinions about immigrants in CEE countries. European Value Survey (EVS) asked respondents if they would not want immigrants or foreign workers as their neighbors. Data indicates fluctuation of public opinion, with several countries standing out for having a clear upward trend. Animosity towards immigrants as neighbors keeps rising during post-communism in Albania, Estonia, Russia, and Ukraine (EVS 2012). The public in Poland, Hungary, Bulgaria and Romania appears to have become more tolerant as the years have passed.





Sources: WVS and EVS (last wave conducted in 2012)

Negative attitudes towards immigrants on average are the highest citizens of the Czech Republic (twenty year average 25.42%), Lithuania (twenty year average 24.41%), and Romania (twenty year average 24.30). On average in the period of 1990-2008,

between 16-25% of citizens of CEE countries did not want to have immigrants or foreign workers as their neighbors. Anti-immigrant sentiment is visible in everyday life via antiimmigrant, anti-minority, and/or anti-Muslim rhetoric inspired by organized groups and popularized by the mass media, for example, the so-called "Russian Marches" sponsored yearly by the Movement against Illegal Immigration (DPNI) in Russia. These marches attract wide media coverage and exemplify the growing frustration over the flood of immigrants from Central Asia and the Caucasus.

The communist past echoes in the state-level responses to treating foreign-born populations. The unique post-communist problems include the common authoritarian past and the mixed ethnic composition of states that emerged from the former Yugoslavia and the USSR. While many ethnic conflicts have been resolved with the emergence of new independent states, ethnic and religious minority rights have not been equally protected. Researchers point to the inadequate legal basis for prosecution of racism and xenophobic hate speech while local political elites and citizens use racist, anti-Semitic, and antiimmigrant language in everyday life and on political campaign trails (Bernath, Miklosi, and Mudde 2005; Ivanov and Ilieva 2005, Kiaulakis 2005; Kingsbury 2014; Mares 2012 Wodak, KhosravniNik and Mral 2013). CEE public space is often ambivalent toward anti-Semitic, anti-Roma, and anti-Muslim escapades by politicians and public figures while the radical-right racist skinhead public manifestations are common on the streets (Amnesty International 2013; ETH 2013; Mudde 2005; Pelinka 2012; Spiegel 2014).

5.2. Radical Right Parties

The growing dissatisfaction of native populations with the issues and problems of immigration has also been linked to the resurgence of populist radical right parties

(PRRP).²⁷ The communist past still echoes in weak civil society but also in the rampant populism that caters to a significant segment of populations who suffered from the negative outcomes of economic transformation, restructuring, austerity, and unemployment. "Uprootedness, status loss, and uncertainties about identity provide fertile ground for paranoid visions of conspiracy and treason; hence the widespread attraction of nationalist Salvationism" (Tismaneanu 2007, 36). Data on the recent parliamentary elections provide evidence of various degrees of support for PRRPs in Central and Eastern Europe. For example, NSA in Bulgaria gained 9.4% of votes in 2009 Parliamentary elections; in Croatia HSP got 3% in 2011; Sovereignty in Czech Republic in 2011; PRM in Romania with 3.2% in 2008; Order and Justice (PTT) in Lithuania with 7.3% in 2012; LDPR in Russia with 11.7% in 2011; SRS in Serbia with 29.5%; and SNS in Slovakia with 4.6% of support in 2012 Parliamentary elections (Mudde 2012, 6; electionresources.org). There is no consensus among researchers that nativism translated into mass support for the populist radical right (Mudde 2005, Mudde 2012, Mudde 2013). However, studies show increased popularity of such parties in recent history, which helps these parties reach the electoral thresholds and receive parliamentary seats. While in parliament, these small parties, as members of broader coalitions, can pursue populist projects (Inglot, Szikra and Rat 2011; 2012).

PRRPs popularity is a telling sign of heightened levels of xenophobia, because it gauges public anxiety caused by immigration and the perceived loss of national identity. Populist right parties often run on anti-immigrant and anti-globalization platforms. These

²⁷ Following Mudde, I define radical right as parties that subscribe to the anti-immigrant, nativist, populist and authoritarian views (see Mudde 2012, 1).

parties do not object to high levels of re-distribution and as such are not against welfare. They object to high levels of distribution to the "undeserving" groups. Scholars use the term 'welfare chauvinism' to describe the demands to limit access to welfare benefits for immigrants; a group viewed least deserving to receive public support (de Koster, Achterberg, and van der Waal 2013). Such a position appeals to a growing number of Europeans (Hainmueller and Hangartner 2013).

Kitschelt (1995) connects competition over economic resources to ethnic heterogeneity. In societies experiencing economic and cultural change, parochial interests of ethnic groups will bring tensions over access to resources and entitlements. Individuals define their issue positions in terms of whether their ethnic group has easy access to resources, and whether their ethnic group is in majority (Kitschelt 1995, 463). Political elites will, consequently, pressure for policies of liberalization, citizenship rights, and channel resources according to (mis)fortunes of their ethnic constituency.

5.3. Declining Population.

The current demographic slump reinforces fears of native populations and gives grounds for support of welfare chauvinism. The CEE countries are facing declining populations as fertility rates plunged in the 1990s to below-replacement levels. Population replacement levels in developed countries are at 2.1 children per woman and refer to the average number of children families should have in order for a country to sustain population levels (PRB). Persistent below-replacement levels forecast population decline. At present, all CEE countries are struggling with below-replacement fertility rates (Figure 9). In 2010, the average total fertility rate (TFR) was 1.45 with the smallest TFR of 1.26 in Hungary and largest TFR of 1.63 in Estonia. In CEE, as in the rest of Europe, declining birth rates are accompanied by the challenges of aging population. The share of young population is shrinking, while the amount of elderly (65 years old or older) is expanding.



Figure 9. Total Fertility Rates in CEE 1980-2010

According to UN projections, without sustaining population levels either through immigration, an increase in natural birth rates, or a combination of immigration and sustainable fertility rates, countries with below-replacement fertility cannot preserve their present economic and military strength and stability (UN 2001). In response to the worsening demographic situation, all CEE governments in the sample, except Albania, expressed concern over the levels of birth rates and report intention to actively raise fertility rates (UN 2013). ²⁸

Source: World Bank 2012.

²⁸ As of 2005, only Albanian government reported its satisfaction with population growth levels and fertility levels. The rest of the countries in the sample report a high level of concern and a wish to raise their fertility and population levels.

This section discussed evidence of heightened levels of anti-immigrant sentiment and described its relevance to family policymaking. Welfare chauvinism, protecting the interests of the native population while excluding the immigrants (or other undeserving groups), and populist radicalism is a growing trend across Europe, including postcommunist Central and Eastern European countries. The sections below discuss the measurement of these proposed determinants and the results of statistical analysis.

6. Model and Variables.

6.1. Variables

I argue that a variety of factors influence generosity of family policies in CEE. The equation presented below summarizes the general form of the proposed model. Family policy generosity is a function of the political variables, demographic variables, xenophobia and economic stability:

Policy generosity = Σ Political Variables_{i,t} + Σ Demographic variables_{i,t} + Σ Xenophobia_{i,t} + Economic stability_{i,t} + $\varepsilon_{i,t}$.

Measurement of family policy generosity varies in research (Ferrarini et al. 2013). A common instrumentation of family policies is government spending on family policies as a percent of gross domestic product (GDP) (D'Addio and D'Ercole 2005). However, the shortcoming of such measure is that it lumps spending on different programs, such as education, health, pensions, and family benefits, together. The main critique of this approach is that party politics and financial considerations of healthcare spending may be different from the family benefits justifications. Other common measures include length of maternity leaves or wage replacement levels of maternity and parental leave compensation (Gornick, Meyers, and Ross 1997; Rovny 2011; Weldon 2011). Using a comprehensive dataset of CEE family policies developed for this project, I propose using the generosity of maternity leave measured as the total payments paid during maternity leave duration in weeks. That is *leave length* × *amounts paid at wage replacement rate in ppp dollars*. I argue that the proposed measure captures both length and compensation levels which helps gauging the volume of support received by mothers. Maternity leave is a mandatory policy in the CEE countries, and as such it is an appropriate instrument of assessing generosity of family policies across different countries. ²⁹



Figure 10. Generosity of Family Policies

Note: There are some outliers, so the variable is log-transformed for statistical analysis. The outliers (shown by dots and excluded from the data represented in the box and whisker chart) are cases affected by the increases in ML compensation in the 2000s.

Political variables are the measurement of partisanship in parliaments and percent

of women in national parliament. Partisanship is measured by two different variables:

²⁹ Versus parental leave that varies greatly by length, compensation and income levels, and child's age.

median voter and strength of Left parties in national parliaments. The measurement of median voter on the right-left scale is taken from the Manifesto Project data that codes party manifestos and election data throughout Europe, including CEE countries (Klingemann et al. 2006, Volkens et al. 2012; Volkens et al. 2014). This measure is composed using the Kim and Fording method (Kim and Fording 1998, 79-80). It calculates preferences of a median voter based on the left-right placing of party manifestos, votes casted for these parties, and the position of the median voter located in the interval directly to the left and to the right of median voter. This measure allows making cross-country comparisons of median voter ideology, which is closely related to the ideology of party in power. This variable measures the relative strength of position of parties on the left-right ideological continuum. The CEE median voter scores indicate an overall Right ideology preference in the CEE countries, as shown on Figure 7. Brief swings to the Left appear in the study period. They have been linked to the harsh realities of transition when many countries plunged into hyper-inflation, negative GDP growth, and unemployment, during which Left parties have been able to rally support behind their political ideas (Haggard and Kaufmann 2008).

An additional measure of party ideology measures representation of Social Democratic and other Left parties in national parliaments (henceforth Left Government) as proportion of all parliamentary seats (Armingeon et al. 2011). The reason to include two party ideology variables is to address the shortcomings of the median voter preferences indicator, as median voter preferences do not always coincide with the parliamentary vote alignment. Left Government data are not available for non-EU member countries. Both measures of voter preferences seek to explore the relationship of party strength and family policy generosity. I test the established notion that Left parties spend more generously on social policies, as well as my alternative argument that, in CEE, Right parties are more likely to increase family policy generosity based on the conservative ideals of traditional family and national preservation.

H1: Left parties in CEE will spend more on family policies

H1a: Right parties in CEE will spend more on family policies

The *representation of women* variable measures the percentage of members of parliament (MPs) in national parliaments who are women. Data are taken from the World Bank World Development Indicators (WDI), the Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU), and websites of Parliaments of individual countries. As feminist literature indicates, greater women's representation in parliaments leads to policies that promote women's issues. Previous research finds a positive influence of women in parliament on social welfare policies. I test this relationship on the CEE sample.

H2: Greater representation of women in national parliaments will positively affect family policy generosity.

The *anti-immigrant sentiment* is measured by two variables. The first, *xenophobia*, comes from the World Values Survey waves conducted between the years 1990 and 2012. I include the percent of respondents who responded positively to the inquiry of whether they would not want their neighbors to be immigrants and/or foreign workers (Wallace 2002). Another measure of anti-immigrant sentiment is the proportion of foreign-born population in the country, *migrant stock* data from the World Bank. The measure is included to control for the overall influence of the presence of immigrants/foreign-born population on public opinion. Presumably, the more visible immigrants are, the more xenophobia should ensue and more generous family policies would be pushed through by radical populist nationalist parties in government.

H3: Greater percentage of xenophobia will lead to more generous family policies.H4: Greater proportion of migrants in a country will lead to more generous family policies.

The *demographic* and *economic* factors are total fertility rates and growth of GDP, respectively. *Total fertility rates* (TFR) refer to the number of children per woman assuming she lives to the end of her childbearing age and bears children according to the current age-specific fertility rates. It is expected that TFR will have a positive relationship with generosity of family policies because contemporary CEE governments continue on the pronatalist path of encouraging childbirth. Contemporary CEE governments inherited the policy concern for declining birth rates from the communist regime, albeit flavor it with the traditionalist/national preservation rhetoric. I argue that there is a positive reinforcement loop in the policy provision here: growth in birth rates stimulates the government to spend more having seen that the desired result. These countries have experienced a sharp decline in birth rates despite the existing system of support, so the governments are working to reverse the trend by encouraging more births through even more generous family policies. This policy mechanism may be peculiar to the CEE countries, since they already have quite elaborate family policies. However, existing policies were not enough to keep the birth rates from declining during the transition from communism. As I show earlier in this chapter, this policy behavior is familiar – first implemented as a pronatalist policy driven by communist ideals, now it is a familialist policy driven by the traditionalist and conservative interests of national preservation.

89

H5: The rise in TFR will lead to greater generosity of family policies in CEE.H6: GDP growth will positively affect family policy generosity.

The state of the economy is controlled for in the form of the GDP growth to reflect the financial ability of the governments to fulfill social obligations (Deacon 2000). Additionally, I control for *female employment*. Female employment represents the ratio of women employed to the total workforce. This measure reflects the historically high female employment patterns inherited from the communist period. It captures the general dynamics of family policy generosity as differences in the family policy provisions because in all the countries, maternity benefits are tied to mother's previous wages.

6.2. Models

The statistical analysis uses data from fourteen countries: Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Albania, Slovenia, Bulgaria, Moldova, Romania, Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Ukraine. The time period is between the years 1990 and 2010. It is a time-series cross-sectional dataset (TSCS). The panels are unbalanced with missing values due to lack of data on some elections and on generosity levels, especially during the transition period of the early 1990s. There are also gaps in the year and country coverage of public opinion surveys that measure xenophobia.

Ten countries were EU members as of 2010: Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Slovenia, Bulgaria, Romania, Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania. Researchers argue that these countries developed stable affluent democratic regimes, which tend to spend more on social welfare programs as a way of addressing citizens' demands. EU members also experience pressures from the other Union members to maintain higher spending on social policies, including paid leave and childcare provision, to match the general levels. Additionally, the literature suggests that the new EU members had a history of social welfare systems that preceded communist rule, whereas the rest of the former USSR states did not (Orenstein 2008).

Several models were specified: (I) a full sample of 14 countries and the median voter party ideology measurement, (II) a subset of 7 countries with high levels of migrant stock, over 5% of population, (III) EU-member³⁰countries only, and (IV) EU-member countries using an alternative measure of Left party strength. Models (I) and (III) are included to analyze any potential differences between EU and non-EU countries, specifically, the full sample includes the former USSR republics of Russia, Moldova, and Ukraine, plus Albania. Treating the European Union members as a subsample is preferable to the commonly used fix of including a dummy variable. Because of the nature of the data, using dummy variables runs a risk of running high standard errors because of correlation with fixed effects, thus losing explanatory value and running a risk of a Type II error of rejecting the meaningful relationship (Beck 2001; Plumper and Troeger 2007; Wilson and Butler 2007, 105).

Additional differences between models are in the way party influence is measured. Specifications (I) full sample and (III) EU-members include the measurement of median voter preference as defined by Kim and Fording³¹ and calculated by the Manifesto Dataset (Kim and Fording 1998; Klingemann et.al. 2006; Volkens et al. 2014; Volkens et al. 2012). Model (IV) estimates the influence of Left parties in the sub-sample of the EU countries.

³⁰ Membership as of 2010.

³¹ It estimates the median voter preferences of the electorate based on the assumptions of voter's rational choice and stable party cleavages among the Left-Right spectrum (see Kim and Fording 1998, 2003).





Source: World Bank, World Development Indicators

Note: Estonia and Latvia have a large proportion of population born outside of these countries due to the migration of Russians during the Soviet period. Since regaining the independents ethnic Russians have been encouraged to leave by denying citizenship rights. Many ethnic Russians remain non-citizens, thus are considered foreign-born population (Cianetti 2014).

Specification (II) estimates the determinants of generosity in the subset of countries with high levels of migrants (over 5% of population). Seven countries of the sample host a larger number of immigrants, as measured by the migrant stock variable, which accounts for the proportion of foreign-born population in a given country (Figure 11). Slovenia, Moldova, Russia, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Ukraine host a significant amount of foreign-born population, ranging from an average of 6.29% in Lithuania to 18.89% in Latvia and 18.45% in Estonia. Others, like Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Albania, and Bulgaria have a small number of immigrants as a proportion of their population, less than 5% of the whole population. My theory points to the influence of xenophobia on family policies. Anti-immigrant sentiment may be influenced by higher

levels of immigrants in societies, thus I am looking at determinants of family policy generosity in a subset of countries with large foreign-born populations.

6.3. Estimation methods

Time-series cross-sectional data often present methodological challenges because of the complex nature of the intersection between time-series and cross-sectional properties (Beck 2008; Beck and Katz 1995; Beck and Katz 2011; Wilson and Butler 2007; Wooldridge 2010). The Breusch and Pagan Lagrange test for panel effects is significant,³² thus rejects the null hypothesis of constant variance of errors and signifies that OLS estimations will be inefficient. A number of variables (TRF, Female Employment, and Generosity of Policy) were transformed using natural logarithms to correct for the non-constant variance of the error term (Wooldridge 2002).

I include a full set of country dummies to account for the individual country differences. Unit heterogeneity refers to the ways the country-specific effects are important for the explanation of regression outcomes and are not captured by the independent variables (Wilson and Butler 2007, 105; Wooldridge 2002). Post-communist countries are not a monolithic entity (Saxonberg and Sirovatka 2006). CEE countries have different histories of pre-communism and even communist welfare state development (Orenstein 2008), including varying characteristics of welfare state regimes (Aidukaite 2011; Esping-Andersen 1990). As scholars point out, the use of fixed effects aids in addressing the omitted variable bias, that is the unobserved local factors not included in the model. The use of fixed effects is methodologically appropriate in the

 $^{^{32}}$ Prob > chibar2 = 0.0000

absence of the temporary invariant variables in the dataset (Plumper and Troeger 2007, 124-125).

I take the advice of Plumper and Troeger (2007) to consider variance in time on important political variables. It is plausible that the influence of the political variables varies depending on time periods, indicating that Left policies change over time. To address parameter heterogeneity, I include the measures of party strength and Left party ideology at 5-year intervals³³ to capture the electoral cycles that contribute to party strength and median voter position. The results are reported side by side and provide more information on the changing influence of the party variable on generosity.

Time-Series Cross-Sectional datasets frequently present challenges with the issues of time dynamics, or the time-series properties of the data that might reveal serial correlation. The research literature concurs that dynamics should be taken into account through appropriate choice of modeling (Beck and Katz 2004; Beck and Katz 2011). The Wooldridge test for serial correlation, or the interdependence of error terms over time, indicates the presence of serial correlation³⁴ (Drukker 2003; Wooldridge 2010). A straightforward and common way of dealing with serial correlation is the inclusion of a lagged dependent variable to the set of independent variables (Beck and Katz 1996; 2011). Wooldridge tests for serial correlation was performed to test if the inclusion of the

³³ These intervals are fixed for all countries.

³⁴ Results of the Wooldridge Test of serial correlation in the base model: F=92.043, p=0.00; Results of the Wooldridge Test of serial correlation with the inclusion of lagged dependent variable: F=38.85, p=0.00; ϕ =.98.

LDV fixed the serial correlation problem; it shows the persistence of small amount serial correlation even after the LDV correction, with a large coefficient.³⁵

Although an easy fix, LDV regression is insufficient for modeling dynamics if data is nonstationary because it produces spurious regression results (Beck 2008, 479; Beck and Katz 2004). I conducted several stationarity tests to check for potential problems (Im, Pesaran, and Shin 2003; Maddala and Wu 1999).³⁶ A simple autoregression to logarithm of generosity reveals the autoregressive coefficient of 0.99 with a standard error of 0.014. These results indicate non-stationarity and the presence of unit roots.³⁷ Alternatively, Fisher-type unit root test based on the augmented Dickey-Fuller test fails to reject the null hypothesis regarding presence of unit roots (Im, Pesaran and Shin 2003).

7. Results and Discussion.

Given the complexity of data and the problems of serial correlation and unit-

roots, common stationary methods of estimating dynamic models, such as autoregressive distributed lag (ADL), lagged-dependent variable (LDV), and simple model with autoregressive error process (AR1), will most likely produce spurious results. Beck

³⁵ See a discussion in Beck and Katz 2004 (pp. 19-20) about serial correlation and the conditions under which a small amount of serial correlation still warrants OLS regression with LDV. For a critique of the LDV inclusion, see Achen 2000.

³⁶ Various unit root tests are available in Stata, but researchers acknowledge their limitations as the TSCSapplicable methods are under development (see Im, Pesaran and Shin 2003; Persyn and Westerlund 2008). For example, Maddala and Wu (1999) discuss the shortcomings of the popular tests, such as the Dickey-Fuller, to distinguish between the null hypothesis of the unit root and the stationary alternatives (page 631). Beck (2008) proposes running an auxiliary regression to assess the coefficient of the lagged dependent variable. If it is close to 1, then the data is not stationary.

³⁷ See an informative discussion of the applicability of unit-root concepts to the political economy data in Beck and Katz (2011, 343). The authors discuss the natural limits many political economy variables have in the forms of spending limits within a country budgets.

(1991) shows that the error correction model shows the best properties when dealing with complex time-series cross-sectional data.

Table 8 presents results of several models are specified to address the nonstationarity, serial correlation, and heterogeneity concerns through modeling the error-correction model with panel-specific AR1 error processes and fixed effects (Beck and Katz 2011). As argued in Chapter 2, error correction model has an additional advantage in its ability to estimate both short-term and long-term dynamics. The short-term dynamics is captured by the first-differenced values of the variables, and the long-term dynamics is captured by the lagged values of the variables (De Boef and Keele 2008, 191).

As a robustness check, a generalized method of moments (GMM) model was specified (Appendix E); also often referred to as the Arrelano-Bond (A-B) model specification (Arrelano and Bond 1991).³⁸ A-B is commonly advised as an alternative to the LDV specification for dynamic TSCS and panel data that includes fixed effects (Wilson and Butler 2007). This method of estimation addresses what is known as the "Nickell Bias" (Nickell 1981). It comes from the potential correlation of the centered lagged dependent variable with the centered error term. The Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions is insignificant, supporting the null hypothesis that the model and overidentifying restrictions are correctly identified (p=0.31). The results of robustness checks support the findings presented in Appendix D.

³⁸ More models were tested, including OLS with Huber-White (robust) errors; first-difference model; and an autoregressive distributed lag model specified by OLS Prais-Winsten regression.
(I)Full Sa	ample	(II)High	% Migrants	(III)EU-r	nembers	(IV)EU-r	nembers
(1) PSAR1	(2) PSAR1	(3) PSAR1	(4) PSAR1	(5) PSAR1 EU	(6) PSAR1 EU	(7) PSAR1 EU	(8) PSAR1

 Table 8. Determinants of Family Policy Generosity

Generosity	-0.052	-0.052	-0.15***	-0.12***	-0.07/*	-0.075*	-0.056	_0 15***
Generosity _{t-1}	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.042)	(0.034)	(0.042)	(0.043)	(0.046)	(0.048)
AGDP growth	0.010***	0.010***	0.005***	0.00/**	(0.0+2)	0.043)	0.0040)	0.007***
ZODI glowii	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.010)	(0.009)	(0.003)	(0.007)
GDP growth	0.013***	0.013***	(0.002)	0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	0.002)
ODI giowilit-l	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.010)	(0.00)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.010)	(0.007)
ATER.	0.751***	(0.002) 0 745***	(0.002) 0 $442***$	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002) 0.818***	0.805***	(0.002)
$\Delta \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{K}_{ln}$	(0.161)	(0.163)	(0.163)	(0.170)	(0.231)	(0.230)	(0.267)	(0.337)
тер	(0.101)	(0.103)	(0.103)	(0.170)	(0.231)	(0.230)	(0.207)	(0.233)
$\Gamma \Gamma K_{\ln t-1}$	(0.085)	(0.205^{+++})	(0.145)	(0.120)	(0.005)	(0.100)	(0.116)	0.141
AWamDADI	(0.083)	(0.093)	(0.143)	(0.139)	(0.093)	(0.109)	(0.110)	(0.114)
$\Delta W OMPARL$	0.003	0.003	-0.0001	-0.0004	0.005	0.004	0.003	0.002
W DADI	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
WomPARL _{t-1}	0.009***	0.009***	0.010***	0.005**	0.012***	0.012***	0.010***	0.00/*
437 1 1 1	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.004)
ΔXenophobia	0.002	0.002	0.021***	0.020***	-0.003	-0.003	0.0003	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)
Xenophobia _{t-1}	0.001	0.001	0.008***	0.007**	-0.002	-0.002	-0.004	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
$\Delta FemEMPL_{ln}$	2.211***	2.284***	-0.00548	-0.253	2.534**	2.522**	2.456**	1.014
	(0.552)	(0.549)	(1.103)	(0.927)	(1.029)	(1.026)	(0.997)	(0.903)
FemEMPL _{In t-1}	1.560**	1.559**	1.877	2.118**	2.251**	2.111**	2.444**	0.822
	(0.642)	(0.728)	(1.195)	(0.987)	(0.940)	(0.957)	(0.983)	(0.930)
Δ Migrant%	0.077	0.082	0.165**	0.109*	-0.025	-0.009	0.058	-0.033
	(0.080)	(0.070)	(0.067)	(0.066)	(0.095)	(0.096)	(0.090)	(0.085)
Migrant% _{t-1}	0.022***	0.021***	0.017***	0.016***	0.013	0.013	0.020	-0.001
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.013)
Δ Med Voter	-0.0001	-0.002	-0.0002	-0.002**	0.002	-0.001		
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)		
Med Voter t-1	0.002***		0.001		0.004***			
	(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.001)			
Med Voter		0.002	. ,	-0.003	. ,	0.004*		
1991-95		(0.002)		(0.002)		(0.002)		
Med Voter		0.001		0.002*		0.003		
1996-00		(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.002)		
Med Voter		0.001*		0.0002		0.005		
2001-05		(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.004)		
Med Voter		0.002		0.014***		0.003		
2006-10		(0.003)		(0.002)		(0.004)		
2000-10		())		(),		())		

Table 5. (C	onunued	1)						
ΔLeft GOVT							-0.002**	-0.0003
							(0.0004)	(0.0003)
Left GOVT t-1							-0.001**	
							(0.0003)	
Left GOVT								-0.001**
1991-95								(0.001)
Left GOVT								-0.001**
1996-00								(0.0004)
Left GOVT								-0.001**
2001-05								(0.0004)
Left GOVT								0.002***
2006-10								(0.001)
Observations	206	206	103	103	155	155	154	154
P squared	200	200	0.550	0.620	0.331	0 332	0.368	0.450
Countries	14	14	0.550	0.020	10	10	10	10
Countries	14	14	/	1	10	10	10	10

Note: Country dummies were included in all models (results not presented for space conservation reasons). Specification (I) includes the full sample of 14 countries with median voter party ideology measurement; Specification (II) includes a subset of seven countries with a high proportion of migrant population (see Figure 11); Specifications (III) and (IV) include the EU-member countries and differ in the measure of party ideology. Each of the four specifications includes two models: without and with parameter heterogeneity.

Panel Corrected Standard errors in parentheses: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Findings presented in Table 8 uphold the commonly held view of the positive association between the economic growth and social welfare. Short-term changes in generosity of maternity leave policies are dependent on the health of the economy. These results need little explanation, as social benefits are financed by national budgets.

Consistent to my expectations, family policy generosity is directly proportionate

to total fertility rates. It is important to note that the relationship is positive, indicating

that an increase in fertility rates prompt expansion of benefits. These results support my

prediction of the reinforcement loop mechanism, which suggests that policy reacts to an increase in fertility rates with greater generosity to further stimulate births in the effort to

achieve replacement levels (2.01).

The reason for such a reinforcement loop can be illustrated by the common fertility decline throughout CEE countries. The post-communist European states are actively working to increase birth rates that have fallen below replacement levels since the early 1990s. All the sample countries have officially expressed their intent to raise fertility rates, deeming population decline a national priority. Therefore, these governments are actively engaging in stimulating reproductive behavior through the increased generosity of family policies. This points to political calculations behind the decisions to reward growing fertility rates with more generous family policies in an effort to further stimulate birth rates. CEE countries do not risk overpopulation, as TFR is below replacement across the region. Therefore, stimulating fertility growth with more generous family policies serves the political goals of CEE governments, which are concerned about population decline. The underlying logic of such policy decisions is political populism that pursues the goal of growing the native population. It is important to note that the coefficients are very close across models and samples, regardless of the EU membership or the proportion of immigrants in the CEE countries.

The results of all models are consistent in predicting that the long-term impact of women's representation in national parliaments has a positive significant impact on generosity of maternity policy. This finding has several important implications for the gender and politics literature. First, it contributes to the comparative study of the CEE countries, by providing empirical evidence in support of the feminist theory that argues the importance of women's representation for advancing women's causes. Family policies have been shown to increase women's opportunities to combine family and career in western industrialized countries, thus contributing to gender equality. My

findings extend the validity of this theoretical argument to the sample of post-communist European countries.

Second, these results provide some understanding in the mechanism of women's influence on policy. The impact of women's representation in parliaments is only significant as a long-run indicator. The long-term impact of women's representation, measured by the lagged value of the variable, is directly related to the increased generosity of family policies in the EU countries, irrespective of the measurement of political variable. Third, these results are significant and warrant further exploration of the impact of women's representation on policy as that the overall trend of representation has been declining across the CEE since the collapse of communism. The overall average representation in CEE is about 13% (standard deviation 6.67) down from close to 30% - formerly a communist party target. Future investigations are warranted into exploring the policy outcomes of various levels of women's representation, specifically women in cabinets versus national parliaments. Following the argument of Drude Dahlerup (1988), women may be better positioned to positively influence family policies from a cabinet-level position than as a MPs voting along the party lines.

The changes in levels of immigration are a significant predictor of policy generosity in the full sample (I) and in countries with high proportion of foreign born population (II). The long-term impact of the proportion of immigrants to overall population in CEE countries does increase generosity of family policies in both the full CEE sample and the high migrant stock countries. An interesting distinction arises between models (I) and (II), which include all 14 CEE countries, and models (III) and (IV) which include only the EU members. At the first glance, the distinction is clear – it

is the EU membership that makes the difference. However, migrant stock variable is significant in model (II) which include both EU and non-EU countries. The EU countries in that sample are: Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Slovenia. Therefore, I pose that the EU membership is not as significant as the proportion of migrants living in a country.

Additionally, in support of my argument, the statistical analysis shows that levels of xenophobia positively influence the generosity of family policies in high-migrant countries presented in specification (II). These results render support to my proposition of the connection between xenophobia and family policies. I argue that xenophobia matters. Native populations feel threatened by the growing amounts of immigrants and nationalists in governments push for the increase in family benefits to stimulate native birth rates. These results find support in case studies of xenophobia and welfare chauvinism throughout contemporary Europe (Akkerman and Hagelund 2007; Kingsbury 2014; Koster, Achterberg, and Waal 2013; Mudde 2005). These results contribute to the study of family policies by showing the connection between rising immigration, and xenophobia, and family policies in the CEE countries. This connection is largely triggered by conservative parties, which emphasize radical right nationalism and call for the restrictions of benefits to immigrants in favor of channeling benefits to native population only.

The results underline the importance of party politics, especially Right-party strength that connects the issues of family policies and immigration. The inclusion of party variables tested several theoretical propositions, which include the widely-discussed argument that Left parties increase social welfare spending in established democracies and the recent evidence that Right-party politics may contribute to the increased welfare

spending in the CEE. Each model is presented with two alternative specifications: one that investigates the short-term and long-term impacts on family policy generosity, and the other that decomposes political influence according to time periods. It is noteworthy that government ideology on the Left-Right scale, as measured by short-term changes in median voter preferences, has no significant effect on the family policy generosity in CEE countries (1) or the EU-members (5). However, the long-term influence of party politics, as reflected in the median voter position, is positive and significant in models (1) and (5), proposing the positive relationship between the leaning of the median voter to the Right and the increase in family policy generosity. The time interaction with median voter provides additional information on the strength and direction of the relationship indicating the structural difference in slopes depending on the time period. The change in median voter preference is significant and negative in high-migrant countries (model (4)), but the time interaction show a positive relationship in periods 1996-2000 and 2006-2010. I explain the overall negative relationship by the path dependency of post-transition Left parties, which positioned themselves as proponents of liberal economics and free market in an effort to distance from the communist past. The Left party interaction with the early transition period 1991-1995 has a negative sign (albeit insignificant).

When Left party strength was measured in a more direct way, as the proportion of seats held by Left parties in models (7) and (8), there is a significant negative relationship between Left party strength and family policy generosity. I interpret these results by emphasizing influence of post-communist legacies on party policies in CEE countries. Left parties in the region were largely discredited following the collapse of communism.

To regain voter confidence and distance their image from the communist past, Left parties often voted for harsh austerity measures, thus reducing social welfare programs.

8. Addressing Endogeneity

The results of the statistical analysis (Table 8) support my hypothesis of the relationship between fertility rates and family policy generosity. However, Chapter 2 also shows that family policies positively influence fertility rates. I argue that there is a double feedback loop between how family policies and fertility are measured, predicted, and conceptualized. This double causality is referred to as endogeneity (Greene 2003). Family policies are endogenous because they are influenced by levels of fertility in a given country. At the same time, fertility rates are influenced by governments' pronatalist efforts aiming to stimulate birth rates in the form of various programs, which fall under the umbrella of family programs. The bulk of existing research conventionally attacks one side of the problem: either focusing on exploring the determinants of fertility rates or studying the predictors of family policy generosities. Employing the simultaneous equations model (SEM) approach will afford a new look at investigating the determinants of family policies affect fertility rates.

The empirical puzzle here is the direction of causality. Do falling fertility rates drive more generous spending or does more generous family policies increase fertility rates? As shown earlier in this chapter and in the Russia case study (Chapter 4), policymakers are concerned about the falling fertility rates and are using birth rates to justify more generous family programs. At the same time, fertility rates are affected by family policies, such as paid parental leave and availability of childcare. The direction of causality flows both ways: low fertility rates cause CEE governments to consider more generous family policies, while more generous policies are shown to lead to the growth of fertility. Thus, when investigating the determinants of family policy generosity one must at the same time consider the determinants of fertility rates. Methodologically, this could be done by estimating a simultaneous equation model,³⁹ which uses all the information available to determine the endogenous variables (Angrist and Pischke 2009; Gujarati 2003; Wooldridge 2010). Failing to estimate a system of equations in cases where joint determination of variables is suspected may lead to simultaneity bias. The simultaneity bias results from the correlation between explanatory variables and disturbance terms, thus potentially producing inconsistent regression estimates (Wooldridge 2010).

The system of equations is based on the previously estimated models of fertility determinants in the CEE (Chapter 2) and determinants of family policy generosity earlier in this chapter. Having shown that both models of determinants of family policy generosity and determinants of fertility are statistically valid and have economic meaning on its own, I satisfy the autonomy requirement (Wooldridge 2010, 239). Appendix E provides a visual representation of the determinants of family policies and fertility rates as a system of equations.

Simultaneous Equations Models are commonly estimated using two-stage leastsquares regression (2SLS). During the first stage, this method estimates the predicted

³⁹ Methodology to estimate SEM and instrumental variables (IV) is very similar, some texts use SEM and IV terminology interchangeably (Angrist and Pischke 2009).

values for the endogenous variables.⁴⁰ These values are used as the instrumental variables during the second stage.⁴¹ As Greene notes, absent heteroscedasticity or autocorrelation, 2SLS produces "the most efficient IV estimator that can be formed using only the columns of X" (AlDakhil 1998; Greene 2002, 398). In the presence of heteroscedasticity, other tools are useful, like the use of three stage least squares (3SLS) or Generalized Method of Moments (GMM) estimator (Angrist and Pischke 2009; Baum et al. 2003; Baum et al. 2007; Greene 2002, 400-415). As a robustness check, I present the results of 2SLS and GMM regressions side by side. There are four specifications in the table, the models correspond to those reported in Table 8.

The results in Table 9 support the main findings presented in Table 8, pointing to the robustness of my main findings, even when simultaneity is accounted for. All four specifications report a positive significant relationship between the change in fertility rates and family policy generosity. Also, the importance of xenophobia remains significant and positive for the countries with high proportion of foreign-born population. Unlike in Table 8, only the long-term impact, measured by the time lag of xenophobia, is significant, implying the long-lasting societal mechanisms in place. The role of economic conditions remains significant in both long-term measurement and the short term (change in GDP growth). However, the role of women in politics loses significance, perhaps due to the diminished proportion of women's representation in national parliaments.

⁴⁰ Endogenous variables are identified within the system. Exogenous variables are given from the outside of the system.

⁴¹ The predicted values obtained from the first stage along with the set of exogenous variables are used to estimate the dependent variable in the second stage. A good discussion of the methods is in Greene 2002, Chapter 15.

	(I)Full S	ample	(II)High	% Migrants	(III) EU	J-members	s (IV)EU	J-members
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
	2SLS	GMM	2SLS	GMM	2SLS	GMM	2SLS	GMM
		Dep	endent Vari	iable: ∆Gen	erosity			
ΔTFR_{ln}	3.103***	1.496***	1.154**	0.657**	2.829***	1.179*	1.673**	0.335
	(0.921)	(0.555)	(0.578)	(0.322)	(1.082)	(0.671)	(0.703)	(0.400)
Generosity _{t-1}	-0.147**	-0.0518	-0.124**	-0.12***	-0.118	-0.0165	-0.167**	-0.034
	(0.068)	(0.050)	(0.060)	(0.039)	(0.076)	(0.060)	(0.080)	(0.062)
Δ GDP growth	0.010***	0.010***	0.005	0.005**	0.006	0.007**	0.006*	0.005**
	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)
GDP growth _{t-1}	0.008 **	0.011***	0.008*	0.010***	0.005	0.008**	0.004	0.004*
	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)
TFR _{ln t-1}	0.662***	0.406***	0.445*	0.226	0.591**	0.345**	0.340	0.095
	(0.231)	(0.149)	(0.267)	(0.146)	(0.253)	(0.152)	(0.235)	(0.156)
Δ WomPARL	-0.001	-0.002	-0.004	-0.003	-0.002	-0.004	-0.002	-0.003
	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)
WomPARL _{t-1}	0.004	-0.003	0.0002	-0.003	0.006	-0.003	0.005	-0.003
	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.003)
∆Xenophobia	-0.008	-0.005	0.012	0.013	-0.008	-0.005	-0.002	0.004
	(0.007)	(0.005)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.004)
Xenophobia _{t-1}	0.002	0.002	0.007*	0.012***	0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.002
	(0.003)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)
$\Delta FemEMPL_{ln}$	1.551	0.958	-0.570	-0.505	1.516	1.105	0.407	-0.318
	(1.432)	(0.969)	(1.550)	(1.011)	(1.508)	(0.960)	(1.321)	(1.032)
FemEMPL _{ln t-1}	2.364*	1.475	2.203	1.041	2.613	1.074	1.093	-0.236
	(1.291)	(1.060)	(1.758)	(1.238)	(1.793)	(1.366)	(1.242)	(1.032)
Δ Migrant%	0.093	0.169	0.055	0.117	0.004	0.061	-0.037	0.016
	(0.150)	(0.113)	(0.116)	(0.097)	(0.150)	(0.125)	(0.119)	(0.089)
Migrant%	0.026	0.020*	0.013	0.007	0.023	0.015	0.005	-0.004
	(0.016)	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.008)	(0.020)	(0.014)	(0.016)	(0.012)
Δ Med Voter	-0.002	-0.003**	-0.002	-0.002**	-0.003	-0.001		
	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.002)		
Med Voter	0.001	0.003	-0.002	0.001	0.003	0.003		
1991-95	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)		
Med Voter	0.003	0.003**	0.003**	0.003**	0.003	0.003		
1996-00	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.002)		
Med Voter	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001**	0.007*	0.004		
2001-05	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.002)		
Med Voter	0.006	0.011**	0.011*	0.007**	0.009	0.011*		
2006-10	(0.007)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.006)		

 Table 9. Simultaneous Equations, Determinants of Family Policy Generosity

Table 9. (Co	ontinued).						
∆Left GOVT							0.0002	0.0002
							(0.000)	(0.000)
Left GOVT							-0.001**	-0.001*
1991-95							(0.001)	(0.000)
Left GOVT							-0.001	-0.0004
1996-00							(0.001)	(0.000)
Left GOVT							-0.001*	-0.001
2001-05							(0.001)	(0.000)
Left GOVT							0.001	0.000
2006-10							(0.001)	(0.001)
Observations	197	197	08	08	146	146	147	147

Note: Country dummies were included in all models (results not presented for space conservation reasons). Specification (I) includes the full sample of 14 countries with median voter party ideology measurement; Specification (II) includes a subset of seven countries with a high proportion of migrant population (see Figure 11); Specifications (III) and (IV) include the EU-member countries and differ in the measure of party ideology. Each of the four specifications includes two models: without and with parameter heterogeneity.

Standard errors in parentheses: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Finally, political party influence results are remarkably similar to those reported in the Table 8. Especially, I would like to point out the consistency of the results of the positive coefficients for the median voter preference in the years 1996-2000 and 2006-2010 in the high-migrant countries and the results of the Left-party strength in the EU countries for the years 1991-1995 and 2001-2005. These results support my hypothesis of the relevance of the Right-party politics for the family policies. As earlier CEE studies suggest, Right parties in the CEE champion social welfare spending using it as a way to stand out and appeal to the electorate (Ezrow, Homola, and Tavits 2014; Tavits and Letki 2009).

9. Conclusion

This chapter contributes to scholarly understanding of family policies in Central and Eastern post-communist societies in several ways. First, it presents the overview of family policies in the former communist countries of Europe, focusing on a broad sample of countries, which does not limit itself to the commonly-used EU members. I show that family policies in former communist European countries continue from the Soviet past in scope and in purpose. Contemporary policymakers emphasize traditional gender roles and encourage women to have children through the provision of family benefits. Lengthy paid parental leave programs foster the primary role of mothers in the children's upbringing, and the increasingly generous baby bonus programs alleviate the direct costs of having children.

Second, I find support to my argument that immigration and xenophobia matter for family policy decisions. Statistical results show that migrant stock numbers positively influence generosity of policy. These results are true for the CEE countries where immigrants constitute more than 5% of population. I show that xenophobia is widespread in post-communist Europe and argue that anti-immigrant sentiment creates pressures to increase generosity of family policies. The presence of immigrants mobilizes populists and conservatives to demand more protection to native families in the form of generous family policies. These conditions are amplified by declining birth rates and sluggish recovery of native births. The combination of declining birth rates, aging population, and increased immigration provides fertile ground for xenophobic fears. In this context, xenophobia is relevant to family policy decisions. The next chapter investigates the causal mechanisms between xenophobia and family policies in a case-study of Russia.

Chapter 4.

Let's Have More Russian Babies: How Anti-Immigrant Sentiment Shapes Family Policy in Russia.

1. Introduction

This chapter examines family policies from the viewpoint of allocation of benefits to different segments of society, specifically native populations vs. immigrants. Public dissatisfaction with growing levels of immigration rocked many European societies in the recent past. The rising prominence of nationalism and xenophobia throughout Europe translated into increased electoral success for radical right populist parties campaigning on anti-immigration messages. Nationalists and populists in government and mass media often feed the fire by promoting nativist ideas of expanding benefits that primarily support local populations. Building on the volume of scholarship that studies both family policies and the alarming trend of the rise of xenophobia throughout Central and Eastern Europe, I examine whether swelling immigration influences family policies. I propose that the governments consider expanding family benefits to appease native families who feel threatened by the growing foreign-born population. This proposition is not to argue that immigration is the only consideration but an important component of the package of factors considered by governments.

The Russian Federation was chosen as a case study because it can be considered paradigmatic example of a country with high xenophobia and generous family policies. Such cases can be labeled "extreme cases" because they represent the phenomena usually in its most pronounced, sometimes extreme, manifestations or an ideal type social mechanism (Bengtsson and Hertting 2014; Gerring 2007, 87-150; Weber 1949). A postcommunist country, Russia exemplifies and amplifies demographic and socio-economic problems common to all CEE countries, such as low fertility rates and declining population despite generous family policies. Following the CEE-common post-transition trend, fertility rates in Russia dropped sharply. Although they are slowly recovering, to this day they remain below population replacement of 2.1 children per family. Meanwhile, the general scope of family policies continued through the initial period of transition and expanded since the mid-2000s. The ongoing commitment to the continuation and expansions of family policies comes in contrast to the reductions and reforms in other social welfare sectors such as pensions, housing, healthcare, and education (Chandler 2004; Cook 2000; OECD 2001).

Facing a declining population during the economic boom of the 2000s, Russia became a reluctant host to an army of labor migrants coming largely from the former Soviet Republics. Currently, Russia absorbs the largest foreign-born population in Europe, 11 million, comprising about 10% of the labor force (UN 2013). The high visibility, rapid influx of immigrants, combined with corruption and less-than-successful integration and migration policies, has exacerbated the tensions between the shrinking local population and the growing mass of immigrants. Anti-immigrant sentiment has been on the rise in the past decade and is now a part of the daily political and media discourse. The problems of immigration are connected to low birth rate in debates about the future ethnic composition of Russia. Immigrants are feared to dilute the national identity and replace the shrinking native population. In this context, the government announced that population decline is a matter of national security and has introduced a series of comprehensive policies aimed at supporting native families with children. This chapter contends that the anti–immigrant sentiment in Russia pressures the government to support generous family policies.

I use a mixed methods approach to tease out the proposed relationship between xenophobia and family policies. First, I analyze family policy provisions in Russia from 1991-2013. Second, I employ nine elite interviews with selected bureaucrats, policymakers and members of Russian academia to determine the current scope of family policies, as well as the presence and extent of xenophobia's influence on family policies. Third, I conduct content analysis of official press releases, press-conferences, public opinion data, and academic journal publications.

Results reveal that anti-immigrant sentiment is prominent in Russian society, including at the top policymaking level. Policymakers on federal, regional, and municipal levels consider issues of immigration in their policy discussions about family policy provisions, such as increasing benefits in support of Russian families with children and restricting access to the regional Maternity Capital, land grants, family allowances, and slots in government preschools to local tax residents. Additional restrictive initiatives are undertaken by regional governments and concern labor market regulations, such as reducing foreign labor quotas altogether or reducing foreign labor quotas in front line service jobs. Analysis of public opinion and interview data reveals that the xenophobic pressures are channeled not only from the native population to the policymakers but also from the policymakers to the native born population via anti-immigrant political statements.

An important finding of this chapter is that xenophobia has penetrated all levels of society. Anti-immigrant sentiment is skillfully manipulated by pundits and officials for political gain. Some policymakers are actively using the fear of immigrants to justify policies that favor native-born populations. Officials are exploiting the anti-immigrant phobias to shift the public's attention from a variety of urgent problems that cause public discontent, such as corruption, lack of rule of law, rising utility prices, and lack of government preschools, among others. By focusing on the recent birth rate growth of the native population, and the successful implementation of additional family programs, the government hopes to capitalize on the positive pronatalist image of a caring state, while doing little to address deeper underlying socio-economic problems.

2. Background and Theory

Scholars and mass media rigorously explore the rising influence of xenophobia throughout contemporary Europe (Bustikova 2009; Kitschelt 1995; Mering and McCarthy 2013; Mudde 2007; Pelinka 2013; Wodak 2013). As the foreign-born population grows, so does the debate over the deservingness of foreigners to receive social welfare. Studies of public opinion find that the European public distinguishes between kinds of welfare recipients based on their perceived neediness. For example, studies show that programs for the disabled and elderly receive more support than programs for the unemployed (Oorschot 2006). The ethnic and cultural origin of welfare recipients also plays a role in public's approval of social benefit transfers. Applebaum

(2002) and Oorschot (2000) find that immigrants are seen as less deserving of social assistance in Germany and the Netherlands. Researchers also note that this gap of 'us vs. them' is wider in Central and Eastern Europe than in Western Europe (Oorschot 2006, 31; Oorschot and Uunk 2007, 72-73).

Public debates rage over the alleged abuse of social welfare by immigrants who are perceived to overburden the social welfare state, including education and health care, housing benefits, pensions, family support policies, and unemployment benefits. These debates allude to the assumptions that immigrant families are larger and poorer than local families and thus are using more benefits than locals (Hainmueller and Hiscox 2010; Kitschelt 1995, 260-261; McLaren 2001, 89). Various political actors across Europe initiated public debates about restricting access to social benefits to native populations (Boreus 2013; Krzyzanowski 2013; Wodak 2013). Support for such restrictive measures is found primarily among blue-collar, less educated workers. According to the 'ethnic competition theory,' the less education natives have, the more they fear that immigrants will create unsolicited competition for resources and jobs, thus stirring insecurities (Kitschelt 1995, 260-273; Oorschot and Uunk 2007; Waal et al. 2010, 352). Locals fear that competition from immigrants will lead to the reduction of wages (Hainmueller and Hiscox 2010) and welfare benefits (Hero and Preuhs 2007).

Research shows that fear of immigration is often manipulated by politicians and/or mass media (Fitzgerald, Curtis, and Corliss 2012). The propensity of populist politicians to demonize immigrants creates immediate exposure for those seeking easy political gain despite the fact that crime statistics do not support such accusations (McLaren 2001). Studies describe the common trend in Europe of demonization of Muslim immigrants for their cultural and religious practices (Krzyzanowski 2013) and fear of other non-Europeans or non-EU citizens (McLaren 2001). Boreus (2013) details the ways politicians in Austria, Denmark and Sweden use discursive discrimination in portraying immigrants in an unfavorable light as undesirable people that should be discouraged from entering and settling.

On the political arena, anti-immigrant sentiment is proliferated by radical right parties and organized radical nationalists (Bustikova 2014; Kitschelt 1995; Mudde 2005; Pelinka 2013). Many European countries have seen their party politics surprised by electoral successes of radical-right (RR) parties such as Jobbik in Hungary, the Freedom Party in Austria, the Danish People's Party in Denmark, the Golden Dawn in Greece, or the Sweden Democrats in Sweden. These parties are actively exploiting public fears of immigrants to further xenophobic agendas, such as limiting government benefits to immigrants, reversing the liberal asylum policies, and closing borders to immigrants (Jobbik nd; Koster, Achterberg, and Waa 2013; Waal et al. 2010; The Guardian 2014a). They strongly rely on nationalistic rhetoric, denial of rights to non-natives, and cultural conservatism through the exclusion of other non-traditional cultural elements, such as gays (Bustikova and Kitschelt 2009). RR parties are in opposition to the consequences of modernization such as urbanization and industrialization, which causes destruction of old familial ties and fragmentation of society (Minkenberg 2002; 2009). At the same time, the populist far right does not oppose redistribution and the welfare state but rather argues for selective redistribution of welfare to natives and limiting benefits to immigrants and religious or ethnic minorities. This phenomenon has been dubbed 'welfare chauvinism' (Brady and Finnigan 2014; Bustikova 2013; Kitschelt 1995; Koster, Achterberg, and

Waal 2013). Some recent examples include imposing 'length-of-stay' limitations for foreigners in Denmark (Koster, Achterberg, and Waal 2013, 5) or restrictions on the size and length of benefits for new immigrants in the UK (The Guardian 2014b).

Russian political and public discourse is commensurate with the rising European anti-immigrant sentiment. As the share of the foreign-born population increases in Russia, it expands the already complicated ethnic composition of Russia (Treisman 1997). It also increases competition for jobs and complicates the provision of health and educational services, while contributing to the tax burden on local residents. These consequences of immigration contribute to the recent popularity of right-wing populist ideology, public anti-immigrant riots, and a growing electoral success of the Radical Right (RR) parties. In the Russian parliament, the Political Party LDPR (formerly the Liberal Democratic Party of Russia) holds 56 seats (12.44%); it is the closest to the radical right stance projecting the "the imperial nationalist" message (Minkenberg 2009, 506). The LDPR builds its rhetoric around the past imperial glory of the Russian motherland and the need for the preservation of the rights of Russians.

Modern Russian nationalist ideas rest on three tenets: nation, empire, and orthodoxy (Biechelt 2009). Contemporary conservative political elites are actively cultivating nationalism by emphasizing national greatness, the preservation and triumph of the Russian Orthodox religion, a special way of life different from the West, the importance of the Russian state and its technical progress and innovations, and the country's unique and rich art, literature, music, science and architecture (Beichelt 2009, Devlin 1999). Most contemporary parties in Russia, including the ruling party, United Russia, manipulate public opinion with nationalist slogans, finding them beneficial for political gain as trust in political institutions, political accountability, and party loyalty is low (Bidder and Schepp 2011; Biechelt 2009, 515; Bustikova 2009).

The authoritarian regimes' goal is survival, thus they spend considerable efforts on efforts of diffusing social discontent. Researchers show that modern autocratic regimes are very sensitive to de-mobilizing social protest through coopting elites and mainstream political parties and utilizing democratic institutions, such as nominal multi-party elections (Gandhi and Przeworski 2007). Reuter and Robertson (2014) argue that by coopting the opposition's elites and providing them with rent-seeking opportunities, the Russian government effectively reduces social protest potential. I argue that in addition to the elite cooptation, the Russian government uses diversion techniques by switching the object of public anger from the government to migrants.

The anti-immigration hype in the most recent years focused the public's attention on immigrant crime, over-abuse of social welfare, education and health benefits, and the failure of immigrants to integrate into the society. Family benefits, among others, have been targeted by the anti-immigrant movement. Populists of different political flavors are arguing for excluding the immigrants from receiving state family benefits because immigrant children do not contribute to the reversal of the population decline trend for a variety of reasons, such as the failure to assimilate to the Russian language and culture, their temporary status in the country, and/or because of the wide ethnic and religious gap between native Russians and immigrants. The far-right Russian parties are arguing that family benefits should be channeled primarily to native Russians. This approach to family policy compliments the recent revival of state pronatalism. Pronatalism describes the state's effort to stimulate birth rates through family support programs. Childbearing,

according to this view, serves the higher purpose of ensuring national interests through supplying a steady flow of labor force. For the contemporary Russian populists on the radical right, it is quite important that the majority of the future labor force is native-born.

The Russian state currently provides a generous package of family policies that includes paid maternity and parental leave, family allowances, a birth grant, and various small cash and in-kind distributions that are distributed at both local and regional levels. The generosity of the Russian family policies can be traced back to communist rule. The Soviet approach to families was explicitly pronatalist resulting from the demographic challenges of population shortages of the newly-formed Soviet state. In the aftermath of World War I and a bloody Civil War that raged for four years following the 1917 Revolution, women were recognized as a valuable resource for ensuring a stable supply of workers for the socialist motherland. The Soviet government formally declared full emancipation of women, which, in practice, meant women and men alike were obligated to participate in the workforce (Avdeyeva 2011; Rivkin-Fish 2010). Women continued to face a full load of domestic and child-rearing functions in addition to gainful employment. To facilitate these dual responsibilities, the government enacted family policies to assist women in managing work-life obligations through the establishment of housing programs, nurseries and childcare facilities, prenatal and postnatal care, lunch programs and inexpensive cafeterias, laundry services, and afterschool programs. The expansion of these policies in the 1940s was further urged on by the devastation of World War II (Avdeev and Monnier 1995; Avdeyeva 2011).

Post-war, the government enacted a partially-paid maternity and unpaid parental leave in 1976. The subsequent measures included the adoption of family allowances and a paid one-year maternity leave. The government increased some programs in the early 1990s. Maternity leave was expanded to 140 days (20 weeks) in 1992, albeit compensation could not keep up with inflation. Paid parental leave, taken after the expiration of maternity leave, was expanded in early 1991 to last until a child reaches 1.5 years old. Despite the turbulence of economic and political transition, family policies carried through its major programs without substantial restructuring or scaling down the scope of programs. Currently, maternity leave provisions are among the most generous in Europe, at 20 weeks paid with benefits of 100% of previous salary (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Duration of Maternity Leave in the European Countries

Source: ILO, 1996

Most recently, the government adopted a comprehensive enlargement of family benefits in 2007. The first initiative changed the rules for parental leave benefits calculation. Under the new rules, eligible parents received up to 40% of their average salary during parental leave, with a cap for the highest wage earners. The second initiative is called Maternity Capital, a baby bonus program for families having two or more children. The program, which officially started January 1, 2007, entitles eligible families to receive a voucher amounting initially to 250,000 rubles, or approximately 10,000 US Dollars, for the birth of a second or a higher order child. The amount is indexed every year to reflect inflation. A family is eligible for the benefit only once. The Federal Law #256 *On Additional Measures of Government Support for Families with Children* restricts the application of the voucher to the following: improving housing conditions, i.e. serving as a down payment or paying down on a mortgage loan, investment into a mother's pension fund, or paying for a child's education (Russian Federation 2006). The third initiative, Birthing Certificate, started in 2006. It is a voucher program that compensates gynecologists, hospitals, and pediatricians involved in medical oversight of a pregnant woman from pregnancy to birth and infant well-visits for the first year of life (Russian Federation 2006).

In this chapter I trace the influence of public opinion about immigration on decisions about access and generosity of family benefits. Presently, family policies are at the forefront of the political debate as reversal in population decline has been announced a national priority vital to national security by President Putin. Family policies are also an important part of the national debate currently because of the increased share of immigrants in the workforce. Playing on irrational fears, pundits and media create xenophobic hype that may translate into welfare chauvinistic demands from the citizens.

Since the inception of the *Demographic Policy of Russia*, the reversal of the birth rate downfall became a priority on the government's agenda (President of RF 2012). Despite a seemingly easy fix for the population decline, immigration, the government prefers to focus on the costly long-term strategy of stimulating native birth rates, while

immigrants are demonized in mass media. The illustration of this trend is not only supported by documenting the generosity of family policy components, but also by the manifestations of welfare chauvinism expressed by mainstream parties and radical-right movements.

The anti-immigrant rhetoric is omnipresent in mass media, in interpersonal communication, and official statements. Stories of immigrant crime, abuse of welfare benefits, and the lack of socio-cultural adaptation to Russian societal norms fuel antiimmigrant phobias. Public manifestations of xenophobia mostly target immigrants from the Central Asia and the Caucuses, as those are most different in language and religion. Public opinion polls indicate that Russians fear immigrants and are supportive of tougher regulation of foreign-born populations. Irrational fears of losing the Russian identity due to a high concentration of foreigners lead Russians to express xenophobic attitudes and demand protection and preferences from the government that support the native population.

I argue that the recent rapid influx of immigrants provides a common enemy – the immigrant. The term for these labor migrants, '*gastarbeiter*,' carries a negative connotation, is adopted by mass media, and widely used in colloquial speech. It is a Russian adaptation of German word meaning 'a guest worker.' By invoking the negative image of a *gastarbeiter*, who commits crime and competes for jobs with the natives, the Russian political establishment shifts focus from the widespread corruption, inefficiency, and the overall lack of legitimacy of the government (see discussion in Beichelt and Minkenberg 2002, 10).

Experts point out that public spending, including spending on Russian families, is used as a diversion tactic for public dissatisfaction with the political system (email correspondence with Emil Pain 2013). Public programs ease citizens' insecurities caused by the growing lack of trust in the political system, corruption, and inefficient law enforcement that they feel cannot protect the citizens from the mass influx of immigrants. I hypothesize that the perceived threats of mass immigration create pressures on governments for expanding family programs.

Several research questions are posed for this chapter:

1. Is there evidence that xenophobia influences citizens' demands on public policy, specifically family policy, in Russia?

2. Are issues of national identity, immigration and anti-immigrant sentiment mentioned in government considerations, debates and the rhetoric of government officials regarding family policy packages?

3. What mix of family policy benefits does the state ultimately provide on federal, state and local levels?

3. Data and methodology

Data for this project were collected through a systematic review of mass media resources, official publications, videotaped press-conferences, and public lectures. To gain perspective on the views of Russian academia, I communicated with three Russian political scientists and demographers in person and via email. Additionally, I analyze a transcript of the Radio Svoboda interview on problems of immigration with Lev Gudkov, a prominent Russian sociologist, where he elaborates on xenophobia and links it to public policy decisions (Gudkov 2013). Six semi-structured interviews in Russian were conducted with representatives of the Russian legislative and executive branches on the federal, regional, and municipal levels. An English-language sample questionnaire can be found in Appendix G. In general, I asked interviewees about their views on: the demographic situation in the country, family policies, and the rise of immigration and anti-immigrant sentiment. The interviews were conducted in fall-winter of 2013 in several regions, including the Central Region, North-Western, Siberia, and the Far East.

The semi-structured interview method is particularly well-suited to the research question at hand. By allowing for a free-flowing discussion without the constraints of a structured interview, the researcher creates an inviting atmosphere for a respondent to express opinions in his or her own terms (Aberbach and Rockman 2002, 674). This research design is appropriate for the Russian cultural and political setting, as many public and elected officials are reluctant to participate in studies about immigration, a potentially inflammatory and politicized subject. Russian politicians and public officials are particularly hesitant to discuss these topics with an American-affiliated researcher (Goode 2010). As one contact put it, public officials prefer working with trusted members of pro-government media and tend to avoid collaborating with foreign researchers on sensitive topics, saying "the Russian political establishment shies away from foreign researchers as the devil avoids holy water."

An innovative aspect of this project is the creative use of digital resources to increase accessibility to inaccessible politicians and to fact-check or validate the statements of interviewees who may be suspected of "social desirability" bias in their responses.⁴² To remedy the lack of accessibility, I used press-conferences with highranking public officials published on the internet, videos of public speeches, and other publicly available content on the topics of immigration and family policy, to allow analysis of information in a setting that in some cases may yield more authentic responses than an original interview with a politically suspect researcher. These sources of information were used to corroborate information received from direct contact with public officials and members of academia. As Bennett and Checkel (2014) suggest, researchers should consider the "potential biases of evidentiary sources." Cross-checking the evidence strengthens the internal validity of the study (Gerring 2007).

I analyze the information using the method of process tracing. Process tracing (PT) involves investigating mass amounts of detailed information and carefully describing relevant events, usually in chronological order, with the purpose of establishing the causal chain of evidence from the hypothesized cause to the observed effect (Bennett 2010; Bennett and Checkel 2014; Collier 2011; Evera 1997; George and Bennett 2005; George and McKeown 1985; Mahoney 2012; Tansey 2007). Process tracing can be used to test existing theories or develop new theories that explain causal relationship between variables (George and Bennett 2005; Bennett and Checkel 2015; Bennett and Checkel 2005; Bennett and Checkel 2015; Bennett 2005; Bennett 2014).

Establishing causation depends on finding and describing "diagnostic pieces of evidence" (DPE) over time. Identifying DPE relies on prior knowledge, which can be in a form of existing conceptual frameworks, established patterns of relationship between phenomena, and existing theories (Collier 2011, 824). In this case, I aim to establish the

⁴² See, for example, Gudkov (2013), Mizulina (2011), Lekareva (2013), Sobyanin (2013).

causation between increased immigration and expanded family policy benefits by tracing the following causal chain of events: 1. Mass visible immigration to Russia leads to increased xenophobia, 2. Increased xenophobia creates protectionist pressures on politicians, and 3. Politicians respond to pressures from citizens by focusing on expanding and protecting programs and benefits for native-born Russian families. This causal chain is visualized in Figure 13.

Figure 13. Modeling the Interaction between Anti-immigrant sentiment and Family Policy



This case study is informed by the results of the quantitative study of the determinants of family policies in Central and Eastern European countries (Chapter 3). The large-n analysis confirms the importance of the presence of immigrants and xenophobia as significant determinants of family policy generosity in the Central and Eastern European countries where a share of immigrant population exceeds 5 percent. Process tracing in this study is utilized as a deductive tool of clarifying and elaborating on the direction of causality between xenophobia and family policies and an assessment of the direction of causality using the typical case of the Russian Federation.

As Mahoney discusses, process tracing can be used to show that the cause and/or outcome actually took place (Mahoney 2012, 574-578) and to infer a causal connection between causes and effects (Mahoney 2012, 578-583). The next section shows that both hypothesized effect (generous family policy) and cause (xenophobia) exist and unpacks the proposed causal connection between xenophobia and family policy through the analysis of data collected. I summarize the scope of government family policies, showing how they increase in generosity beyond the effect of parties, personalities, or the impact of economic transition. Also, I describe the origins, dynamics, and quantitative patterns of immigration in Russia and detail public opinion towards immigration, demonstrating a significant increase in xenophobia. To show causation, I trace the connection between immigration and family policy in Russia, triangulating methods using interviews and content analysis of politicians' speeches, public statements, and documents. I show evidence that connects xenophobia and family policies. Additionally, I discuss the alternative hypotheses and their applicability in an effort to strengthen the validity of the main argument and address the potential omitted variable bias that could arise if important theories are not discussed during the process tracing analysis (Bennett and Checkel 2014, Schimmelfennig 2014).

4. Family Policies in Russia, a Case of Renewed Pronatalism

The discussion below shows that the hypothesized effect, generous family policy, exists and argues the pronatalist character of the family policies. The importance of showing the pronatalist character of the Russian family policies lies in the definition of pronatalism. It is the state's effort to encourage childbirth for reasons of societal continuity and national security. For national security reasons, it is important for a pronatalist government to ensure that the native population constitutes the majority of the future labor force and army recruits. Alternative explanations of family policy generosity, gender equality and fiscal considerations, are considered and argued against. Formally, these explanations can be spelled as following propositions:

P1a: Family policy generosity is a function of the economy and budgetary constraints or lack thereof.

P1b: Family policy generosity is to promote gender equality

P1c: Family policy generosity is for pronatalist reasons

The shock of economic and political turbulence of the early 1990s in Russia correlated with a steep fall in birth rates. In a matter of a few short years, Total Fertility Rate (TFR) plummeted in the early 1990s reaching a lowest-low level of 1.17 children per woman in 1999, while the economy spiraled into hyperinflation peaking at 1490% in 1992 (WB). In 1992 alone, prices grew by about 20 percent, while real wages declined at a fast pace, shrinking consumption by some 40-50 percent (Amdsen, Kochanowicz, and Lance 1994, 44-45). Real GDP of Russia declined by 40% between 1990 and 1998 (OECD 2001; Amsden, Kochanowicz, and Lance 1994). A modest recovery achieved by 1997 with a 1% growth in real GDP was largely wiped out by the economic crisis of 1998. Social spending, as a percentage of GDP, continued to decline after 1994. It achieved a 30% decline from 1994 to 1998 (OECD 2001). Budget revenues declined significantly due to, among other factors, inflation, inadequate capacity to collect taxes, drop in production, and the uncontrolled expansion of the money supply (Aslund 1999).

The economic crisis that followed the economic policy of rapid liberalization, dubbed "shock therapy," and the pressure from the international lending institutions such

as the World Bank and International Monetary Fund to cut down budgetary obligations negatively influenced spending on social welfare policies. Social welfare was underfunded and overdue for reforms to reflect the new social and political circumstances as well as the economic realities of the open market (WB 1994; Orenstein 2009). Most social welfare programs were deemed inefficient while the strained budgets could not collect enough revenue to cover existing obligations. Pensions became underfunded as Yeltsin's government could not agree with the legislative branch, dominated by the Communist left, over the scope of the reform (Chandler 2001; Cook 2007; Dasai 2005; OECD 2001). As a result, pension arrears were common in the mid-1990s (Chandler 2001; 2004). A decade after the collapse of the USSR, Russia finally adopted a major pension reform in 2002 under the influence of World Bank recommendations. The new pension policy provided for several tiers of funding that included individually-funded defined contribution plans which could be invested by either private insurance plans or a government retirement plan (Chandler 2004; Eich, Gust, and Soto 2012; Williamson, Howling, and Marotto 2006). Government no longer was the sole source of old-age support; personal responsibility for future pensions officially became a part of future pension obligations.

During the prosperous years of the mid-2000s, pensions were regularly indexed while the government continued its pledge for supporting comfortable old-age. However, the world financial crisis of 2008 reinforced calls for the reduction of spending and streamlining government social welfare obligations. As a result of the economic crisis, the deficit of Pension Fund, the main depositary of funds, rose to 1% of GDP in 2010. The deficit could have been higher if the government had not increased payroll taxes from 20% to 26% in 2011. According to research, the Russian pension system relies heavily on transfers from the budget, as the Pension Fund revenue is unable to cover existing obligations (OECD 2011). Financial crises can substantially affect the ability of the government to finance pensions, while the population continues to age and life expectancy continues to rise. To date, the government continues debates over the raising of the retirement age starting in 2018. Presently, retirement age in Russia is 55 years for women and 60 years for men, which is currently substantially lower than in other aging societies of Europe (RBC 2015). However, this issue continues to be highly politicized, as evidenced by the political struggle in the State Duma during the 1990s between the Communists supported by the retirees and the reformers. In the months leading to the 2012 presidential elections, the then-Prime-Minister Putin decided to postpone the discussions of retirement age increase until after the elections (RBC 2015).

Healthcare obligations were severely underfunded in the early 1990s due to budgetary crises. The Russian Federation introduced healthcare reform in 1991 by adhering to the insurance-based system of care provision while guaranteeing free healthcare as a constitutional right spelled out in the Article 41 of the RF Constitution. The insurance is run by the state insurance fund (OMS), which is financed through payroll taxes (Popovich et al. 2011). As a result of the reform, funding responsibilities were devolved to regional and municipal levels without affording adequate financial resources. The dispersion of funding sources created a substantial problem of an unfunded mandate, which contributed to further deterioration of the quality of medical services, crumbling facilities, lack of basic medicines and equipment, and salary arrears on already meager compensation for doctors and nursing personnel (Maltzeva 2011).

Overall, spending on healthcare during the 1990s was reduced by almost 2 percent of GDP (OECD 2001, Table 1.7). The Russian government embarked on a major healthcare expansion only in 2006, during the economically prosperous years, financed by the international oil boom. The 2006 National Priority Health Project (*Natsionalnyi Prioritetny Proekt Zdorovie*) initiative focused on creation of high-technology medical centers, prevention of accident mortality and communicable diseases, reformed payment schemas, and decreasing the number of specialists in favor of general practitioners. The reform also introduced the so-called monetization of benefits, which sought to streamline and reduce a myriad of soviet-era state obligations, e.g. free prescription drugs (Popovich et al. 2011; Tompson 2007). Further reforms have been proposed in 2011 with the emphasis on further optimization of services and eliminating redundancies, modernization of facilities, reduction in length of hospital stays, and emphasis on outpatient care (RBCb 2014; RIA 2011).

Economic reforms and changing political party balance, however, did not affect the scope of the family programs, instituted during the Soviet regime. While during the transition period of the 1990s the benefits did not catch up with the galloping inflation, the government continued the provision of benefits without reducing or eliminating programs.⁴³ A vast majority of contemporary benefits were carried over from those offered in the USSR, many were expanded following the post-transition recovery, and more were added in 2007. The global economic crisis of 2008 did not affect the implementation of the last wave of generous family policy initiatives despite the negative

⁴³ Some CEE governments did reduce family benefits in the times of financial crisis. For instance, the government of Lithuania in 2011 cut maternity benefits citing budgetary constraints as a result of economic crisis (DELFI 2010))

growth of the Russian GDP in 2008-2009 (WB 2014). The Maternity Capital project commenced as planned in 2007.

The government announced the success of the family benefit package as early as 2010,⁴⁴ citing increased birth rates in Russia. President Putin expressed confidence that the government programs, including the Maternity Capital (MC), are "effective" in the reversal of population decline. Other government officials, regional Governors, and State Duma representatives concur with this assessment (Itar-Tass 2013; Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2011). Premier-Minister Medviev, for example, enthusiastically assessed the impact of Maternity Capital program in following terms:

I can tell you honestly, in my opinion, there are two instruments that turned out to be the best of all those invented in the last years in support of motherhood and childhood. They are Birth Certificate and Maternity Capital (Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2011, November 25).

The head of the State Statistical Agency, Surinov, argued that there is evidence that Maternity Capital increased birth rates starting in 2008 (Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2014b).

As of September 2014, 5.5 million Russian families received Maternity Capital certificates, its value increased from 250,000 Rubles in 2007 to 429,408.4 Rubles in 2014 (Pension Fund 2014). Table 10 (next page) details benefits available for families with children in Russia as of the year 2013.

⁴⁴ The program is set to finish in 2016.

Federal benefits	Year: 2013	Notes
Federal one-time	515.33 rubles	Must see an OBGYN before 12 weeks
payment for early		of gestation
prenatal visits		
Maternity leave	100% of salary or average of 23927.49 Rubles	Cash paid for 140 days: 70 days before birth and 70 days after birth
Baby bonus	13741.99 Rubles, one-time	Cash, no restrictions
<u> </u>	payment	·
Maternity Capital	429408.53 Rubles, one-time benefit	Spending restrictions: can be used on 1.Mortgage, 2.Mother's pension fund, or 3.Child's education after the baby is 3 years old
Paid Parental leave for a	Up to 40% of Mother's salary a	Cash payments without restrictions
baby under 1.5 years old	month, but no less than 2578 Rubles for the 1 st baby, 5200 Rubles for the second and subsequent babies.	
Parental leave to take	60 Rubles a month	Cash compensation is meager, more
care of a child 1.5-3		valuable is the job guarantee for a
years old	10000 2 11 0	woman taking the leave
Birthing Certificate	10000 Rubles, transfers to medical facilities	Transfers to medical facilities split between prenatal clinics (3000Rubles), hospital where delivery takes place (6000 Rubles), and pediatrician's services (1000 Rubles). Only Russian citizens are entitled to this benefit. The Certificate is issued at 30 weeks pregnancy (28 weeks if multiple fetuses).
Regional benefits		
Regional Maternity Capital	Granted for 3 rd baby Ranging from 25,000 to 300,000 with most common payment of 100,000 Rubles	Restrictions vary by region: from no restrictions on spending in Kaluga, Tyumen and Volgograd Oblast, to such restrictions as earmarking the funds for the cost of building a house, purchasing a vehicle, medical treatment, purchase of land, agricultural equipment, or running a gas line to one's home. Some states grant this payment for a higher order childbirth only, i.e. in Tuva families having a 5 th child are eligible. Other regional restrictions grant the money only to families adopting orphans, like in Bashkortostan.
Land Grants	Regions grant families with 3 or more children parcels of land for homestead	Substantial barriers to acquisition and use exist including long wait periods, difficulty of access to land due to remote location, and lack of available infrastructure around.

Table 10. Family Benefits in Russia in 2013

Regional parental allowance for the 3 rd child	Minimum subsistence level, averaging 6000 rubles, paid to families having 3 or more children born after December 31.2012 and who meet poverty guidelines.	65 regions with 'unfavorable demographic situations' are eligible for co-financing from the federal budgets for these programs. Recommended for implementation by Указ Президента Российской Федерации от 7 мая 2012 г. N 606 "О мерах по реализации демографической политики Российской Федерации." As of end of 2013, only several regions implemented this measure: Permskaya Oblast, Kamchatsky Krai.
Subsidies	Families with 3 or more children receive discount on utility payments up to 30%	
Family Child Allowances	Means-tested cash payments for children of school age (till 16 years old)	The size of payments depend on regional laws and are means-tested. As a rule, payments are higher for single- parent households. Large families, with 3 or more children, in some regions, qualify regardless of income. Benefit sizes vary: basic payment in Moscow Oblast is 800 rubles and 1500 for single-parent household. Basic payment in Primorsky Krai is 269.99 and 808.99 respectively.

Table 10. (Continued)

Note: exchange rate as of late 2013 is 33.5 Rubles to 1 USD.

The extant feminist research extends critiques of the Russian family policy labeling it as pronatalist and familialist (Saxonberg and Sirovatka 2006; Teplova 2007). The Russian state enforces the state vision of the family having two or more children with monetary compensation in form of a sizable baby grant and increased maternity pay. According to critics, a single program that prioritizes monetary incentives to give birth is not capable of solving quality of life problems and lack of opportunities to combine work and home life (Avdeyeva 2011; Temkina 2012; Vishnevsky 2012). Feminist literature argues that only comprehensive state efforts to enforce gender equality promote sustained birth rates. Where women are forced to choose between participating in gainful employment and having children, women frequently pick work, delaying childbirth or
foregoing it altogether. Market rigidities, workplace discrimination, lack of childcare and workplace security all work against women's decision for childbirth (Estevez-Abe 2006).

While the Russian state offers fully paid maternity benefits, partially paid parental leave, baby bonus and legally guarantees job protection for new mothers, it lacks commitment to enforcing all aspects of it. Especially insufficient is the effort to enforce gender equality and workforce participation opportunities for mothers of young children. The loss of career opportunities is a formidable obstacle for career aspirations as women of childbearing age take frequent breaks for childbirth, childcare and sick leave and thus often face hiring discrimination, loss of tenure and promotion opportunities (Gornick and Meyers 2008, 317). The shortage of available childcare, scarcity of non-government care opportunities, and an underdeveloped part-time and flexible employment job market are all real problems facing Russian families.

Women's employment data in Moscow show an 11% decline in the workforce participation of women with children (66% against 77% for women with no children). Workplace discrimination on the basis of gender and family status is widespread. Despite formal prohibition by the Labor Code, antidiscrimination efforts are insufficient. Employers are reluctant to hire young women or women with small children because of workflow interruptions as women take maternity or sick leaves (Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2008). Kozina (2009) reports that only 40% of study participants, who were working mothers, reported the ability to take sick leave to care for a family member without fearing negative consequences. Others, when needed, took unpaid leave (20%) or took leave with an obligation to work missed hours in the future (35%). The Labor Code guarantees sick leave; however, women often opt out of using it for fear of repercussions and job loss.

In private conversations with me, Russian women agree that gender bias is common and family discrimination is rampant in hiring and promotion decisions. Recent research shows that discrimination exists also on the perception level and is fueled by rumors. For instance, Pishniak (2013) argues that most women in 10 focus groups from four cities in Russia have heard of such discrimination, but few actually faced or personally witnessed such offences. The expectation of discrimination contributes to low expectation of fairness in the job market. It may contribute to an uneasy decision to forgo childbearing or seek employment, while having young children out of expectation of possible discrimination.

Additional efforts to taper discrimination were implemented in July 2013, making it illegal for employers to post gender and age requirements in job postings. However, government lawyers point to the rarity of workplace discrimination legal claims. Unless the violation is clear, e. g. firing of a woman because of pregnancy, it is very hard to prove discrimination at hiring or promotion decisions as employers do not openly explain their decision in gender or family discrimination terms.⁴⁵

Despite the feminist critique, the government remains committed to its pronatalist agenda. President Putin continues his offensive on falling birth rates by, among other tasks, ordering the Administration to reach TRF of 1.753 by 2018. This measure is part of a Demographic Policy package that also outlines steps to increase life expectancy to 74

⁴⁵ Private conversation with a government lawyer, fall 2013.

years by 2018, decrease infant mortality, support childbirth through the introduction of a generously paid parental leave for the third child, calls for measures to help women combine childrearing and work, including encouragement of part-time employment and training, and streamlining migration policies (President of RF 2012). Such declarations present a balanced approach but the reality of policy implementation reaffirms the predominantly pronatalist character of Russian social welfare with heavy emphasis on childbirth encouragement and a vision of women as caregivers (Teplova 2007). The pronatalist attitudes of the Russian government can be summed up by the words by Elena Mizulina, State Duma Deputy, and head of the Family and Children Committee:

There are people who want to work, have a career, and there are women – born to be Mothers. Therefore, let them give birth and nurture children, and the government must create all appropriate conditions [for it]... families with many children – it is a very sizable resource. I reckon, it is the golden stock in the Russian government's hands (Mizulina 2011).

It is not uncommon for the political and military establishment to view women as a resource for production of future workforce and conscripts for the armed forces (Rivkin-Fish 2003). For example, Valentina Matvienko, speaker of the Federal Assembly, upper chamber of the Russian Parliament argued: "Of course, for the country with such territory, families must be bigger. It is not a social, but an economic and political consideration. We must settle territories and develop the economy" (Pension Fund 2013).

To summarize, the collapse of communism did not produce a significant difference in the government's approach to showing support to women and families unlike many other social welfare programs such as pensions, healthcare, and housing⁴⁶ which were substantially reformed. On the contrary, family benefits and the government's attitudes toward families made a seamless transition from communism, having kept and expanded maternity and parental leave, family allowances, and other payments. The heavy emphasis on the monetary side of benefits confirms the uninterrupted continuation and expansion of state pronatalism – dubbed the "refeminization" of social policies. The government persists in defining the roles of women as caretakers and encourages women to take on such responsibilities (Borozdina, Zdravomyslova and Temkina 2012; Zakharov 2006).

The government's approach to family issues appears bifurcated. The state focuses mostly on monetary forms of birthrate encouragement, while lacking a comprehensive plan to address workplace gender discrimination and difficulties for women in earning an income while having children. It may be argued that these policies fit well into an overall conservative traditional orientation of the contemporary Russian society, such as the support of the traditional family, hostility towards surrogate motherhood projected by the Russian Orthodox Church, and the ban on LGBT propaganda. The traditional societal orientation has been reinforced recently by the President's call to return to conservative spiritual values during the 2012 address to the Council of Federation (President of the Russian Federation 2012). Such developments are possible because of the low issue salience of gender equality in Russia. Russian gender scholars note that the Soviet government granted women equal opportunities to participate in the workforce, thereby denying the necessity for social mobilization for gender equality. Thus, gender inequality

⁴⁶ See a review of housing reform in Cook (2000).

is not a political issue in contemporary Russia and family policy issues are not linked to the gendered understanding of social problems (Temkina 2012).

This section tells a story of pronatalism in Russia. The description of reforms and the current levels of family policy provision support the pronatalist argument. The alternative explanations such as gender equality and fiscal responsibility are considered and argued against. Economic difficulties, budgetary constraints, and external influences of the world business cycle may affect the levels of replacement but seem to have little effect on the overall scope of family programs. Unlike two other major social welfare policies described above, pensions and healthcare, the scope of family policies has not been altered in any substantial way. The contrast is even more evident when one considers the pension reforms which were undertaken, albeit with delay, against the stark opposition of the politically active segment of elderly voters. The target group of family policies recipients does not amount to a unified political force given vast differences in political views, age, and income. Despite formal declarations of the goal of gender equality and promotion of work-family balance, little is done to actually enforce even the existing laws. The rhetoric coming from the policymakers, officials, and church leaders supplements the conservative view of women as caregivers and their importance for future population reproduction. The government offers monetary benefits to mothers with young children, thereby aiming to supplement mothers' income and make motherhood more financially attractive.

5. Population Decline, Immigration and Xenophobia

This section describes immigration in Russia, its origins and dynamics, and the antiimmigrant sentiment in Russia. The evidence below shows that there is a significant number of immigrants in Russia, which supplies the necessary condition for the existence of xenophobia. Without the visibility of immigrants there would be no noticeable manifestation of xenophobia. I show that xenophobia exists on many levels, among policymakers, and among the general public. Immigrants' presence is connected to negative developments in society and the economy. Gastarbeiters compete with the local population for jobs, speak poor Russian, practice foreign religious publicly, and allegedly commit disproportionally more crimes. This section describes mass opinion towards immigrants and manifestations of xenophobia, which amount to evidence of the existence of xenophobia in Russia. Formally, I focus on the following propositions of observable conditions:

Proposition 2: There are a large number of immigrants in Russia.

Proposition 3: Xenophobia is growing in society.

Proposition 4: Xenophobia is prominent in the government and among policymakers.

As the USSR broke down, the Russian Federation (RF) faced problems of declining population and plummeting birth rates. Fertility rates started their free-fall in 1988, as families reacted to the economic difficulties of Perestroika. The decline in TFR continued for almost a decade, bottoming out in 1999 (Figure 14). The population growth in the RF has been negative since 1993 and only in 2013 did it show a positive population dynamic (Figure 15). According to the Russian Statistical Agency, Russia recorded positive population growth of 13,000 in 2013 for the first time since the collapse of the Soviet Union (Rosstat 2013).



Figure 14. Total Fertility Rates (TRF) in Russia 1980-2010.

Source: World Bank



Figure 15. Rate of Population Growth in Russia

Source: Russian Statistical Agency

The positive population growth rate in the recent years can be explained by a

combination of factors, such as an increase in life expectancy due to better health

practices among men and women, decreased mortality rates due to improved automobile safety and better emergency care for victims of traffic accidents, a decrease in mortality due to better treatment of tuberculosis and cardiovascular disease, and a fall in infant and maternal mortality due to prenatal and infant screening and investments in building new cutting-edge neonatal centers across Russia. Many of these initiatives were realized under the umbrella of the *National Priority Health Project* launched in 2006 by President Putin (RIA 2009, Itar-Tass 2013, Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2014a).

In the first several years following the dissolution of the USSR, the decreasing birth rate was offset by the repatriation of hundreds of thousands of ethnic Russians, who found themselves unwelcome in the former USSR republics and moved back to Russia to escape violence and instability. At least half of all the ethnic Russian population left conflict-torn Tajikistan and the Caucasian Republics by 1995. About 40% of all Russian repatriates came from Kazakhstan in 1990-2001. However, repatriation of ethnic Russians slowed significantly by 1995 and all but dried up by 2001: 612,400 Russians returned from the former USSR republics in 1994 and only 76,900 compatriots repatriated in 2001 (Vishnevsky 2002, 5.4.3).

As the Russian economy picked up pace following the recovery of the 1998 financial default, it attracted migrant workers from former Soviet satellite countries. This wave of immigration was different from the repatriation migration. Migrants from Central Asia are the fastest growing group. According to the Federal Migration Services (FMS), most migrants currently working in Russia are from the Central Asian Republics: 2.3 million Uzbeks, 1 million Tajiks, 553 thousands Kazakhs. Additionally, migrants from Ukraine and Moldova account for another 2 million migrants (Federal Migration Service 2013). Scholars stress a substantial level of illegal, or "irregular," migration in Russia between 3 and 5 million (Ivakhnyuk 2009, 51' Zaionchkovskaya 2014).

Researchers stress that comprehensive long-trend migration data is not available because the Russian federal government has not collected comprehensive until recently. Prior to 2011, data on immigrants is available based on experts' estimations or only a small segment of registered migrants. However incomplete, data on net migration, compiled based on the information collected during the 2010 Population Census, indicates the growth of net migration⁴⁷ in Russia since 2001, which was only broken by the economic recession caused by the 2008 world financial crisis (Rosstat 2012). Figure 16 illustrates the net migration trend.





Source: Rosstat 2012

Note: data for 2011 is based on the current registration information, not from Population Census.

⁴⁷ Net migration is the difference between immigrants and emigrants.

Since 2011, Federal Migration Services started collecting a more complete data that includes foreign students and migrants registered for short-term stays in Russia, defined as 9 months to 1 year (Zaionchkovskaya and Florinskaya 2014, Chapter 6). Table 11 details the numbers of immigrants in Russia for the period of three years.

	2011	2012	2013
Foreigners in RF: total	9,000,000	10,085,049	11,200,308
Foreigners in RF: legally employed	1,3000,000	2,685,108	2,482,235
Foreigners in RF: overstayed visas/ illegal	4,000,000	n/a	3,000,000
Compatriot settlers with families:	32,000	56,874	23,406

 Table 11. Immigrants in Russia 2011 - 2013

Sources: FMS (2012), Romodanovskiy (2013), Rossiyskaya Gazeta (2012)

Data presented in Table 11 and Figure 16 illustrate the growth in migration into Russia in the last decade. The influx of immigrants from Central Asia (CA) and the Caucuses caused the most tensions in society highlighting cultural, language, and religious differences between the natives and newcomers (Gudkov 2006). According to research, many of the Central Asian migrants are unskilled, speak Russian poorly, especially the youngest migrants, and often agree to perform work without social benefits or official contracts, which dampens salaries for the whole segment of the low-skilled job market (Denisenko and Varshavskaya 2014; WCIOM 2012; Zaionchkovskaya and Florinskaya 2014, 353).

Aside from job competition, a common complaint of the native population is that the CA migrants may carry contagious diseases such as tuberculosis and typhoid, having arrived from regions with poor public health. They are also associated with drug trafficking as some come from regions bordering Afghanistan, the largest source of opium in Europe. Central Asians differ significantly from the local population in religious practices. Russians are uncomfortable with manifestations of religious ceremonies that are uncommon for the modern urban environment, such as the public ceremonial slaying of livestock.

Scholars note that the burst of xenophobia in the 2000s can be connected to several societal and political factors which are related to the decreased democratic features of the current political regime in Russia. For instance, the notable reduction of freedom of the mass media squeezed out of public discourse opposing points of view. The views of government officials became the prevailing points of analysis of problems, absent meaningful debate from political opposition and academia. Mukomel (2011) discusses that in the early 2000s, Putin's government made a pivot towards linking the problems of immigration to the problems of national security, thereby signaling the importance of the issue. The 2002 migration law contained such stringent requirements that it effectively squeezed out a large segment of migrants to illegal status (Zaionchkovskaya 2014, 62). As of the early 2000s, the problems of immigration were referred to in the context of illegal immigration and mentioned in conjunction with crime and drug trafficking: "the consequences of drug trafficking touch upon the most sensitive spheres of life in our state, such as public health and potential of the nation, total crime, illegal migration and economic cooperation" (President of RF 2008). Mukomel (2011) discusses examples of Putin's speeches throughout the year 2004, which emphasized the dangers of illegal immigration, such as drug trafficking and crime. Such discourse initiated by government officials and further reproduced by a sensationalist and biased mass media became

prevalent since 2004, contributing to the rise in popular xenophobia (Gudkov 2006; 2013;

Mukomel 2011; 2014).

One of the recent examples of the heightened relevance of nationalism and the anti-

immigrant moods in contemporary Russian politics is the emphasis on the negative

consequences of immigration during the high-profile 2013 Moscow mayoral race.

Content analysis of election materials shows that xenophobia is a fertile ground for easy

political gain in Russia.

Candidate name and	Percent of	Position on Immigration			
party affiliation	electoral votes				
Alexei Navalny, RPR-	27%	Campaigned for visas for migrants from the Central Asia;			
Parnas		work for Russians first; no to migrant slave labor; migrants			
		need to be controlled, educated and integrated; reduce illegal			
		migration which negatively influences the labor market,			
		breeds crime and ethnic tensions.			
Sergei Sobyanin,	51%	Campaigned for visas for migrants from the Central Asia;			
United Russia		limit unqualified labor migration, closing of street markets			
		where migrants predominantly work; stressed the			
		importance of qualified labor migration and for the			
		significant reduction of the amount of migrants.			
Mikhail Degtyarev,	2.86%	Campaigned to fight legal and illegal immigration; eliminate			
LDPR		work quotas for immigrants: throw them all out. "We have 2			
		million Muslims, of them 1.5 million are illegal. We will			
		build no Mosques in Moscow, just [Christian] Cathedrals,"			
		Moscow as the capital for Russians only.			
Sergei Mitrokhin,	3.51%	Campaigned for fighting illegal migration; advocates			
Yabloko		criminal prosecution for employers hiring illegal immigrants.			
Nikolai Levichev,	2.79%	Stressed importance of throwing out illegal immigrants, but			
Spravedlivaya Rossiya		favored integration of migrants without letting them to create			
		'ethnic enclaves' in the city.			
Ivan Melnikov, KPRF	10.69%	Stressed importance of effective and strict migration policy,			
		drastic reduction of the number of immigrants and migrant			
		quotas, and visas for immigrants.			

 Table 12. Moscow Mayoral Race 2013: Candidate Positions on Immigration

Sources: official party publications, interviews of candidates, public debates Channel Moskva Doverie.

The often-cited incumbent mayor Sobyanin's May 2013 interview resonated well with the citizens of Moscow (RIA 2013). In his speech, Sobyanin argued that migrant workers from Central Asia should return to their homes once work is completed. He argued against attempts to integrate them into Russian society, emphasizing the temporary seasonal work they perform. Mayor Sobyanin said, "Moscow is a Russian city, and should remain such. Not Chinese, not Tajik, not Uzbek" (Nikolaeva and Bogomolov 2013). Sobyanin was not alone in his emphasis on the negative consequences of immigration. All registered candidates dedicated space in their official manifestos to the problem of increased immigration. Many of them projected harsh anti-immigrant, xenophobic attitudes (Table 12).

According to scholars, post-communist countries with unfinished democratic consolidation, high levels of corruption and fragile rule of law are fertile ground for the right-wing ideology.⁴⁸ The nationalist issue is an easy political trump card for political elites with weak legitimacy who "seek to enhance political legitimization via recourse to national traditions" (Beichelt and Minkenberg 2002, 10). Politicians in modern Russia are skillfully using the nationalist issue for political gain in the context of protecting the native population against the threat from the "others" (Gudkov 2006, 863-865). As I show in this paper, Russian nationalism flourishes on a public policy level and is sanctioned by the parties represented in the Russian Parliament. Calls for mass deportations, curbing social benefits, and demonization of migrants by equating them to criminals were frequent during the 2013 elections of the Moscow mayor and debates on the floor of the State Duma in 2013.

⁴⁸ Although, recent political developments Europe indicate that right-wing nationalism is not an exclusive characteristic of weak undemocratic regimes. Examples include the substantial electoral success of the Austrian radical right party FPÖ, overwhelming electoral success of Jobbik in Hungary, the growing political weight of the FNP in France, and radical right Swiss People's Party's success in 2014 anti-immigrant referendum.

A survey of 2013 media headlines about immigrants reveals a steady stream of negative messages about the crimes migrants commit.⁴⁹ Scholars emphasize that xenophobia reproduced by the mass media usually originated in the government offices (Mukomel 2014, 156). The mainstream media outlets kept immigration at the forefront of public consciousness throughout 2013 by emphasizing that immigrants commit a disproportionally high number of crimes, cause societal instability, and threaten the very core of Russian values and national identity through public practice of own religion and traditions such as mass celebrations of Muslim holidays on the streets of Moscow and other cities. There is an active discussion of the public health threat that migrants potentially pose coming from regions with active tuberculosis and other infectious diseases and often unable or unwilling to seek medical attention (Rosbalt 2013a).

Crime statistics were cited arguing, often out of context, that a sizable portion of crime is committed by migrants. For instance, in May 2013 Moscow Police reported that 20% of all investigated crimes in Moscow are committed by migrants and the Investigative Committee reported that every other rape in Moscow is committed by immigrants (Interfax 2013; Rosbalt 2011). Media also foments such issues as medical tourism: pregnant migrant women come specifically to Russia for free medical care. Another hot-button issue is the number of migrant children in Moscow schools and government-subsidized preschools. The issue revolves around the cost of educating children of illegal migrants, who do not pay taxes, and the difficulties teachers face

⁴⁹ For example, news articles titled: "One half of rapes in Russia committed by Gasterbeiters" or "[Governor] Poltavchenko: Crimes Committed by Migrants Rose by 49%" (Rosbalt 2013b)

providing instruction to children with limited knowledge of the Russian language and culture (Turovskiy 2013).

State Duma and Federation Council representatives are exploiting anti-immigrant sentiment by issuing xenophobic statements and proposing anti-immigrant legislation. Duma Representatives Aleksei Zhuravlev (Rodina) and Sergei Zigarev (LDPR) sponsored a bill in October 2013 that would limit the opportunities for children of migrants to take slots in government preschools only if their parents can prove that they pay Russian taxes and were tax residents for at least one year. Among reasons behind these restrictions the authors cite shortage of preschool slots for the native population, low educational levels of migrant children and cultural differences, such as problems that children from Central Asia have with taking directions from female teachers.

The authors of the bill argue that the influx of migrants and their children cause societal tensions (Duma FR 2013). The former State Duma representative, now adviser for the Head of Rodina party, Vera Lekareva argued that the "indigenous population" of Russia is *afraid for their lives* due to the influx of migrants (emph. Author). "It is the citizens of the Russian Federation [unhappy about the migrants] whose balanced and comfortable rhythm of life has been violated by the impudent invasion, ignorance of tradition and disrespect to our laws [by the migrants]" (Lekareva 2013).

City Mayors and municipal heads often were mentioned in mass media during 2013 in connection with anti-immigrant initiatives. As discussed above, the Mayor of Moscow Sobyanin openly opposed assimilation and integration programs for labor migrants, proclaiming that they are not welcome to stay in Moscow (Sobyanin 2013). In the summer of 2013, the municipality of Kronshtadt, a part of Saint-Petersburg, made headlines with a controversial experiment that replaced all migrant street cleaners with Russian citizens (RIA 2013b). The apparent populist initiative was favorably met by the citizens, as evidenced from public comments on news sites, news coverage, and personal conversations (The Village 2013). Additionally, two of my interview respondents expressed enthusiastic support for the initiative when asked to evaluate it.

The official position of the Kremlin on immigration, although inconsistent, strives to send a politically-correct message that the Russian Federation needs migrant workers because of the demand for workforce as a result of the economic growth and the drop in fertility. Such sentiment began in the 2007 when shortages of workers became apparent amidst the economic boom (Putin 2012). The rational economic argument is supported by such high-profile figures as President Putin, the Labor Minister Maxim Topilin, and the Head of the Federal Migration Services Konstantin Romodanovsky. However, Putin and his cabinet also give in to the popular anti-immigrant sentiment, when challenged by the public, by calling for removing migrants from working in sales or constantly calling for the tightening and restricting of migration quotas and migration laws.⁵⁰

In this information continuum, xenophobia flourishes. Public opinion polls indicate steadily rising popular xenophobia since 1995. For instance, the percentage of Russians who thought that there were a significant number of immigrants rose from 28/% in 1995 to 38% in 2003 (Gudkov 2006, 845). Since 2004, there was a 13% increase in the

⁵⁰ See, for example, Putin's remarks following the more-frequent high-profile crimes and ethnicallycharged public unrest riots, like the October 2013 ethnically-charged riot in Moscow's Birulyovo, the July 2013 conflict between migrant workers and police at the Matveevsky open-air market in Moscow, the 2013 ethnic riots in Pugachev or Nevinnomyssk.

number of respondents who agreed that migration laws should become stricter to hinder

migration of Newly Independent States (NIS) citizens no matter their country of origin

(WCIOM 2013).

According to the Russian Public Opinion Research Center's (WCIOM)

longitudinal data 2005-2013, positive attitudes towards large number of foreigners in

Russia fell between 2006 and 2008, while negative attitudes rose (Table 13).

Tuble 10.1 uble fittitudes of 1 of eightis	III Itubbiu					
Overall, do you think that a large number of foreigners is a positive or negative						
development for Russia?						
Percent	2006	2008	2013			
Rather Positive	21	15	14			
Rather Negative	69	68	74			
Hard to Answer	10	18	11			
Source: WCIOM (2013), The All-Russia Public Poll, N=1600						

Table 13. Public Attitudes of Foreigners in Russia

Table 14 illustrates the rise in anti-immigrant sentiment from 2003 to 2013 through

gauging the public opinion on immigration laws. The data indicates the growth in

restrictive attitudes towards immigration.

Table 14. Pu	blic Opinion about	Immigration	Regulations :	in Russia
Which statem	ents about the immigra	ation regulations	into Russia do	you
agree the mag	49			

agree the most.		
Percent	2005	2013
Immigration laws should be abolished so that every person can come live in Russia	8	5
Immigration laws should be softened, first of all, the registration procedure for migrants	14	6
Immigration laws should stay as they are now	17	20
Immigration laws should become stricter	40	53
Immigration should be stopped altogether	9	10
Difficult to answer	12	6

Source: WCIOM (2013) The All-Russia Public Poll, N=1600

Additionally, the growing salience of immigration stands out in the Research Holding Romir longitudinal survey of the most prominent societal problems: while in 2005 the problem of migrants was not mentioned, it was ranked among the top ten most urgent societal problems by 19% of respondents in 2013 (ROMIR 2013). Longitudinal studies support the growing sense of animosity towards foreigners among Russians (Table 15).

	/2002	/2004	/2005	/2006	/2007	/2008	/2009	/2010	/2011	/2012	/2013
Percent	07,	08	10	08	08	10	11	08)	08	60	10
Very often	3	4	4	3	3	2	1	4	6	4	6
Quite often	9	13	9	8	9	8	10	15	14	14	14
Seldom	29	29	25	27	32	32	30	25	26	32	39
Never/Practically never	59	53	60	59	53	55	56	52	49	44	37
Hard to tell	1	2	2	3	3	4	3	4	6	6	4

Table 15. Animosity to Foreigners among Russians

Do you currently feel animosity to people of other nationalities?

Source: ROMIR (2013)

Mass manifestations of nationalism expanded dramatically since the early 2000s through demonstrations like the yearly "Russian Marches"⁵¹ that often unite various ultra-radical nationalist groups under the umbrella slogans of "Russia for Russians" and demands for the protection of the rights of native Russians (Kommersant 2013). Public opinion polls indicate a growing familiarity of the mainstream Russian public with the slogans of the Russian Marches, such as "Russia for Russians." What started as a radicalized marginal movement for uneducated youth now has gained a tacit acceptance among educated middle class, pointing to the wider appeal of xenophobia to wider audiences (Gudkov 2013).

Opinion polls reflect Russians' increasing sense of insecurity and dissatisfaction with quality of life. By the autumn of 2010, pollsters registered growing insecurities

⁵¹ The so-called 'Russian Marches' are held yearly across Russia on November 4th during the national holiday the Day of National Unity. The first March was held in 2005. The participants support a wide variety of slogans under the umbrella theme of protection of the rights of native Russians. A leading Russian polling organization, Levada Center, 40% of polled Russians support the idea of such marches (Levada Center 2013a).

about the future, partially caused by the world economic crisis and partially by the perceived worsening quality of democracy (Gudkov 2013). Rosstat, the government statistics agency, reports that 34% of women and 32% of men say that insecurities about the future prevent them from having children (Nikitina 2013). My interview respondents echoed this notion. Five of seven respondents (two legislative representatives, two public servants and one mayor) stressed corruption, economic insecurities, lack of access to government preschools and housing shortages, poor quality health care, and education as major areas of concern for Russian families.

The interview respondents sounded out the common frustration over the large number and visibility of immigrants. However the levels of frustration differed from region to region. Xenophobia varied with the size, location and the economic development of a particular region, with more economically advanced localities exhibiting more xenophobia as expanding markets attract more migrants. The respondents' attitudes toward immigrants ranged from neutral to negative (Table 16).

Interview	Neutral	"don't see particular problems with migrants,"
responses		"no particular problems, not many migrants, they are mostly
reflecting		seasonal"
attitudes	Negative	"we need to reduce the amount of migrants so that the city becomes
toward	_	safer migrants parasitize on public benefits we should not allow
immigrants		immigrants to exploit our public benefits system,"
		"migrants do not respect the law; they are dangerous and impudent
		as every patriot I think that [local governments] should hire the Slavs
		first and foremost,"
		"there are too many of them and they are too visible,"
		"migrants use corruption to their advantage to gain scarce public
		resources for bribes, such as slots in government preschools without
		waiting,"
		"our goal it to push out all migrants from the labor market,"
		"we receive many letters from constituents with requests to limit
		immigration and deport migrants."

Table 16. Responses of Russian Government Officials Regarding Immigration

Given widespread xenophobia, I asked respondents to assess the overall preferences of the government and elected officials to the components of the official demographic policy. The Government's Conception of the Long-Term Socio-Economic Development identifies two main challenges to the stability of the Russian Federation: the fall in birth rates and the overall decline in population (Russian Federation 2006). The solution to these problems, according to the *Plan of Demographic Development*, consists of two parts: migration management and increasing birth rates (President of the Russian Federation 2007).

Six of seven respondents expressed definite opinions that the emphasis is, and should be, on stimulation of *native* birth rates while migration should be strictly controlled and/or drastically reduced. More than half of respondents pointed out the restrictions that are implemented in their regions to limit immigrants' access to family benefits while favoring the native population, such as the regional or city residency requirement of three to five years. Additional restrictive rules included requirements to prove that taxes have been paid in the region. These measures resemble the October 2013 initiative of Duma Representative Zhuravlev of the Rodina party to require immigrants everywhere to prove tax residency status before gaining access to government preschools (Duma 2013).

The data presented in this section establishes evidence of a substantial immigration presence in Russia (Proposition 2). The number of immigrants is the largest in Europe, they are omnipresent and cause public frustration (Levada Center 2013a; UN 2013). The growing penetration of xenophobia in Russian society is measured by public opinion

polls, evidenced by the growing popularity of the "Russian Marches," and assessed by experts. More so, experts agree that what once was an attribute of marginalized informal groups now receive open support by the educated middle class. The direct measurement of xenophobia through public opinion polls provide convincing evidence of growing xenophobia in society (Proposition 3).

The interviews and content analysis of mass media and public documents also support the claim that xenophobia is prominent among policymakers and bureaucrats (Proposition 4). This analysis presents evidence that suggests that policymakers are responding to the influx of immigrants by restricting access to benefits for immigrants, what the literature refers to as welfare chauvinism (Akkerman and Hagelund 2007; Kymlicka and Banting 2006). These prohibitive moves coupled with the reluctance of some elites' to integrate migrants and the calls to eliminate migration point to the antiimmigrant sentiment among the Russian political elite. Policy implementation clearly favors stimulating the natural growth of the Russian population given the negative attitudes towards immigrants. In this light, this research suggests that xenophobia stimulates government pronatalism as policymakers are seeking a way to address the negative consequences of population decline by stimulating the native birth rates.

6. Discussion and Conclusion

This chapter presents evidence sufficient to establish presence of both the outcome, family policy generosity, and the hypothesized cause, xenophobia. The Russian government supports a generous system of family benefits as outlined in Table 10. According to the United Nations and Russian Federal Migration Services, about 12 million immigrants live and work in Russia. The Russian society harbors a sizable amount of anti-immigrant sentiment as recorded by the longitudinal studies of public opinion towards immigrants (Levada-Center 2013, WCIOM 2013, ROMIR 2013) and my interview data.

Evidence from the field, public opinion polls, and the opinions of experts strongly suggest that xenophobia in 2013 was at its historical height in Russian society. Xenophobia channels dissatisfaction and distrust in government. It is "a rationalization of own insecurities caused by the sense of vulnerability against the tyranny of the police, unfairness of the legal system, and widespread corruption" (Gudkov 2013). The feeling of insecurity and vulnerability to threats of immigration prompts citizens to demand more privileges and programs for native Russians. Public spending on family programs is one of the areas highly valued by the Russian citizens. It is also a favorite populist project of the current Administration. Efforts are made to distinguish between native families and immigrants as possible recipients of family benefits. As shown above, State Duma Representatives and regional governments are active in introducing anti-immigrant legislation that restricts access to family benefits for immigrants.

Russian experts agree that the government is skillfully manipulating the fears of citizens in order to shift blame for the poor socio-economic conditions to the external enemy – the *gastarbeiter* – while focusing on the positive achievements of monetary compensation for families (Gudkov 2006; Mukomel 2014). In heated debates, the influx of immigration is juxtaposed to falling native birth rates. Fear mongers, ultra-conservative partisans, and xenophobes argue that immigration will inevitably bring

death to Russia, the Russian nation, and the Russian state,⁵² and that immigrants abuse the limited public resources like public preschool and school slots, medical services, and family benefits (Fontanka 2011).

This chapter shows the dual direction of xenophobic pressures: the bottom-up public expression of anti-immigrant sentiment is complimented by the top-down xenophobia from the officials at different levels of government. The experts I interviewed stress that xenophobia is artificially inflated by the mass media and politicians seeking approval. Russian capital, Moscow, was rocked in late 2011 and 2012 by the largest antigovernment mass protests since the collapse of the Soviet Union (Treisman 2014). President Putin's approval rating had fallen by nine percent in late 2011 (Levada Center 2012). Given the growing lack of support for the government, the increased spending on popular social programs, especially the much touted success of Maternity Capital, gives the government a chance to appear accountable to public grievances with immigrants and report a significant achievement, a feel-good strategy, in the uncertain times of growing prices, stagnated economy, and the deficiency of rule of law. For the government, it is also an efficient way to reach its own pronatalist goals of population stabilization.

I argue that xenophobia is an important consideration for current family policy discourse in Russia. It pressures the government's decisions on family policies from the two fronts: from population and from the bureaucrats and policymakers who embrace the anti-immigration rhetoric. While demographers and economists are in agreement that a sizable influx of immigrants is needed to maintain economic growth short term and to

⁵² For example, Zhirinovsky of LDPR claimed: "In 50-70 years they will replace us and [our land] will become one big Central Asia" (LDPR 2013). fontanka.ru/2011/07/28/128/

stabilize population numbers long term,⁵³ political elites focus on increasing monetary benefits to families while calling for limiting immigration. Xenophobia is a convenient smoke screen for such an economically-risky maneuver to focus on costly long-term projects of stimulating native birth rates, while immediate fixes to population stability through immigration are being demonized.

The current pronatalist agenda is about ideology as much as it is about birth rate. The government is intent on stimulating the native birth rate. Heated debates throughout 2013-2014 about extending the Maternity Capital program through the year 2016 illustrate the vacillation of the government between pragmatics who call for an end to the program due to budgetary restraints, and populists who lobby for the extension of the program until 2025, beyond its original expiration date, to pacify citizens (Rossiyskaya Gazeta 2014).

This chapter documents the relevance of immigration to family policy generosity. As my interviewees and media reports confirm, immigration and xenophobia are relevant for policymakers concerned with family policy implementation. Alternatively, one might argue that the generosity of family policies is a function of the health of the economy, i.e. GDP growth as measured in large-N quantitative studies (Gauthier and Hatzius 1997, Kingsbury 2014). However, as I show, even during the recent economic crisis, which started in 2008, the government did not divert from its course of generous spending on family policies: the amounts of Maternity Capital and the Birthing Certificate as well as family benefits were adjusted yearly for inflation. Therefore, the economic explanation

⁵³ S. Zakharov, personal correspondence.

fails to prove its importance even during the recent world economic crisis when GDP growth became negative in 2009.

Part 3 of this chapter convincingly shows that gender equality is not a primary driver of family policy generosity in Russia. The government bases its arguments on the pronatalist rhetoric of economic necessity, not gender equality. The President does make a point in mentioning the importance of the state supporting women in balancing workfamily obligations. But these remarks as well as the gendered social discourse are outside of the main focus of the government's family policy. Russia's efforts in enforcing antidiscrimination laws are insufficient and remain a low priority. As research shows, women are discriminated against based on gender and family status. Gender equality bears little importance for family policy generosity in Russia. Family policies are firmly grounded within a pronatalist framework of the state's need for resources and national geopolitical and demographic stability.

This chapter argues that family policies present a convenient tool for managing public discontent with the government. The ruling elites attempt to magnify the responsibility for societal ills, such as crime or public health, and shift the responsibility for problems onto the immigrants. Generous family policies are visible, tangible, and easy to understand. They make a positive impression of a caring state. The invocation of a negative image of immigrants helps the government to consolidate public support behind the initiative and appear accountable when touting the success story of the increased birth rate among those encouraged by the heightened support for families.

157

Chapter 5

Conclusion

The current family policies in CEE continue the provisions of paid maternity and parental leave, and family allowances inherited from the past communist regimes. But new policies have also been adopted. Birth grants, for example, are becoming a more popular measure as several CEE governments introduced the measure post-transition. Several European Union members have introduced paternity leave, a new family policy component not inherited from the Communist past. More research is warranted into the impact of different types of family policies not analyzed in this dissertation, such as birth grants and other forms of family assistance, such as tax credits, as well as policies aimed at helping women reconcile work and care through the development of part-time employment, tax breaks to companies which employ young mothers, and training and retraining opportunities for women who take substantial time off work to care for young children. This dissertation focuses on family policies inherited by the Central and Eastern European countries from the Communist regimes and the interplay between policy and fertility rates in these countries.

Fertility is proven to be an important policy and political consideration. As I show in Chapter 2, low fertility can bring about population decline, which can lead to a drop in economic output. Thus, low fertility could be considered a national security priority, given that modern nations strive for economic prosperity and competitiveness in the global balance of powers. Immigration can be a viable policy solution to declining birth rates, but has proven to be a formidable and complicated task in Western Europe. Immigrants of different religious and cultural backgrounds can be difficult to integrate causing spikes in nationalism and popular xenophobia, and lead to the insurgence of electoral populist radicalism.

Central and Eastern Europe displays high levels of xenophobia due to the ethnic tensions inherited from the post-WWII European divisions and state formation. In the EU-member countries, anti-immigrant stances have an additional EU-skepticism flavor: protection of national identity and national markets from the influence of the EU (Vachudova 2008). Falling fertility contributes a new flavor to the conservative nationalist rhetoric – the threat of national decline. In this light, family policies become the talking point of conservatives, even radical conservatives who emphasize national greatness, traditional family values, and traditional gender roles. Women are the big losers in this political dynamic, as rightly pointed out by scholars (Saxonberg and Sirovatka 2006; Saxonberg 2014, LaFont 2001). While during Communism family policies were the subject of the greater Communism-building project, after the transition family policies were hijacked by nation-building projects. Gender equality issues, which could have taken the lead as the center goal of family policies, are rarely considered. As such, communist legacies are pervasive in the region, not only in their long-lasting impact on party politics and the formation of civil society, but also on the issues of gender equality. As discussed in Chapters 3 and 4, current leaning of the many CEE countries tilts toward familialism, which focuses on traditional gender roles within families.

Family policies also prove to be a salient policy issue for traditional conservatives. This saliency contradicts the common understanding of the Right parties

159

as socially conservative and Left parties as the champions of social welfare programs. Because family policies are used as instruments of nation-building, they appeal to the parties on the Right, pointing to an interesting policy phenomena. I argue in this dissertation that family policies' appeal to conservatives and radical populists is in supporting native families to ward off the threat of being overcome by immigrants. Chapter 4 provides an example of the use of family policies by populists in Russia. This analysis untangles the evidence in support of the argument that xenophobia is an important consideration for family policy generosity in contemporary Russia. It informs future research opportunities into the contemporary European societies that share some of the characteristics of contemporary Russia. The electoral and popular support for xenophobic politicians and radical-right parties may make the issue of immigration ever more important when it comes to the redistribution of social welfare benefits across Europe that attracts more immigrants every year.

The results presented in this work highlight both the differences and similarities between the post-Communist countries and the West. I show that party politics does matter, but matters in a particular way that needs to be further explored. My results affirm existing studies which suggest that social welfare policies appeal to Right parties in postcommunist societies (Tavits and Letki 2009, Lipsmeyer 2002). Existing studies show that most conservative Right parties are able to push through and implement more generous family policies (Rat, Szikra, Inglot 2013). However, it is difficult to measure their influence as often far right parties are small and participate in policymaking as parts of larger coalitions, given that most CEE countries have adopted some variation of the proportional representation institutional design. Additionally, lack of reliable election

160

data for non-EU member countries make large-N comparisons difficult. More research is warranted on both country level and a large-N comparative scale throughout postcommunist Eastern Europe to discern the influence of Right parties and radical-right parties and the ways these political agents conceptualize and operationalize nationalism, populism, and xenophobia as applied to social policies, and family policies in particular.

Finally, this dissertation contributes to the understanding of the complexities of the countries that are grouped under Central and Eastern Europe. Within the region, there are member states with very different packages of family policies, economic characteristics, party competition, and demographic dynamics. More work is warranted into the small-n comparative studies of post-communist countries, especially on the topic of the influence of xenophobia on social welfare policies.

Variable	Descriptives	Source
Total Fertility Rate(TFR): the average number of children an woman would bear over the course of her lifetime if current age-specific fertility rates remained constant throughout her childbearing years	Mean=1.70; min=1.09; max = 3.9; N=450	World Bank, Eurostat, Council of Europe, Transmonee, PRB.
Age at 1 st birth: mothers' mean age at first childbirth	Mean=24.22; min=21; max=28.8; N=301	UNECE Transmonee Database, Eurostat
Parental Leave Impact: measure of impact of parental leave as a percent of average wages	Mean=33.32; min=0; max=113; N=439	Data on parental leave length and payments compiled from various sources, including national statistical offices and Social Security Programs Throughout the World (SSPTW).
Maternity Leave Generosity: wage compensation measured in constant purchasing parity dollars (ppp) * length of maternity leave	Mean=2627; min=315.5; max=11007.9; N=327	Data on maternity leave length and payments compiled from various sources, including national statistical offices and Social Security Programs Throughout the World (SSPTW).
Childcare Availability: Pre-primary enrolments (net rates, percentage of population aged 3-6)	Mean=65.89; min=28.4; max=93.2; N=328	UNECE Transmonee, national statistics
Family Allowances: measure of impact of allowances for 1 st child as a percent of average wages	Mean=7.64; min=5.75; max=9.31; N=327	Data on family allowances compiled from various sources, including national statistical offices and Social Security Programs Throughout the World (SSPTW).
GDP Growth: annual growth of the Gross Domestic Product	Mean=1.59; min=-32.12; Max=13.3, N=380	World Bank, World Development Indicators
Unemployment: registered unemployment	Mean=9.18; min=0; Max=27, N=307	UNECE Transmonee, ILO, WDI, national statistics

Appendix A Data Description: Determinants of Fertility

Appendix B

	Total	Fertilit	y Rates	5			
	1981	1985	1990	1995	2000	2005	2010
Poland	2.24	2.33	2.04	1.61	1.35	1.24	1.38
Hungary	1.88	1.83	1.84	1.57	1.32	1.31	1.26
Czech	2.00	1.95	1.89	1.28	1.14	1.28	1.49
Slovak	2.29	2.26	2.09	1.52	1.30	1.25	1.40
Bulgaria	2.01	1.95	1.81	1.23	1.26	1.32	1.49
Albania	3.99	3.82	3.22	2.60	2.24	1.76	1.60
Macedonia	2.45	2.34	2.10	2.13	1.88	1.46	1.50
Croatia	1.99	1.82	1.63	1.58	1.39	1.41	1.50
Serbia	2.14	2.22	2.10	1.89	1.48	1.45	1.40
Slovenia	1.99	1.71	1.46	1.29	1.26	1.26	1.57
Moldova	2.45	2.75	2.39	1.74	1.30	1.22	1.30
Romania	2.36	2.31	1.84	1.34	1.31	1.32	1.30
Russia	1.91	2.05	1.89	1.34	1.21	1.29	1.56
Ukraine	1.93	2.06	1.85	1.40	1.10	1.20	1.43
Belarus	2.02	2.09	1.91	1.39	1.31	1.21	1.40
T	2 07	0.10	2.04	1.00	1.00	1 50	1.60
Estonia	2.07	2.12	2.04	1.32	1.38	1.50	1.63
Latvia	1.88	2.08	2.02	1.25	1.24	1.31	1.30
Lithuania	1.98	2.10	2.03	1.55	1.39	1.27	1.55
A	0.07	2 40	251	2.00	1 (0	1 70	1 70
Armenia	2.37	2.48	2.54	2.00	1.09	1.72	1.70
Georgia	2.25	2.27	2.15	1.54	1.40	1.39	1.81
Azerbaijan	3.18	2.91	2.74	2.29	2.00	2.30	2.20
Turkmenistan	4 92	4 67	4 35	3 51	2 84	2 62	2 50
Tajikistan	5 60	5 49	5 18	4 59	4 03	3.61	3 40
Kvrgvzstan	4.05	4.09	3.69	3.31	2.40	2.50	2.80
Uzbekistan	4.97	4.54	4.07	3.60	2.58	2.36	2.80
Kazakhstan	2.95	3.08	2.72	2.26	1.80	2.22	2.70

Total Fertility Rates in CEE and FSU, 1981-2010

Source: World Development Indicators, National Statistics Offices.

Appendix C

Variable	Descriptives	Source
Median Voter : left-right ideology position of the government based on the median voter preferences.	Mean=2.78; min=- 16.89; max = 44.05; N=250	Manifesto Project, Klingemann et al (2006), Volkens et al 2012
Women in Parliament : proportion of women members of national parliaments.	Mean=13.61; min=3; max=32; N=314	Inter-Parliamentary Union (www.ipu.org)
Xenophobia: anti-immigrant sentiment measured by response to the survey question whether respondents would not want their neighbors to be immigrants and/or foreign workers. Natural logarithm of the measure used.	Mean=20.80; min=6; max=40.6; N=250	WVS (2009), EVS (2011)
Migrant Stock : percent of foreign born population in a country. Natural logarithm of the measure used.	Mean=7.53; min=0.25; max=24.34; N=315	World Bank, World Development Indicators (WDI) Database
Female Employment: percent of women in employment. Natural logarithm of the measure used.	Mean=46.93; min=39.50; max=51.10; N=426	World Bank, World Development Indicators (WDI) Database
Family Policy Generosity: length × amounts paid at wage replacement rate in ppp dollars. Natural logarithm of the measure used,	Mean=7.64; min=5.75; max=9.31; N=327	Data on maternity leave length and payments compiled from various sources, including national statistical offices and Social Security Programs Throughout the World (SSPTW).
Left Government: Social democratic and other left-wing parties as a percentage of parliamentary seats of all government parties, weighted by the number of days the government was in office in a given year	Mean=38.44; min=0; Max=100, N=202	CPDSIII, 1990-2011: Klaus Armingeon, Romana Careja, David Weisstanner, Sarah Engler, Panajotis Potolidis, Marlène Gerber

Data Description: Determinants of Family Policy

Appendix D Robustness Checks

-	(I) Full	Sample	(III) FU	-members	(IV) FI	I-members
	(1) 1 un	Sample	(III) LU	-memoers	(1) EC	
	A-B	A-B	A-B	A-B	A-B	A-B
	Robust	Robust	Robust	Robust	Robust	Robust
			EU	EU	EU	EU
		Dependent V	Variable: ∆C	Benerosity		
Generosity _{t-1}	-0.041**	-0.043**	-0.063*	-0.069*	-0.062	-0.154***
	(0.017)	(0.021)	(0.033)	(0.038)	(0.050)	(0.047)
ΔGDP growth	0.009***	0.009***	0.006**	0.006**	0.006**	0.005**
U	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.002)
GDP growth t-1	0.011***	0.011***	0.008	0.009	0.007	0.005
est growing	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)
ΔTFR_{ln}	0.678***	0.663***	0.725**	0.716**	0.687**	0.370
	(0.220)	(0.208)	(0.307)	(0.305)	(0.295)	(0.309)
$\mathbf{TFR}_{1n,t,1}$	0.254***	0.234***	0.270**	0.228*	0.303*	0.102
	(0.083)	(0.075)	(0.125)	(0.117)	(0.159)	(0.167)
AWomPARI	0.001	0.001	0.004*	0.004	0.002	0.003
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.002)	(0.003)
WomPARI .	0.002)	0.002)	0.011***	0.010**	(0.002)	0.002/
	(0.000)	(0,000)	(0.002)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.003)
AVananhahia	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.002)
	(0.003)	(0.003)	-0.001	-0.001	(0.001)	(0.002)
Vananhahia	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Xenopnobla t-1	0.001	(0.001)	-0.001	-0.001	-0.003	-0.002
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)
$\Delta Fem EMPL_{ln}$	2.003*	2.088*	2.180*	2.169	2.053*	0.924
	(1.098)	(1.215)	(1.265)	(1.371)	(1.161)	(1.173)
FemEMPL _{ln t-1}	1.021	0.893	1.630	1.426	1.755	0.720
	(1.142)	(1.125)	(1.454)	(1.433)	(1.122)	(0.763)
∆Med Voter	-0.0004	-0.001	0.002	-0.001	· /	
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)		
Med Voter	· /	0.003		0.005		
1991-95		(0.003)		(0.004)		
Med Voter		0.001		0.002		
1004 00		(0.002)		(0.003)		
Med Voter		0.001		0.005		
2001.05		(0.001)		(0,002)		
Med Voter		0.002		(0.004)		
		(0.002)		(0.005)		
2006-10 AMigrant%	0.070	0.078	-0.056	-0.035	-0.021	-0.078
anvirgi ailt %	(0.109)	(0.078)	(0.122)	-0.035	-0.021	-0.070
Migrant0/	(0.108) 0.021*	(0.111)	(0.122)	(0.133)	(0.110)	(0.118)
wingrant% t-1	0.021^{*}	0.020^{*}	0.014	0.015	0.017	-0.001
N # 137 ·	(0.011)	(0.010)	(0.016)	(0.0152)	(0.020)	(0.014)
Ned Voter t-1	0.001		0.003			
	(0.002)		(0.003)	0 00 ·	0.05-	0.077
$\Delta \text{Generosity}_{t-1}$	-0.005	-0.004	0.001	0.004	-0.005	0.008
	(0.048)	(0.043)	(0.062)	(0.058)	(0.080)	(0.074)

Table D.1 (Co	ntinued)					
ΔLeft GOVT					-0.001***	-0.0002
					(0.0004)	(0.0002)
Left GOVT t-1					-0.001	
					(0.001)	
Left GOVT						-0.001**
1991-95						(0.001)
Left GOVT						-0.001
1996-00						(0.001)
Left GOVT						-0.001*
2001-05						(0.001)
Left GOVT						0.002
2006-10						(0.001)
Constant	-3.892	-3.365	-6.024	-5.166	-6.450	-1.578
	(4.304)	(4.263)	(5.568)	(5.509)	(4.302)	(2.707)
Observations	190	190	143	143	142	142
Countries	14	14	10	10	10	10

Standard errors in parentheses: *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 Note: three models are presented here model (I), which represents the whole sample, and the models (III) and (IV), which represent the EU-member countries. This robustness check aims to support the validity of the political variables. Specifically, the results reported above support the notion that Left parties spend less on family policies in the CEE.

Appendix E Modeling Simultaneity

Figure E1. Modeling Simultaneity

Total Fertility Rates (TFR)	Family Policy Generosity
Maternal Age at First Birth	GDP Growth
Parental Leave Compensation	Total Fertility Rates
Maternity leave compensation	Women in Parliament
Child Care Enrollment	Xenophobia
GDP Growth	Female Employment
Unemployment	Measure of Left Parties Strength
Family Allowances	Migrant Stock

Simultaneous Equations Model

To study the determinants of generosity in CEE, I develop the following simultaneous equations model:

Fertility_{t,i=} Σ Economic Variables_{t,i} + Σ Family Policies_{t,i} + Σ Demographic Variables_{t,i} + $\varepsilon_{t,i}$

Policy Generosity = Σ Political Variables_{i,t} + Σ Demographic variables_{i,t} + Σ Xenophobia_{i,t} + Economic stability_{i,t} + $u_{i,t}$.

Where:

 $\Sigma Economic Variables 1_{t,i=}$ GDP growth and Unemployment (first difference and two-year lags)

 Σ *Family Policies*_{t,I}=Maternal and Parental leave compensation, Family allowances and Childcare enrollment (first difference and two-year lags)

 $\Sigma Demographic Variables I_{t,i}$ = Maternal Age at first birth and lagged fertility rates (first difference and two-year lags)

 Σ *Political Variables*_{*i*,*t*} = Measures of partisanship in national parliaments and Percent of women in national parliaments (first difference and one-year lag)

 $\Sigma Demographic variables 2_{i,t}$ = Total fertility rates and Female employment (first difference and one-year lag)

 Σ Xenophobia_{i,t} = Measure of Xenophobia against neighbors-immigrants and Migrant Stock (first difference and one-year lag)

*Economic stability*_{*i*,*t*} =GDP Growth

 $\varepsilon_{t,i}$ and $u_{i,t}$ are the error terms.

In this model, first-difference of TFR is an endogenous variable, it is determined jointly within the system (Angrist and Pischke 2009, 120). The estimation of simultaneous equations requires that the each equation in the system is identified, meaning that each equation should not produce the "same probability distribution of the endogenous variables" (Chow 1974, 4-5). The conditions for identifying equations stipulate that the reduced form for Generosity must contain at least one term not included in its original equation (Wooldridge 2010, 242). The model as a whole is identified if each equation in it is identified (Gujarati 2003).

$$\Delta G = \alpha_2 \Delta Gr_{i,t} + \alpha_3 Gr_{i,t-1} + \alpha_4 \Delta F_{i,t} + \alpha_5 F_{i,t-1} + \alpha_6 \Delta W_{i,t} + \alpha_7 W_{i,t-1} + \alpha_8 \Delta X + \alpha_9 X_{t-1} + \alpha_{10} \Delta Fem + \alpha_{11} Fem_{t-1} + \alpha_{12} \Delta Gov + \alpha_{13} Gov_{t-1} + \alpha_{14} \Delta Ms + \alpha_{15} Ms_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$

$$\Delta F_{i,t} = \beta_1 F_{t-2} + \beta_2 \Delta A_{i,t} + \beta_3 A_{i,t-2} + \beta_4 \Delta P_{i,t} + \beta_5 P_{i,t-2} + \beta_6 \Delta M_{i,t} + \beta_7 M_{i,t-2} + \beta_8 \Delta C_{i,t} + \beta_9 C_{i,t-2} + \beta_{10} \Delta G r_{i,t} + \beta_{11} G r_{i,t-2} + \beta_{12} \Delta U_{i,t} + \beta_{13} U_{i,t-2} + \beta_{14} \Delta F a_{i,t} + \beta_{15} F a_{i,t-2} + u_{i,t}$$
Appendix F

Sample Interview Questions.

The interviews were conducted in the fall-winter 2013. I selected candidates using the snowballing method when interviewees recommending someone else for contact. The first interview was granted through a personal contact with the following interviewees referred by the study participants. I also made some cold-calling to the regional parliaments, which yielded two interviews with policymakers responsible for social welfare and family policies, a 70% rejection rate. The interviews were conducted in person, via email, telephone and Skype videoconference. On average, the interview lasted 25-30 minutes.

-The Government's Conception of the Long-Term Socio-Economic Development identifies two main challenges to the stability of the Russian Federation (FR): the fall in birth rates and the overall decline in population. The solution to these problems, according to the Plan of Demographic development, is in migration management and increase in birth rates. In your opinion, what is a preference between these solutions among the government administration and politicians? Among Russian citizens?

-Could you describe a typical public complaint about family benefits?

-Could you describe a typical public complaint about immigrants? -Tell me what your organization did/plans on doing in response to the increasing number of migrants in the region/city/federal level (the territory will be adjusted depended on the source affiliation).

- The [Russian Federation] National Strategy In the Interest of Children for 2012-2017 mentioned the "inequality of the subjects of the Russian Federation in the volume and quality of services for children and their families" as one of the main problems for children's policies. In your opinion, what exactly needs to happen on the federal level/state [oblast]/city[municipality]?

-The mass media, including official media, often reports on the immigration issue, mainly in the unfavorable light of crime by migrants. Have you experienced in you work antiimmigrant demands from citizens and if so how did this affect your official business?

-Could you comment on the observation that the main government effort for stabilizing population growth should focus on increasing birth rates rather than increasing immigration?

- Could you please comment on the recent petition to the Legislative Assembly of Saint Petersburg about the unduly strict registration requirements for families wishing to apply for child benefits? The authors of the petition implied that these restrictions are aimed at limiting immigrant's eligibility.

- Could you please comment on the July 2013 experiment by the town of Kronshtadt where migrant street cleaners were replaced by native Russians?

References

- Aberbach, Joel D., and Bert A. Rockman. 2002. "Conducting and Coding Elite Interviews." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 04 (December): 673–76.
- Achen, Christopher. 2000. "Why Lagged Dependent Variables Can Suppress the Explanatory Power of Other Independent Variables." Paper presented at Annual Meeting of the Society for Political Methodology, UCLA.
- d'Addio, Anna and d'Ercole, Marco. 2005. "Trends and Determinants of Fertility Rates: The Role of Politics," *OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers*, No. 27, OECD Publishing. Doi: 10.1787/880242325663
- Adida, Claire, David Laitin, and Valfort. "Terror in France: Implications for Muslim Integration." *The Washington Post*, January 14, 2015.
 - http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/monkey-cage/wp/2015/01/14/terror-infrance-implications-for-muslim-integration/. (Accessed January 15, 2015).
- Adsera, Alicia, and Alicia Menendez. 2011. "Fertility Changes in Latin America in the Context of Economic Uncertainty." *Population Studies* 65(1): 37–56.
- Ahn, Namkee, and Pedro Mira. 2001. "Job Bust, Baby Bust? Evidence from Spain." Journal of Population Economics 14 (3): 505–21.
- Aidukaite, Jolanta. 2003. "From Universal System of Social Policy to Particularistic? The case of the Baltic States." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies 36*(4), 405– 426.
- Aidukaite, Jolanta. 2004. The Emergence of the Post-Socialist Welfare State The Case of the Baltic States: Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania (Doctoral Dissertation). Södertörns Högskola.
- Aidukaite, Jolanta. 2011. "Welfare reforms and socio-economic trends in the 10 new EU member states of Central and Eastern Europe." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 44(3): 211–219.
- Akkerman, Tjitske and Anneken Hagelund. 2007. "Women and children first! Antiimmigration parties and gender in Norway and the Netherlands." *Patterns of Prejudice 41*(2): 197–215.
- AlDakhil, Khalid I. 1998. "A method for estimating simultaneous equations models with time-series and cross-section data." *Journal of King Saud University Administrative Sciences* 10(1): 13-28.

- Amsden, Alice, Jacek Kochanowicz, and Taylor Lance. 1994. *The Market Meets Its Match: Restructuring the Economies of Eastern Europe*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Andersson, Gunnar. 2000. "The Impact of Labour-Force Participation on Childbearing Behaviour: Pro-Cyclical Fertility in Sweden during the 1980s and the 1990s." *European Journal of Population* 16 (4): 293–333.
- Angelova, Penka. 1994. "Women and Nationalism: On the Position of Women in the Nationalist Movements of the Balkan Peninsula." UCLA Women's Law Journal, 5(1). http://escholarship.org/uc/item/056832j6 (Accessed May 12, 2014)
- Angrist, Joshua. D., and Jörn-Steffen Pischke. 2009. *Mostly Harmless Econometrics: An Empiricist's Companion*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Appelbaum, Lauren D. 2002. "Who Deserves Help? Students' Opinions about the Deservingness of Different Groups Living in Germany to Receive Aid." Social Justice Research Social Justice Research 15 (3): 201–25.
- Arellano, Manuel and Stephen Bond. 1991. "Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations." *Review of Economic Studies* 58(2): 277-297.
- Armingeon, Klaus, Romana Careja, Laura Knopfel, David Weisstanner, Sarah Engler, Panajotis Potolidis, and Marlene Gerber. 2013. "Comparative Political Data Set III 1990-2011."
- Aslund, Anders. 1999. "Why Has Russia's Economic Transformation been so Arduous?" Paper Presented at the World Bank Conference on Development Economics, Washington DC.
- Avdeev, Alexandre, and Alain Monnier. 1995. "A Survey of Modern Russian Fertility." *Population: An English Selection* 7 (January): 1-38.
- Avdeyeva, Olga A. 2011. "Policy Experiment in Russia: Cash-for-Babies and Fertility Change." *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State and Society* 3: 361-386.

Barmby, Tim and Alessandro Cigno. 1990. "A Sequential Probability Model of Fertility Patterns, *Journal of Population Economics*," 3(1): 34-51.

Bauböck, Rainer. 2002. "Farewell to multiculturalism? sharing values and identities in societies of immigration". *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 3(1): 1–16.

- Baum, Chistopher, Mark Schaffer, and Mark Stillman. 2003. "Instrumental Variables and GMM: Estimation and Testing." *The Stata Journal* 3(1): 1-31.
- Baum, Christopher, Mark Schaffer, and Mark Stillman. 2007. "Enhanced Routines for Instrumental Variables/generalized Method of Moments Estimation and Testing." *The Stata Journal* 7(4): 465–506.
- Baxandall, Phineas. 2003. "Postcommunist Unemployment Politics: Historical Legacies and the Curious Acceptance of Job Loss." In *Capitalism and Democracy in Central and Eastern Europe*, eds. Grzegorz Ekiert and Stephen E. Hanson. Cambridge University Press, 248–88.
- Beck, Nathaniel. 1991. "Comparing Dynamic Specifications: The Case of Presidential Approval." *Political Analysis* 3(1): 51–87.
- Beck, Nathaniel. 2001. "Time-Series Cross-Sectional Data: What Have We Learned in the Past Few Years?" *Annual Review of Political Science* 4(1): 271–293.
- Beck, Nathaniel. 2008. "Time-Series Cross-Sectional Methods." In *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology*, eds. Janet M. Box-Steffensmeier, Henry E. Brady, and David Collier. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 475-493.
- Beck, Nathaniel, and Jonathan Katz. 1995. "What to do (and Not to Do) with Time-Series Cross-Section Data." *American Political Science Review* 89(03): 634-647.
- Beck, Nathaniel, and Jonathan Katz. 1996. "Nuisance vs. Substance: Specifying and Estimating Time-Series-Cross-Section Models." *Political Analysis* 6(1): 1-36.
- Beck, Nathaniel and Jonathan Katz. 2009. "Modeling Dynamics in Time-Series-Cross-Section Political Economy Data." *Social Science Working Paper 1304*.
- Beck, Nathaniel and Jonathan Katz. 2011. "Modeling Dynamics in Time-Series-Cross-Section Political Economy Data." Annual Review of Political Science 14: 331-352.
- Beichelt, Timm. 2009. "Two Variants of the Russian Radical Right: Imperial and Social Nationalism," *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 42: 505-526.
- Beichelt, Timm and Michael Minkenbert. 2002. "The Radical Right in Postsocialist Central and Eastern Europe: Comparative Observations and Interpretations." Discussion Paper 3/02 Frankfurt Institute of Transformation Studies.
- Bennett, Andrew. 2010. "Process Tracing and Causal Inference" in *Rethinking Social Inquiry*, eds: Brady and Collier. Rowman and Littlefield, 207-220.

- Bennett, A. and Checkel, J. 2014. *Process Tracing: From Philosophical Roots to Best Practices*. Cambridge University Press.
- Bennett, Andrew & Checkel, Jeffrey. 2014. "Process Tracing: from Philosophical Roots to Best Practices." In *Process Tracing*, eds. Andrew Bennett and Checkel. Cambridge University Press, 1-37.
- Benoit, Kenneth, and Michael Laver. 2006. Party Policy in Modern Democracies. London: Routledge.
- Bengtsson, Bo, and Nils Hertting. 2014. "Generalization by Mechanism Thin Rationality and Ideal-Type Analysis in Case Study Research." *Philosophy of the Social Sciences* 44 (6): 707–32.
- Bernath, Gabor, Gabor Miklosi, and Cas Mudde. 2005. "Hungary." In *Racist Extremism in Eastern and Central Europe, ed. Cas Mudde*. New York: Routledge, 74–93.
- Bhaumik, Sumon K, and Jeffrey B. Nugent. 2002. "Does Economic Uncertainty Have an Impact on Decisions to Bear Children? Evidence from Eastern Germany." William Davidson Working Paper Number 491.
- Bidder, Benjamin and Matthias Schepp. 2011. "Russian Election: The Kremlin's Dangerous Flirtation with Nationalism" *Spiegel Online*. December 01, 2011. (Accessed January 28, 2014)
- Billari, Francesco C., and Hans-Peter Kohler. 2004. "Patterns of Low and Lowest-Low Fertility in Europe." *Population Studies* 58(2): 161–76.
- Billingsley, Sunnee. 2010. "The Post-Communist Fertility Puzzle." *Population Research and Policy Review* 29: 193–231.
- Blau, David M., and Philip K. Robins. 1989. "Fertility, Employment, and Child-Care Costs." *Demography* 26 (2): 287–99.
- Blake, David, and Les Mayhew. 2006. "On The Sustainability of the UK State Pension System in the Light of Population Ageing and Declining Fertility." *The Economic Journal* 116 (512): 286–305.
- Boca, Daniela del. 2002. "The Effect of Child Care and Part Time Opportunities on Participation and Fertility of Italian Women," *Journal of Population Economics* 15: 549-573.
- Boef, Suzanna de and Luke Keele. 2008. "Taking Time Seriously." *American Journal of Political Science* 52(1): 184–200.

Bolzendahl, Catherine. 2009. "Making the Implicit Explicit: Gender Influences on Social Spending in Twelve Industrialized Democracies, 1980-99," *Social Politics* 16 (1): 40-81.

Bolzendahl, Catherine and Clem Brooks. 2007. "Women's Political Representation and Welfare State Spending in 12 Capitalist Democracies," *Social Forces* 85(4): 1509-1534.

- Bongaarts, John. 1982. "The Fertility-Inhibiting Effects of the Intermediate Variables." *Studies in Family Planning* 13(6): 179-89
- Bongaarts, John. 2002. "The End of the Fertility Transition in the Developed World." *Population and Development Review* 28(3): 419–43.
- Bongaarts, John and Griffith Feeney. 2000. "On the Quantum and Tempo of Fertility: Reply." *Population and Development Review* 26(3): 560-564.
- Bongaarts, John, and Susan Greenhalgh. 1985. "An Alternative to the One-Child Policy in China." *Population and Development Review* 11(4): 585–617.
- Bongaarts, John, and Robert G, Potter. 1983. *Fertility, Biology, and Behavior: An Analysis of the Proximate Determinants*. New York: Academic Press.
- Boreus, Kristina. 2013. "Nationalism and Discursive Discrimination against Immigrants in Austria, Denmark and Sweden," in *Right-Wing Populism in Europe: Politics and Discourse*, eds. Ruth Wodak, Majid KhosraviNik, and Brigitte Mral, 239-308.
- Borozdina, Ekaterina A., Elena A. Zdravomyslova, and Anna A. Temkina. 2011. "Materinskiy Kapital: Sotsialnaya Politika i Strategiya Semei," http://genderpage.ru/?p=481 (Accessed January 26, 2014)
- Borozdina, Ekaterina A., Elena A. Zdravomyslova, and Anna A. Temkina. 2012. "Kak Rasporyaditsya "Materinskim Kapitalom" ili Grazdane v Semeinoi Politike." Sociologicheskie Issledovania 7: 108-118.
- Brady, David and Ryan Finnigan. 2014. "Does Immigration Undermine Public Support for Social Policy?" *American Sociological Review* 79(1): 17-42.
- Brewster, Karin L., and Ronald R. Rindfuss. 2000. "Fertility and Women's Employment in Industrialized Nations," *Annual Review of Sociology* 26: 271-296.
- Brilli, Yelenia, Daniela Del Boca, and Chiara D. Pronzato. 2011. "Exploring the Impacts of Public Childcare on Mothers and Children in Italy: Does Rationing Play a Role?" *IZA Discussion Paper No. 5918*.

- Burgoon, Brian. 2001. "Globalization and Welfare Compensation: Disentangling the Ties that Bind." *International Organization* 55(3): 509–551.
- Bustikova, Lenka. 2009. "The Extreme Right in Eastern Europe: EU Accession and the Quality of Governance," *Journal of Contemporary European Studies* 17(2): 223-239.
- Bustikova, Lenka. 2013. "Welfare Chauvinism, Ethnic Heterogeneity and Conditions for the Electoral Breakthrough of Radical Right Parties: Evidence from Eastern Europe," in: *Right-Wing Radicalism Today: Perspectives from Europe and the* US, eds. Sabine von Mering and Timothy Wyman McCarty, Routledge, 106-123.
- Bustikova, Lenka. 2014. "Revenge of the Radical Right," Comparative Political Studies 47(12): 1738-1765.
- Bustikova, Lenka, and Herbert Kitschelt. 2009. "The Radical Right in Post-communist Europe. Comparative Perspectives on Legacies and Party Competition," *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 42: 459-483.
- Butalao, Rodolfo A., and John B. Casterline. 2001. *Global Fertility Transition.* Supplement to Population and Development Review 27. New York: Population Council.
- Caldwell, John C. 1982. An explanation of the continued fertility decline in the West: stages, succession and crisis, in John C. Caldwell, *Theory of Fertility Decline*. London: Academic Press.
- Caldwell, John C., and Thomas Schindlmayr. 2003. "Explanations of the Fertility Crisis in Modern Societies: A Search for Commonalities." *Population Studies* 57(3): 241–63.
- Casanova, José. 2006. "The Long, Difficult, and Tortuous Journey of Turkey into Europe and the Dilemmas of European Civilization." *Constellations* 13(2): 234–47.
- Castles, Francis G. 1992. The Impact of Parties: Politics and Policies in Democratic Capitalist States. London: Sage.
- Castles, Francis G. 2002. "The Future of the Welfare State: Crisis Myths and Crisis Realities." *International Journal of Health Services*, 32 (2): 255-77
- Castles, Francis G. 2003. "The World Turned Upside Down: Below Replacement Fertility, Changing Preferences and Family-Friendly Public Policy in 21 OECD Countries," *Journal of European Social Policy* 13(3): 209-227.

Cigno, Alessandro. 1991. Economics of the Family. Clarendon Press.

- Chandler, Andrea. 2001. "Globalization, Social Welfare Reform and Democratic Identity in Russia and Other Post-Communist Countries," *Global Social Policy* 1(3): 310-37.
- Chandler, Andrea. 2004. Shocking Mother Russia: Democratization, Social Rights, and Pension Reform in Russia, 1990-2001. University of Toronto Press, Toronto.
- Childs, Sarah. 2004. New Labour's Women MPs: Women Representing Women. New York: Routledge.
- Childs, Sarah and Mona Lena Krook. 2006. 'Should Feminists Give Up on Critical Mass? A Contingent Yes,' *Politics and Gender* 2 (4): 522–30.
- Childs, Sarah and Mona Lena Krook. 2008. "Critical Mass Theory and Women's Political Representation," *Political Studies* 56: 725-736.
- Coleman, David. 2006. "Immigration and Ethnic Change in Low-Fertility Countries: A Third Demographic Transition," *Population and Development Review* 32(3): 401-116.
- Coleman, David and Robert Rowthorn. 2011. "Who's Afraid of Population Decline? A Critical Examination of Its Consequences." *Population and Development Review* 37: 217–48.
- Collier, David. 2011. "Understanding Process Tracing," *Political Science and Politics* 44(4): 823-30.
- Cook, Linda J. 2000. "The Russian Welfare State: Obstacles to Restructuring." *Post-Soviet Affairs*, 16(4), 355–378.
- Cook, Linda J. 2007. Postcommunist Welfare States: Reform Politics in Russia and Eastern Europe. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Cook, Linda J. 2013. "The Russian Welfare State: Obstacles to Restructuring," *Post-Soviet Affairs* 16 (4): 355-378.
- Cook, Linda J. and Mitchell A. Orenstein. 1999. "The Return of the Left and its Impact on the Welfare State in Russia, Poland and Hungary." *In Left Parties and Social Policy in Postcommunist Europe*, eds. Linda J. Cook, Mitchell A. Orenstein and Marilyn Rueschemeyer. Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 47-108.
- Cook, Linda J., Mitchell Orenstein, and Marilyn Rueschemeyer. 1999. *Left Parties and Social Policy in Postcommunist Europe*. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.

- Council of the EU. 2008. "European Council Framework Decision 2008/913/JHA of November 2008 on Combating Certain Forms and Expressions of Racism and Xenophobia by Means of Criminal Law." http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32008F0913. (Accessed June 26).
- Cuanetti, Lucia. 2014. "Granting Local Voting Rights to Non-Citizens in Estonia and Latvia: The Conundrum of Minority Representation in Two Divided Democracies." *Journal on Ethnopolitics and Minority Issues in Europe 13*(1): 86–112.
- Dasai, Padma. 2005. "Russian Retrospectives on Reforms from Yeltsin to Putin," *Journal* of Economic Perspectives 19 (1): 87–106.
- Deacon, Bob. 1992. *The New Eastern Europe: Social Policy Past, Present and Future*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Deacon, Bob. 2000. "Eastern European Welfare State: the Impact of the Politics of Globalization" *Journal of European Social Policy* 10: 146-161.
- Deacon, Bob, Michelle Hulse, and Paul Stubbs. 1997. *Global Social Policy. International Organizations and the Future of Welfare,* Sage Publications.
- Dahlerup, Drude. 1988. "From a Small Minority to a Large Minority: Women in Scandinavian Politics," *Scandinavian Political Studies* 11(4): 275-98.
- Dahlerup, Drude. 2006. "The Story of the Theory of Critical Mass." *Politics & Gender* 4: 511–522.
- Demeny, Paul. 2003 "Population Policy Dilemmas in Europe at the Dawn of the Twenty-First Century." *Population and Development Review* 29(1): 1–28.
- DELFI. 2015. "Президент Подписала Законы, Снижающие Пособия И "Замораживающие" Зарплаты." *DELFI*. Accessed July 11. http://ru.delfi.lt/news/politics/prezident-podpisala-zakony-snizhayuschieposobiya-i-zamorazhivayuschie-zarplaty.d?id=34553239.
- Denisenko, Mikhail, and Yelena Varshavskaya. 2013. "Migrants at the Russian Labour Market: Characteristics, Status, Mobility." Working Paper WP3/21. Barselona: Barselona University.
- Devlin, J.1999. *Slavophiles and Commissars: Enemies of Democracy in Modern Russia*. St. Martins Press, New York.
- Diamond, Larry J. 2015. "Facing Up to the Democratic Recession." *Journal of Democracy* 26(1): 141–155.

- Dormont, Brigitte, Michel Grignon, and Hélène Huber. 2006. "Health Expenditure Growth: Reassessing the Threat of Ageing." *Health Economics* 15(9): 947–63.
- Drukker, David. 2003. "Testing for serial correlation in linear panel-data models." *The Stata Journal 3*(2): 168-177.
- Duma RF. 2013. State Duma of the Russian Federation, Draft Legislation №350713-6 "О внесении изменений в статьи 67 и 78 Федерального закона "Об образовании в Российской Федерации" (в части ограничения прав на образование иностранных граждан).
- Eich, Frank, Charleen Gust, and Mauricio Soto. 2012. "Reforming the Public Pension System in the Russian Federation." *IMF Working Paper* WP/12/201.
- Ermisch, J. 1988. "Econometric Analysis of Birth Rate Dynamics in Britain," *The Journal of Human Resources* 23: 563-576.
- Esping-Andersen, Gosta. 1990. The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism. Polity Press.
- Estevez-Abe, Margarita. 2006. "Gendering the Varieties of Capitalism: A Study of Occupational Segregation by Sex in Advanced Industrial Societies," *World Politics* 59: 142-75.
- Evera, Stephen Van. 1997. *Guide to Methods for Students of Political Science*. 1 edition. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- European Union. 2007. Treaty of Lisbon. Treaty of Lisbon Amending the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty Establishing the European Community, 13
 December 2007, 2007/C 306/01. http://www.refworld.org/docid/476258d32.html (Accessed 13 July 2015).
- Einhorn, Barbara. 1993. Cinderella Goes to Market: Citizenship, Gender, and Women's Movements in East Central Europe. Verso.
- Esping-Andersen, G. 1990. The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism. Polity Press.
- Eun, Ki-Soo. 2003. "Understanding Recent Fertility Decline in Korea." Journal of Population and Social Security (Population), Supplement to Volume 1: 574-595.
- European Commission. 2012. "The 2012 Ageing Report," http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/european_economy/2012/pdf/e e-2012-2_en.pdf. (Accessed March 5, 2015).
- Evans, Geoffrey. 2006. The Social Bases of Political Divisions in Post-Communist Eastern Europe. *Annual Review of Sociology 32*(1): 245–270.

- Evans, Geoffrey, and Stephen Whitefield. 1995. "The Politics and Economics of Democratic Commitment: Support for Democracy in Transition Societies." *British Journal of Political Science* 25(04): 485–514.
- Evans, Geoffrey and Stephen Whitefield. 1998. "The Evolution of the Left and Right in Post-Soviet Russia," Europe-Asia Studies 50: 1023-42.
- EVS (2011). European Values Study 1981-2008, Longitudinal Data File. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne, Germany, ZA4804 Data File Version 2.0.0 (2011-12-30) DOI:10.4232/1.11005.
- Ezrow, Lawrence, Jonathan Homola and Margit Tavits. 2014. "When Extremism Pays: Policy Positions, Voter Certainty, and Party Support in Postcommunist Europe." *Journal of Politics* 76(2): 1558-1583.
- Federal Migration Service. 2012. Statisticheskie Svedenia po Migratsionnoi Situatsii v Rossiskoi Federatsii. www.fms.org (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Federal Migration Service. 2013. Press-Conference by the Head of FMS Konstantin Romodanovsky. http://www.km.ru/v-rossii/2013/06/18/federalnayamigratsionnaya-sluzhba-rf/713961-fms-naschitala-11-millionov-inostra (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Feeney, Griffith, and Wang Feng. 1993. "Parity Progression and Birth Intervals in China: The Influence of Policy in Hastening Fertility Decline." *Population and Development Review* 19(1): 61–101.
- Ferrarini, Tommy, Kenneth Nelson, Walter Korpi, and Joakim Palme. 2013. "Social Citizenship Rights and Social Insurance Replacement Rate Validity: Pitfalls and Possibilities." *Journal of European Public Policy* 20(9): 1251–1266.
- Fitzgerald, Jennifer, Amber K. Curtis, and Catherine L. Corliss, C. 2012. "Anxious Public Worries about Crime and Immigration," *Comparative Political Studies* 45(4): 477-506.
- Fodor, Eva. 2002. "Gender and the Experience of Poverty in Eastern Europe and Russia After 1989." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 35(4): 369–82.
- Fodor, Eva, Christy Glass, Janette Kawachi, and Livia Popescu. 2002. "Family policies and gender in Hungary, Poland, and Romania." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 35(4): 475–490.
- Fokkema, Tineke, Helga A. G. Valk de, Joop A. A. Beer de, and Coen Duin van. 2008. "The Netherlands: Childbearing within the Context of a 'Poldermodel' Society." *Demographic Research* 19: 743-794.

- Fontanka. 2011. "Нам Грозит Глобальная Депопуляция." http://www.fontanka.ru/2011/07/28/128/. (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Fultz, Elaine, Markus Ruck, and Silke Steinhilber. 2003. The Gender Dimensions of Social Security Reform in Central and Eastern Europe: Case studies of the Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland. Budapest: International Labor Organization.
- Fuszara, Malgorzata. 2000. "New Gender Relations in Poland in the 1990s." In *Reproducing Gender: Politics, Publics, and Everyday Life after Socialism*, eds. Susan Gal and Gail Kligman Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press, 259-285.
- Gandhi, Jennifer, and Adam Przeworski. 2007. "Authoritarian Institutions and the Survival of Autocrats." *Comparative Political Studies* 40(11): 1279–1301.
- Garrett, Geoffrey. 1998. *Partisan Politics in the Global Economy*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gal, Suzan and Gail Kligman. 2000. *The Politics of Gender after Socialism: a Comparative-historical Essay*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Gauthier, Anne H. and Jan Hatzius. 1997. "Family Benefits and Fertility. An Econometric Analysis," *Population Studies* 51(3): 295-306.
- Gauthier, Anne Helene. 2002. "Family Policies in Industrialized Countries: Is there Convergence?" *Population* 57(3): 447-474.
- Gauthier, Anne Helene. 2007a. "The Impact of Family Policies on Fertility in Industrialized Countries: a Review of Literature," *Population Research and Policy Review* 26: 323-346.
- Gauthier, Anne H. 2007b. "Historical Trends in State Support for Families in Europe (post-1945)," *Children and Youth Services Review* 21(11-12): 937-965.
- Geddes, Barbara. 1995. "A Comparative Perspective on the Leninist Legacy in Eastern Europe." *Comparative Political Studies* 28(2): 239-74.
- Gerber, Theodore P., and Brienna Perelli-Harris. 2012. "Maternity Leave in Turbulent Times: Effects on Labor Market Transitions and Fertility in Russia, 1985-2000." Social Forces 90(4): 1297–1322.
- Gerring, John. 2007. *Case Study Research: Principles and Practices*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- George, Alexander and Timothy McKeown. 1985. "Case Studies and Theories of Organizational Decision Making," *Advances of Information Processing in Organizations* 2: 21-68.

- George, Alexander and Andrew Bennett. 2005. *Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences*. MIT Press.
- Gimpelson, Vladimir. 2001. "The Politics of Labor-Market Adjustment: The Case of Russia." In *Reforming the State. Fiscal and Welfare Reform in Post-Socialist Countries, eds. Janos Karnai, Stephan Haggard, and Robert R. Kaufman.* Cambridge University Press, 25-52.
- Glass, Christy and Eva Fodor. 2007. "From Public to Private Maternalism? Gender and Welfare in Poland and Hungary after 1989," *Social Politics* 14(3): 323-350.
- Goldin, Claudia, and Lawrence F. Katz. 2002. "The Power of the Pill: Oral Contraceptives and Women's Career and Marriage Decisions." *Journal of Political Economy* 110(4): 730–70.
- Goldstein, Joshua R., Tomáš Sobotka, and Aiva Jasilioniene. 2006. "The End of 'Lowest-Low' Fertility?" *Population and Development Review* 35(4): 663–99.
- Goode, J. Paul. 2010. "Redefining Russia: Hybrid Regimes, Fieldwork, and Russian Politics," Perspectives on Politics 8(4): 1055-1075.
- Gorbachev, Mikhail. 1987. "Mikhail Gorbachev on Women and the Family." *Population* and Development Review 13(4): 757–759.
- Gornick, Janet C., and Meyers, Marcia K. 2008. "Creating Gender Egalitarian Societies: An Agenda for Reform." *Politics & Society* 36(3): 313–349.
- Gornick, Janet, Marcia K. Meyers, and Katherin Ross. 1997. "Supporting the Employment of Mothers: Policy Variation Across Fourteen Welfare States," *Journal of European Social Policy* 7(1): 45-70.
- Goven, Joanna. 1993. "Gender Politics in Hungary: Autonomy and Antifenimism." In Gender Politics and Post-Communism, eds. Nanette Funk and Magda Mueller. New York: Routledge, 224–240.
- Goven, Joanna. 2000. "New Parliament, Old Discourse? The Parental Leave Debate in Hungary." In *Reproducing Gender: Politics, Publics, and Everyday Life after Socialism,* eds. Susan Gal and Gail Kligman. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press, 286–306.
- Greene, William H. 2003. *Econometric Analysis* (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

- Grzymala-Busse, Anna. 2002. "The programmatic turnaround of communist successor parties in East Central Europe, 1989–1998." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 35(1): 51–66.
- The Guardian. 2014a. "The Rise of Anti-Immigrant Sweden Democrats" *The Guardian* December 14, 2014. http://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/dec/14/sweden-democrats-flex-muscles-anti-immigrant-kristianstad (Accessed March 28, 2015).
- The Guardian. 2014b. "EU Migrants to Britain Face Further Restrictions on Welfare Payments" July 28, 2014 http://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2014/jul/29/eumigrants-britain-further-restrictions-welfare-payments (Accessed March 28, 2015).
- Gujarati, D. 2003. Basic Econometrics (4th ed.). McGraw-Hill.
- Gudkov, Lev. 2006. "Почему Мы не Любим Приезжих?" *Demoscope Weekly* 231-232 (February). Reprinted in Миграция в России I(2), ed. I.S. Ivanov and Zhanna Zaionchkovskaya. Moscow: Spetskniga, 841-868.
- Gudkov, Lev. 2013. "Rossiya Dlya Russkih"? Uze ne Stydno. Interview for the Radio Svoboda November 19, 2013. http://www.svoboda.org/content/transcript/25172654.html (Accessed May 18, 2015).
- Haggard, Stephen, and Robert F. Kaufmann. 2008. Development, Democracy, and Welfare States: Latin America, East Asia, and Eastern Europe. Princeton University Press: Princeton, New Jersey.
- Hainmueller, Jens, and Michael Hiscox. 2007. "Educated Preferences: Explaining Attitudes Toward Immigration in Europe." International Organization 61(Spring): 399-442
- Hainmueller, Jens, and Michael Hiscox. 2010. "Attitudes toward Highly Skilled and Low-skilled Immigration: Evidence from a Survey Experiment," *American Political Science Review* 104(1): 61-84.
- Hainmueller, Jens, and Dominik Hangartner 2013. "Who Gets a Swiss Passport? A Natural Experiment in Immigrant Discrimination" American Political Science Review 107(1): 159-187.
- Hankivsky, Olena and Anastasiya Salnykova. 2012. "Gender in Transition: Legacies, Opportunities, and Milestones in Post-Soviet Ukraine." In *Gender, Politics and Society in Ukraine*, eds. Olena Hankivsky and Anastasiya Salnikova University of Toronto Press, 3-28.

- Hanley, Seán. 2004. "From Neo-Liberalism to National Interests: Ideology, Strategy, and Party Development in the Euroscepticism of the Czech Right." *East European Politics & Societies* 18(3): 513–48.
- Hansen, Randall. 2003. "Migration to Europe since 1945: its History and its Lessons" *The Political Quarterly* 74: 25-38.
- Hero, Rodney, and Robert Preuhs. 2007. "Immigration and the Evolving American Welfare State: Examining Policies in the U.S. States," *American Journal of Political Science* 51(3): 498-517.
- Hicks, Alexander, and Christopher Zorn. 2005. "Economic Globalization, the Macro Economy, and Reversals of Welfare Expansion in Affluent Democracies, 1978– 94," *International Organization* 59: 631-662.
- Huber, John, and Ronald Inglehart. 1995. "Expert Interpretations of Party Space and Party Locations in 42 Societies." *Party Politics* 1(1): 73–111.
- Huber, Evelyn, and John D. Stephens. 2000. "Partisan Governance, Women's Employment, and the Social Democratic Service State." *American Sociological Review* 65(3): 323-42.
- Huber, Evelyn, and John D. Stephens. 2001. *Development and Crisis of the Welfare State:Parties and Policies in Global Markets*. Chicago: University Of Chicago Press.
- Im, K S, M. Hashem Pesaran, and Y Shin. 2003. "Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels." *Journal of Econometrics* 115: 53–74.
- Inglot, Tomasz, Dorottya Szikra, and Cristina Raţ. 2011. "Continuity and Change in Family Policies of the New European Democracies: A Comparisons of Poland, Hungary, and Romania," Part I. A NCEEER Working Paper.
- Inglot, Tomasz, Dorottya Szikra, and Cristina Raţ. 2012. "Reforming Post-Communist Welfare States." *Problems of Post-Communism* 59 (6): 27–49.
- Interfax. 2013. "Каждое Пятое Убийство Совершают Мигранты" News Agency Interfax May 22, 2013 http://www.interfax.ru/russia/txt.asp?id=308050 (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Ishiyama, John. 1995. "Communist Parties in Transition: Structures, Leaders, and Processes of Democratization in Eastern Europe," *Comparative Politics* 27(2): 147-166.

- Itar-Tass. 2013а. "Смертность в России в Августе Снизилась на 11,6% по сравнению с 2012 годом," Information Agency Itar-Tass October 2, 2013 http://itar-tass.com/obschestvo/684963. (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Itar-Tass. 2013b. "Голодец: программа материнского капитала может быть продлена на пять лет," Information Agency Itar-Tass December 10, 2013 http://www.itar-tass.com/obschestvo/822690 (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Ivakhnyuk, Irina. 2009. The Russian Migration Policy and Its Impact on Human Development: the Historical Perspective. Moscow: MAKS Press.
- Ivanov, Christo, and Margarita Ileva. 2005. "Bulgaria." In *Racist Extremism in Eastern* and Central Europe, ed. Cas Mudde, New York: Routledge, 1-27.
- Javornik, Jana. 2014. "Measuring State De-familialism: Contesting Post-socialist Exceptionalism." *Journal of European Social Policy* 24(3): 240–257.
- Jobbik. N.d."Immigration Increases Tensions in Europe." http://www.jobbik.com/immigration_increases_tensions_europe. (Accessed March 28, 2015)
- Jowitt, Ken.1992. New World Disorder: The Leninist Extinction, University of California Press, Berkley.
- Kaa, Dirk van de. 1987. Europe's Second Demographic Transition. *Population Bulletin* 42(1): 1-59.
- Kaa, Dirk van de J. 2002. "The Idea of a Second Demographic Transition in Industrialized Countries." Presented at the Sixth Welfare Policy Seminar of the National Institute of Population and Social Security, Tokyo, Japan.
- Kamerman, Sheila. B., and Peter Moss. 2011. *The Politics of Parental Leave Policies: Children, Parenting, Gender and the Labour Market*. Policy Press.
- Karu, Marre and Katre Paul. 2011. "Estonia Half Way from the Soviet Union to the Nordic Countries." In *The Politics of Parental Leave Policies*, eds. Sheila B. Kamerman and Peter Moss. Policy Press: 69–85.
- Kiaulakis, Giedrius. 2005. "Lithuania," in *Racist Extremism in Central and Eastern Europe, ed. Cas Mudde.* London: Routledge, 129-155.
- Kildemoes, Helle Wallach, Terkel Christiansen, Dorte Gyrd-Hansen, Ivar Sønbø Kristiansen, and Morten Andersen. 2006. "The Impact of Population Ageing on Future Danish Drug Expenditure." *Health Policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands)* 75(3): 298–311.

- Kim, Heemin and Richard Fording. 1998. "Voter ideology in Western Democracies, 1946–1989." *European Journal of Political Research* 33: 73–97.
- Kim, Heemin and Richard Fording. 2003. "Voter ideology in Western democracies: An update." *European Journal of Political Research* 42(1): 95–105.
- Kingsbury, Marina. 2014. "Family Policies in Contemporary Russia: Does Immigration Matter?" Paper Presented at the 2014 Meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association.
- Kirk, Dudley.1996. "Demographic Transition Theory." *Population Studies* 50(3): 361–87.
- Kitschelt, Herbert. 1995a. *The Radical Right in Western Europe*. University of Michigan Press: Ann Arbor, MI.
- Kitschelt, Herbert. 1995b. "Formation of Party Cleavages in Post-Communist Democracies Theoretical Propositions." *Party Politics 1*(4): 447–472.
- Kitschelt, Herbert, Zdenka Mansfeldova, Radoslaw Markowski, and Gabor Toka. 1999. Post-Communist Party Systems: Competition, Representation, and Inter-Party Cooperation. Cambridge University Press.
- Kittilson, Miki Caul. 2008. "Representing Women: the Adoption of Family Leave in Comparative Perspective," *Journal of Politics* 70 (2): 323-334.
- Kligman, Gail. 1994. "The Social Legacy of Communism: Women, Children, and the Feminization of Poverty." In *The Social Legacy of Communism, eds. James R.* Millar and Sharon Wolchik. Cambridge University Press, 252–270.
- Klingemann, Hans-Dieter, Andrea Volkens, Judith Bara, Ian Budge, and Michael D. McDonald. 2003. *Mapping Policy Preferences II: Estimates for Parties, Electors, and Governments in Eastern Europe, European Union, and OECD 1990-2003*. Oxford University Press.
- Knijn, Trudie, and Monique Kremer. 1997. "Gender and the Caring Dimension of Welfare States: Toward Inclusive Citizenship." Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society 4 (3): 328–61.
- Kocourcova, Jirina. 2011. "Czech Republic: Normative of Choice-Oriented System?" In *The Politics of Parental Leave Policies*, eds. Sheila B. Kamerman and Peter Moss. Policy Press, 51–68.
- Kohler, Hans-Peter, Francesco C. Billari, and José Antonio Ortega. 2002. "The Emergence of Lowest-Low Fertility in Europe During the 1990s." *Population* and Development Review 28(4): 641–80.

- Kogan, Irena, M Gebel, and Clemens Noelke. 2008. Europe Enlarged. A Handbook of Education, Labour and Welfare Regimes in Central and Eastern Europe. Bristol, UK: Policy Press.
- Kogel, Tomas. 2004. "Did the Association Between Fertility and Female Employment Within OECD Countries Really Change its Sign?" *Journal of Population Economics* 17: 45-65.
- Kommersant. 2013. "The Russian March" Becomes More Popular," *Kommersant.ru* November 1, 2013 available at http://www.kommersant.ru/doc/2334988 (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Korintus, Marta, and Nada Stropnik. 2011. "Hungary and Slovenia: Long Leave or Short?" In *The Politics of Parental Leave Policies, eds. Sheila B. Kamerman and Peter Moss.* Policy Press, 135–158.
- Korpi, Walter. 1983. The Democratic Class Struggle. Routledge and Kegan Paul: London.
- Korpi, Walter. 2000. "Faces of inequality: Gender, class, and patterns of inequalities in different types of welfare states," *Social Politics* 7(2): 127-191.
- Korpi, Walter and Joakim Palme. 2003. "New Politics and Class Politics in the Context of Austerity and Globalization: Welfare State Regress in 18 Countries, 1975-95," *American Political Science Review* 97(3): 425-446.
- Kostelecký, Tomás. 2002. Political Parties after Communism: Developments in East-Central Europe. Washington, D.C: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Koster, Willem de, Peter Achterberg, and Jeroen van der Waal. 2013. "The New Right and the Welfare State: The Electoral Relevance of Welfare Chauvinism and Welfare Populism in the Netherlands." *International Political Science Review* 34 (1): 3-20.
- Kozina, Irina. 2009. "Работающие Матери" *Polit.ru* http://polit.ru/article/2009/12/25/kozina/ (Accessed July 12, 2015).
- Kravdal, Oystein. 2010. "Demographers' Interest in Fertility Trends and Determinants in Developed Countries: Is It Warranted?" *Demographic Research* 22(22): 663–90.
- Kreyenfeld, Michaela. 2005. "Economic Uncertainty and Fertility Postponement Evidence from German Panel Data." *Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research*, Working Paper WP 2005-034.
- Krzyzanowski, M. 2013. "From Anti-Immigration and Nationalist Revisionism to Islamophobia: Continuities and Shifts in Recent Discourses and Patterns of

Political Communication of the Freedom Party of Austria (FPO)" in *Right-Wing Populism in Europe*, eds. Ruth Wodak, Majid KhosraviNik, and Brigitte Mral. Bloomsbury, 135-148.

- Kymlicka, Will. 2010. "The Rise and Fall of Multiculturalism? New Debates on Inclusion and Accommodation in Diverse Societies." *International Social Science Journal* 61(199): 97–112.
- Kymlicka, Will and Keith Banting. 2006. "Immigration, Multiculturalism, and the Welfare State," *Ethics & International Affairs* 20 (3): 281–304.
- LaFont, Suzanne. 2001. "One Step Forward, Two Steps Back: Women in the Postcommunist States." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 34: 203-220.
- Lambert, Priscilla A. 2008. The Comparative Political Economy of Parental Leave and Child Care: Evidence from Twenty OECD Countries. *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society* 15(3): 315–344.
- Laroque, Guy, and Bernard Salanié. 2004. "Fertility and Financial Incentives in France." *CESifo Economic Studies* 50(3): 423–50.
- Lalive, Rafael and Josef Zweimueller. 2005. "Does Parental Leave Affect Fertility and Return-to-Work? Evidence from a "True Natural Experiment," *IZA Discussion Paper 1613*.
- Lee, Ronald, and Andrew Mason. 2010. "Fertility, Human Capital, and Economic Growth over the Demographic Transition." *European Journal of Population* 26(2): 159–82.
- Lekareva, Vera. 2013. Show "Politika" on *Channel 1*. http://www.1tv.ru/sprojects_edition/si=5905&d=09.10.2013 (Accessed January 28.2014)
- Levada Center. 2012. "July Ratings: Approval and Trust July 26, 2012." *Levada Center*. http://www.levada.ru/26-07-2012/iyulskie-reitingi-odobrenie-i-doverie (Accessed January 28, 2015)
- Levada Center. 2013a. "Press release, Attitudes towards Migrants July 3 2013." *Levada Center*. www.levada.ru/03-07-2013/otnoshenie-k-migrantam (Accessed January 28, 2014)
- Levada Center. 2013b. "Press release, Russians About the "Russian March." *Levada Center* http://www.levada.ru/01-11-2013/rossiyane-o-russkom-marshe (Accessed January 28, 2014)

- LDPR. 2015. "Во Фракции ЛДПР в Госуданственной Думе состоялся круглый стол: «Бирюлёво – Кто Виноват И Что Делать?»." http://ldpr.ryazan.ru/2013/10/12460/. (Accessed July 12, 2014)
- Lieberman, Evan S. 2005. "Nested Analysis as a Mixed-Method Strategy for Comparative Research." *American Political Science Review* 3: 435–452.
- Liebfried, Stephan. 1993. "Towards a European Welfare State?" In *New Perspectives on the Welfare State in Europe*, ed. Catherine Jones. London: Routledge, 120–43.
- Lipset, Seymour Martin and Stein Rokkan. 1967. Party Systems and Voter Alignment. New York: Free Press.
- Lipsmeyer, Christine S. 2002. "Parties and Policy: Evaluating Economic and Partisan Influences on Welfare Policy Spending during the European Post-Communist Transition," *British Journal of Political Science* 32(4): 641-661
- Lipsmeyer, Christine S. 2003. "Welfare and the Discriminating Public: Evaluating Entitlement Attitudes in Post-communist Europe," *Policy Studies Journal* 31(4): 545-564.
- Maddala, G. S., and Shaowen Wu. 1999. "A Comparative Study of Unit Root Tests with Panel Data and a New Simple Test." *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 61(1): 631–652.
- Mahoney, James. 2012. "The Logic of Process Tracing Tests in the Social Sciences," Sociological Methods and Research 41(4): 570-597.
- Maltzeva, Elena. 2011. "Health Care Crisis and Grassroots Social Initiative in Post-Soviet Russia," *Review of European and Russian Affairs* 6 (1): 1-15.
- Mansbridge, Jane. 2005. "Quota Problems: Combating the Dangers of Essentialism." *Politics & Gender* 4: 622–638.
- Marks, Gary, Liesbet Hooghe, Moira Nelson, and Erica Edwards. 2006. "Party Competition and European Integration in the East and West." *Comparative Political Studies* 39(2): 155–75.
- Mares, Miroslav. 2012. *Right-Wing Extremism in the Czech Republic*. Friedrich Ebert Stiftung. http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/id-moe/09347.pdf (Accessed January 30, 2015).
- McAllister, Ian, and Stephen White. 2007. "Political Parties and Democratic Consolidation in Post-Communist Societies." *Party Politics* 13(2):197–216.

- McDonald, Peter. 2002. "Sustaining Fertility through Public Policy: The Range or Options." *Population* 57(3): 417-446.
- McDonald, Peter. 2006. "Low Fertility and the State: The Efficacy of Policy." *Population and Development Review* 32(3): 485–510.
- Mclaren, Lauren M. 2001. "Immigration and the New Politics of Inclusion and Exclusion in the European Union: The Effect of Elites and the EU on Individual–level Opinions Regarding European and non–European Immigrants." *European Journal of Political Research* 39 (1): 81–108.
- Mearsheimer, John J. 2001. The Tragedy of Great Power Politics. New York: Norton.
- Mering, Sabine von and Tymothy Wyman McCarty. 2013. *Right-Wing Radicalism Today: Perspectives from Europe and the US*. Routledge.
- Meron, Monique, and Isabelle Widmer. 2002. "Unemployment Leads Women to Postpone the Birth of Their First Child." *Population* 57 (2): 301–30.
- Mikulska, Agnieszka. 2008. Xenophobia and ethnic discrimination in Poland. Warsaw: Helsinki Foundation for Human Rights.
- Milanovic, Branko. 1998. Income, Inequality, and Poverty during the Transition from Planned to Market Economy. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Minkenberg, Michael. 2002. "The Radical Right in Postsocialist Central and Eastern Europe: Comparative Observations and Interpretations." *East European Politics* & Societies 16(2): 335-362.
- Minkenberg, Michael. 2009. "Leninist Beneficiaries? Pre-1989 Legacies and the Radical Right in Post-1989 Central and Eastern Europe. Some introductory observations." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies* 42(4): 445–458.
- Mizulina, Elena. 2011. Internet-interview with Elena Mizulina by Garant Information Agency "Семьи с детьми. Многодетные семьи. Меры поддержки семей с детьми." http://www.garant.ru/action/interview/325278/ (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Morgan, S. Philip. 2003. "Is Low Fertility a Twenty-First-Century Demographic Crisis?" *Demography* 40(4): 589–603.
- Morgan, Kimberly J. 2008. "The Political Path to a Dual Earner/Dual Career Society: Pitfalls and Possibilities." *Politics & Society*, *36*(3), 403–420.

- Morgan, Kimberly J. 2013. "Path Shifting of the Welfare State: Electoral Competition and the Expansion of Work-Family Policies in Western Europe." *World Politics*, *65*(01), 73–115.
- Morvai, Krisztina. 1994. "Continuity and Discontinuity in the Legal System: What It Means for Women: A Female Lawyer's Perspective on Women and the Law in Hungary." UCLA Women's Law Journal, 5(1).
- Muhleisen, Martin, and Hamid Faruqee. 2001. "Population Aging in Japan: Demographic Shock and Fiscal Sustainability." IMF Working Paper. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/cat/longres.cfm?sk=4037.0 (Accessed May 7, 2015)
- Mukomel, Vladimir. 2014. "Ксенофобия и мигрантофобии в контексте культуры доверия : Мир России." *Мир России*, *24*(2), 137-166.
- Murphy, Michael. 1993. "The contraceptive pill and women's employment s factors in fertility change in Britain 1963-1980: A challenge to the conventional view," *Population Studies* 47(1): 221-243.
- Mudde, Cas. 2005. *Racist Extremism in Central & Eastern Europe*. London; New York: Routledge.
- Mudde, Cas. 2012. *The Relationship between Immigration and Nativism in Europe and North America.* Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.
- Mudde, Cas. 2013. "Three Decades of Populist Radical Right Parties in Europe: So What?" *European Journal of Political Research* 52(1): 1-19.
- Nickell, Stephen. 1981. "Biases in Dynamic Models with Fixed Effects." *Econometrica*, 49(6): 1417-1426.
- Nikitina, Svetlana. 2013. "Демографическое будущее России: сколько детей хотят poccuянe?" Press-conference. http://pressria.ru/pressclub/20130927/948495103.html (Accessed June 30, 2015).
- Nikolaeva and Bogomolov. 2013. "Nuzny i Demokratia I Vlast" *Moskovskie Novosti* May 30, 2013, http://www.mn.ru/moscow_authority/20130530/347635870.html (Accessed June 30, 2015).
- Norton, N. 1995 "Women, It's Not enough to be Elected: Committee Position Makes a Difference." In *Gender Power, Leadership, and Governance*, eds. Georgia Duerst-Lahti and Rita Mae Kelly. Ann Arbor MI: University of Michigan Press, 115–40.

OECD. 2001. The Social Crisis in the Russian Federation. OECD Publishing.

- OECD 2011. OECD Reviews of Labour Market and Social Policies: Russian Federation 2011. OECD Publishing.
- Ogawa, Naohiro. 2003. "Japan's Changing Fertility Mechanisms and Its Policy Responses" *Journal of Population Research* 20(1): 89–106.
- Oorshort, Wim van. 2006. "Making the Difference in Social Europe: Deservingness Perceptions among Citizens of European Welfare States," *European Journal of Social Policy* 16(1): 23-42.
- Oorshort, Wim van and Uunk, Wilfred. 2007. "Welfare Spending and the Public's Concern for Immigrants. Multilevel Evidence for Eighteen European Countries," Comparative Politics, October: 63-82.
- Orenstein, Mitchell. 2008. "Postcommunist Welfare States." *Journal of Democracy*, *19*(4), 80–94.
- Orenstein, Mitchell. 2009. "Transnational Actors in Central and East European Pension Reforms," in *Post-Communist Welfare Pathways*, eds. Alfio Cerami and Peter Vanhyusse. Palgrave Macmillan,129-147.
- Orloff, Ann Shola. 1993. "Gender and the Social Rights of Citizenship. The Comparative Analysis of Gender Relations and Welfare States." *American Sociological Review* 58(3): 303-328.
- Orloff, Ann Shola. 2006. "From Maternalism to 'Employment for All': State Policies to Promote Women's Employment across the Affluent Democracies." In *The State after Statism*, Harvard University Press, 230-68.
- Pascall, Gilian, and Anna Kwak. 2009. *Gender regimes in transition in Central and Eastern Europe*. The University of Chicago Press.
- Pelinka. Anton. 2013. "Right-Wing Populism: Concept and Typology" in *Right-Wing Populism: Concept and Typology*, eds., Ruth Wodak, Majid KhosraviNik, and Brigitte Mral. Bloomsbury, 3-22.
- Perelli-Harris, Brienna. "The Influence of Informal Work and Subjective Well-Being on Childbearing in Post-Soviet Russia." *Population and Development Review* 32(4): 729-53.
- Pension Fund of RF. 2013. "Interview and Zayavlenia Matvienko: Pravitelstvo ne Sobiraetsya Otmenyat Vyplaty Materinskogo Kapitala," http://www.pfrf.ru/ot_evrei/pr_releases/59674.html (Accessed January 28, 2014).

- Persyn, Damiaan and Joakim Westerlund. 2008. "Error–correction–based Cointegration Tests for Panel Data." *Stata Journal* 8(2): 232-241.
- Pierson, Paul. 1996. "The New Politics of the Welfare State." *World Politics* 48(2): 143–179.
- Pishniak, Alina. 2013. "Занятость Женщин в России После Рождения Детей: Стимулы, Барьеры и Потребновсть в Профессональном Обучении (по Материалам Фокус-групп)" Presentation at the Higher School of Economics, Moscow available at www.hse.ru. (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Plumper, Thomas and Vera E. Troeger. 2007. "Efficient estimation of time-invariant and rarely changing variables in finite sample panel analyses with unit fixed effects." *Political Analysis* 15(2): 124-139.
- Plumper, Thomas, Vera E. Troeger and Philip Manow. 2005. "Panel Data Analysis in Comparative Politics: Linking Method to Theory," *European Journal of Political Research* 44: 327-354.
- Poleshchuk, V. 2005. "Estonia." In *Racist Extremism in Central and Eastern Europe*, ed. Cus Mude. London: Routledge, 58-79.
- Polity IV Project, Political Regime Characteristics and Transitions, 1800-2014. http://www.systemicpeace.org/ (Accessed July 1, 2015).
- Popovich, Larisa, Elena Potapchik, Sergey Shishkin, Erica Richardson, Alexandra Vacroux, and Benoit Mathivet. 2011. "Russian Federation: Health System Review." *Health Systems in Transition* 13 (7): 1–190.
- Population Reference Bureau. 2010. PRB. Population Bulletin 65.2 http://www.prb.org/pdf10/65.2highlights.pdf (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- President of the Russian Federation. 2007. Presidential Degree of October 9, 2007 #1351 "Of Adoption of the Conception of Demographic Politics through 2025" available at http://www.rosmintrud.ru/ministry/programms/6.
- President of the Russian Federation. 2008. "Стенографический Отчёт О Заседании Расширенной Коллегии Министерства Внутренних Дел." http://archive.kremlin.ru/text/appears/2008/02/159353.shtml. (Accessed July 1, 2015)
- President of the Russian Federation. 2012. President's Address to the Federal Assembly. Available at http://www.kremlin.ru/news/17118 (Accessed January 28, 2015)
- President of the Russian Federation. 2012. Decree of the President of Russian Federation of May 7 2012 N.606 "On Measures of Achievement of the Demographic Policy

of the Russian Federation." http://www.rg.ru/2012/05/09/demo-dok.html (Accessed January 28, 2015).

- President of the Russian Federation. 2013. Заседание Совета по Межнациональным Отношениям http://www.kremlin.ru/news/19475 (Accessed January 28, 2015).
- Putin, Vladimir. 2012. "Россия: Национальный Вопрос." http://www.ng.ru/politics/2012-01-23/1_national.html. (Accessed July 12, 2015)
- Randall, Vicky. 2000. "Childcare Policy in the European States: Limits to Convergence." *Journal of European Public Policy* 7(3): 346–68.
- RBC. 2015а. "Кризис Заставил Власти Вернуться К Идее Повышения Пенсионного Возраста," *RosBusines Consulting*. http://top.rbc.ru/economics/29/01/2015/54ca28bd9a79475ab226d550. (Accessed March 28, 2015).
- RBC. 2015b. "Расследование РБК: Куда Завела Россию Реформа Здравоохранения." *RosBusines Consulting*. http://daily.rbc.ru/ins/business/26/10/2014/544cfa0acbb20f3b7672b59d. (Accessed March 26, 2015).
- Reuter, Ora J., and Graeme B. Robertson. 2015. Legislatures, Cooptation, and Social Protest in Contemporary Authoritarian Regimes. *The Journal of Politics*, 77(1), 235–248.
- RIA. 2009. "Национальный Проект «Здоровье». Справка" Russian Information Agency May 12, 2009. http://ria.ru/society/20090512/170852739.html (Accessed March 31, 2014).
- RIA. 2013a. "200 Slov Pro Moskvu I Migrantov," *RIA Novosti* 30 May 2013 http://ria.ru/200words/20130530/940333781.html (Accessed January 28, 2015).
- RIA. 2013а. "Сенатор Озеров Считает Непродуманной Миграционную Амнистию в России" *Russian Information Agency* September 17, 2013 http://ria.ru/economy/20130917/963773120.html (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- RIA. 2013b. "Дворники с гражданством РФ вместо мигрантов: кронштадтский эксперимент" *Russian Information Agency*. http://ria.ru/spb/20130809/955205769.html (Accessed January 28, 2015)
- Rimashevskaia, Natalia M., and Alexander S. Milovidov. 1988. "On Improving State Assistance to Families with Children" *Planovoye Khoziaistvo* 1: 82-85.
- Rindfuss, Ronald R. 1991. "The Young Adult Years: Diversity, Structural Change, and Fertility." *Demography* 28(4): 493–512.

- Rindfuss, Ronald R., and Karin L. Brewster. 1996. "Childbearing and fertility," *Population and Development Review*, 22(Supplement): 258-289.
- Rindfuss, Ronald R., David Guilkey, S. Philip Morgan, Øystein Kravdal, and Karen Benjamin Guzzo. 2007. "Child Care Availability and First-Birth Timing in Norway," *Demography* 44(2): 345-372.
- Rivkin-Fish, Michele. 2003 "Anthropology, Demography, and the Search for a Critical Analysis of Fertility: Insights from Russia" *American Anthropologist* 105(2):289-301.
- Rivkin-Fish, Michele. 2010 "Pronatalism, Gender Politics, and the Renewal of Family Support in Russia: Towards a Feminist Anthropology of 'Maternity Capital." *Slavic Review* 69(3): 701-724.
- Rohrschneider, Robert and Stephen Whitefield. 2009. "Understanding Cleavages in Party Systems Issue Position and Issue Salience in 13 Post-Communist Democracies," *Comparative Political Studies* 42(2): 280-313.
- ROMIR. 2013. "Bespokoistvo Obshestvennymi Problemami Rastet." http://romir.ru/studies/513_1382472000/ (Accessed January 30, 2015).
- Romodanovskiy, Konstantin. 2013. *Radio Mayak, Show Profilaktika* on Migration Politics in Russia. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qu1IHHwztWo (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Rønsen, Marit, and Marianne Sundström. 2002. "Family Policy and After-Birth Employment among New Mothers -A Comparison of Finland, Norway and Sweden." *European Journal of Population* 18(2): 121–52.
- Rosbalt. 2013a. "Poltavchenko: Kolichestvo Prestuplenii so Storony Migrantov Uvelichilos na 49%." *Rosbalt* July 17, 2013. http://www.rosbalt.ru/piter/2013/07/17/1153634.html (Accessed July 1, 2015).
- Rosbalt. 2013b. "Zdorovie Migrantov Dorogo Oboidetsya Rossii" *Rosbalt* September 30, 2013. http://www.rosbalt.ru/moscow/2013/09/30/1181745.html. (Accessed July 1, 2015).
- Rossiyskaya Gazeta. 2008. "Женщина с Ребенком Ищет Работу," *Российская Газета* January 22, 2008. http://www.rg.ru/2008/01/22/rostrud.html (Accessed May 7, 2014).

Rossiyskaya Gazeta. 2011. "Президент: Родовые Сертификаты отменены не будут"

Российская Газета November 25, 2011. http://www.rg.ru/2011/11/25/prezident-anons.html (Accessed May 7, 2014)

- Rossiyskaya Gazeta. 2014a. "Будь Здоров, Хирург" *Российская Газета* January 23, 2014. http://www.rg.ru/2014/01/23/zarplata.html (Accessed April 2, 2015).
- Rossiyskaya Gazeta. 2014b. "Родители по Расписанию" *Российская Газета* March 18, 2014. http://www.rg.ru/2014_/03/18/surinov.html (Accessed April 2, 2015).
- Rosstat. 2013. "Estestvennoe Dvizenie Naselenia v Razreze Subjektov Rossiiskoi Federatcii" *Rosstat.* http://www.gks.ru/free_doc/2013/demo/edn09-13.htm (Accessed July 12, 2015).
- Rosenthal, Cindy Simon. 1998. When Women Lead: Integrative Leadership in State Legislatures. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Rovny, Allison. 2011. Welfare state policy determinants of fertility level: A comparative analysis. *Journal of European Social Policy* 21(4): 335-347.
- Russian Federation. 2006. Federal Law of the Russian Federation #256-ФЗ On Additional Measures of Government Support for Families with Chidlren (Федеральнай Закон Российской Федерации от 29 декабря 2006 года № 256-ФЗ О дополнительных мерах государственной поддержки семей, имеющих детей).
- Russian Federation. 2008. Government's Conception #1662-р of the Long-Term Socio-Есопотіс Development Until 2020, 17 November 2008, (Концепция долгосрочного социально-экономического развития Российской Федерации на период до 2020 года).
- Saxonberg, Steven. 2014. Gendering Family Policies in Post-Communist Europe: A Historical-Institutional Analysis. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Saxonberg, Steven, and Sirovátka, Tomáš. 2006. "Failing Family Policy in Post-Communist Central Europe." *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice* 8 (2):185–202.
- Saxonberg, Steven, and Dorota Szelewa. 2007. "The Continuing Legacy of the Communist Legacy? The development of family policies in Poland and the Czech Republic." Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society, 14(3): 351–379.
- Schimmelfennig, Frank. 2014. "Efficient Process Tracing Analyzing the Causal Mechanisms of European Integration," in *Process Tracing in the Social Sciences*. Eds, Andrew Bennett and Jeffrey Checkel: 98-125.

Schmidt, Brian. 2005. "Competing Realist Conceptions of Power." *Millenium-Journal of International Studies* 33(3): 523-49.

- Schwindt-Bayer, Leslie A., and William Mishler. 2005. "An Integrated Model of Women's Representation." *The Journal of Politics* 67(02): 407–428.
- Šiklová, Jiřina. 1994. Are Women in Central and Eastern Europe Conservative? In *Gender Politics and Post-Communism*, eds. Nanette Funk and Magda Mueller. New York: Routledge, 74–83.
- Spiegel. 2010. "Continent of Fear: The rise of Europe's Right-wing Populists," Spiegel September 28, 2010. http://www.spiegel.de/international/europe/continent-offear-the-rise-of-europe-s-right-wing-populists-a-719842.html (Accessed on March 13, 2013).
- Sobotka, Tomas. 2003. "Re-Emerging Diversity: Rapid Fertility Changes in Central and Eastern Europe after the Collapse of the Communist Regimes." *Population* 58(4): 451–85.
- Sobotka, Tomas. 2011. "Fertility in Central and Eastern Europe after 1989: Collapse and Gradual Recovery." *Historical Social Research-Historische Sozialforschung* 36(2): 246–96.
- Sobotka, Tomáš, Vegard Skirbekk, and Dimiter Philipov. 2010. "Economic Recession and Fertility in the Developed World A Literature Review." *European Commission Directorate*.
- Standing, Guy. 1996. "Social Protection in Central and Eastern Europe: A Tale of Slipping Anchors and Torn Safety Nets." In Welfare States in Transition: National Adaptations in Global Economies, ed. Gosta Esping-Andersen. Sage Publications, 225–55.
- Standing, Guy. 1997. "Labour Market Governance in Eastern Europe." *European Journal* of Industrial Relations 3(2): 133–59.
- Szelényi, Ivan, Éva Fodor, and Eric Hanley. 1996. "Left Turn in Postcommunist Politics: Bringing Class Back in?" *East European Politics & Societies* 11(1): 190–224.
- Szelewa, Dorota, and Michal P. Polakowski. 2008. "Who cares? Changing patterns of childcare in Central and Eastern Europe." *Journal of European Social Policy*, 18(2), 115–131.
- Tansey, Oisin. 2007. "Process Tracing and Elite Interviewing: A Case for Non-probability Sampling," *Political Science and Politics* 40(4): 765-772.

- Temkina, Anna. 2012. "Гендерный Вопрос в Современной России," *Polit.ru* June 16, 2012. http://polit.ru/article/2012/06/16/gender/ (Accessed May 5, 2013)
- Temkina, Anna. 2013. "Нужно ли Отменять Материнский Капитал," *Slon.ru* http://slon.ru/russia/nuzhno_li_otmenyat_materinskiy_kapital-985923.xhtml (Accessed January 26, 2014).
- Teplova, Tatiana. 2007. "Welfare State Transformation, Childcare, and Women's Work in Russia." *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society* 14(3): 284–322.
- Tismaneanu, Vladimir. 2007. "Leninist Legacies, Pluralist Dilemmas," *Journal of Democracy 18*(4): 34–39.
- Treisman, Daniel. 1997. "Russia's 'Ethnic Revival." World Politics 49(2): 212-249.
- Treisman, Daniel. 2014. "Why did Putin's popularity plunge in 2011 and then stabilize? It's (still) the (Russian) economy, stupid," *Whashington Post* February 07, 2014.
- Tompson, William. 2007. "Healthcare Reform in Russia: Problems and Prospects", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, No. 538, OECD Publishing.
- Turovskiy, Daniil. 2013. "Мы нелегалы, дети рабочих" *Lenta.ru* October 28, 2013 http://lenta.ru/articles/2013/10/28/children/. (Accessed January 28, 2014).
- Tzelgov, Eitan. 2011. "Communist Successor Parties and Government Survival in Central Eastern Europe," *European Journal of Political Research* 50: 530-558.
- UNECE. 2012. Statistical Database.
- UNICEF. 1995. "Poverty, Children, and Policy: Responses for a Brighter Future." Economies in Transition Studies, Regional Monitoring Report No.3. UNICEF International Child Development Centre. Florence, Italy.
- UNICEF. 2013. TRANSMONEE Database.
- United Nations. 1987. World Population Policies. UN: NY.
- United Nations. 2013a. *World Population Policies 2013*. Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Population Division.
- United Nations. 2013b. Trends in International Migrant Stock: Migrants by Destination and Origin. United Nations.
- Vachudova, Milada Anna. 2008. "Centre-Right Parties and Political Outcomes in East Central Europe." Party Politics 14 (4): 387–405.

- The Village. 2013. "Люди в городе: Русские дворники в Кронштадте" *The Village* October 21, 2013. http://www.the-village.ru/village/city/people/133327-dvorniki (Accessed March 20, 2015).
- Vishnevsky, Aanatoly. 2002. "The Population of Russia 2001" (Население России 2001. Девятый Ежегодный Демографический Доклад). Institut Narodnokhozyaystvennogo Pognozirovaniya RAN: Moscow
- Vishnevsky, Anatoly. 2010. "Kommentarii Demoskopa," Demoscope Weekly #445-446, November 29-December 12, demoscope.ru/weekly/2010/0445/polit02.php
- Volkens, Andrea, Onawa Lacewell, Pola Lehmann, Sven Regel, Henrike Schultze, and Annika Werner. 2012. *The Manifesto Data Collection*. Manifesto Project (MRG/CMP/MARPOR) Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB).
- Volkens, Andrea, Pola Lehmann, Nicolas Merz, Sven Regel, Annika Werner, with Onawa Lacewell, and Henrike Schultze. 2014. *The Manifesto Data Collection*. Manifesto Project (MRG/CMP/MARPOR). Version 2014a. Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB).
- Waal, Jeroen van der, Peter Achterberg, Dick Houtman, Willem de Koster, and Katerina Manevska. 2010. "Some Are More Equal than Others': Economic Egalitarianism and Welfare Chauvinism in the Netherlands." *Journal of European Social Policy* 20(4): 350–63.
- Wallace, Claire. 2002. "Opening and Closing Borders: Migration and Mobility in East-Central Europe," *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 28(4): 603-625.
- Wawro, Gregory. 2002. "Estimating Dynamic Panel Data Models in Political Science." *Political Analysis* 10(1): 25–48.
- Weber, Max. 1949. *The Methodology of The Social Sciences*. Translated by Edward A. Shils and Henry A. Finch. Glencoe Ill.: Free Press.
- Weldon, S. Laurel. 2011. When Protest Makes Policy: How Social Movements Represent Disadvantaged Groups. The University of Michigan Press: Ann Arbor.
- WCIOM. 2013. Press Release #2366 "Welcome" or "Restricted Access," http://wciom.ru/index.php?id=459&uid=114341 (Accessed March 20, 2015).
- Williamson, John, Stephanie Howling, and Michelle Marotto. 2006 "The Political Economy of Pension Reform in Russia: Why Partial Privatization?" *Journal of Aging Studies* 20: 165–75.

- Wilson, Sven E., and Daniel D. Butler. 2007. "A Lot More to Do: The Sensitivity of Time-Series Cross-Section Analyses to Simple Alternative Specifications." *Political Analysis 15*(2): 101–123.
- Wodak, Ruth. 2013. "Anything Goes!' The Haiderization of Europe" in *Right-Wing Populism in Europe: Politics and Discourse, eds.* Ruth Wodak, Majid KhosraviNik, and Brigitte Mral. Bloomsbury, 23-38.
- Wodak, Ruth, Majid KhosraviNik, and Brigitte Mral, eds. 2013. *Right-Wing Populism in Europe: Politics and Discourse*. Bloomsbury Academic.
- Wright Matthew. 2011. "Policy regimes and normative conceptions of nationalism in mass public opinion." *Comparative Political Studies* 44(5): 598–624.
- Wright, Matthew and Irene Bloemraad. 2012. "Is There a Trade-off between Multiculturalism and Socio-Political Integration? Policy Regimes and Immigrant Incorporation in Comparative Perspective." *Perspectives on Politics* 10(01): 77– 95.
- Wooldridge, Jeffrey. 2002. *Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach* (2nd edition). Cincinnati, Ohio: South-Western College Pub.
- Wooldridge, Jeffrey. 2010. *Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data* (2nd edition). MIT Press.
- WVS. 2009. World Value Survey 1981-2008 official aggregate v.20090902, 2009. World Values Survey Association (www.worldvaluessurvey.org). Aggregate File Producer: ASEP/JDS Data Archive, Madrid, Spain.
- Yaroslavl Employment Department. 2013. "Отчет О реализации ведомственной целевой программы «Содействие занятости населения Ярославской области» на 2013 год и на плановый период 2014 и 2015 годов за 2013 год" Департамент Государственной Службы Занятости Населения Ярославской области. http://www.yarregion.ru/depts/dgszn/tmpPages/programs.aspx (Accessed March 1, 2015)
- Zaionchkovskaya, Zhanna. 2014. "Миграция в современной России." In *Миграция в России*, I part 1. Moscow: Спецкнига, 8-32.
- Zaionchkovskaya, Zhanna and Yulia Florinskaya. 2014. "Mezdunarodnaya Migratsia (International Migration)". In Naselenie Rossii (The Population of Russia), ed: Anatoly Vishnevskiy. Moscow: The Higher School of Economics, Institute of Demography, 343–381.

- Zakharov, Sergei. 2006. "Демографический анализ эффекта мер семейной политики в России в 1980-х годах" *SPERO* 5 (Fall-Winter): 33-69. http://www.demoscope.ru/weekly/2007/0309/analit01.php
- Zakharov, Sergei. 2008. "Russian Federation: From the first to second demographic transition," *Demographic Research*. 19 (24): 907-972.
- Zakharov, Sergei. 2012. "Rozdaevmost v Rossii" *Khimia I Zizn* 2012, #4 www.hij.ru/read/articles/man/976
- Zhang, Junsen, Jason Quan, and Peter van Meerbergen. 1994. "The Effect of Tax-Transfer Policies on Fertility in Canada, 1921-88." *The Journal of Human Resources* 29(1): 181–201.